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TOAD

Thursday afternoon, November 19, 1992
Stepping out of the small private office into the hallway of the main office, he quickly looked around to see if anyone was watching him. Then, as silently as possible, he closed the door behind him with his left hand. In his right hand he clutched a crumpled photograph, his fist clenching and unclenching in obvious agitation. He moved swiftly but quietly down the hall into the reception area, deserted because of the lunchtime exodus. He went out the main office entrance—a frosted glass door etched with gold lettering—

 Rivermont University 

Alumni and Development Office
Out in the building hallway, he stood there for a moment looking to see if anyone was around. Seeing that the hall was deserted, he stuffed the crunched-up photograph he'd been clutching into the pocket of his uniform shirt with its Rivermont University maintenance department insignia. Then he withdrew a jangling key ring from his right-hand pants pocket and selected a key. Stepping a few feet down the hall, he opened the door of a utility room marked “Employees Only.” Once again glancing around to make sure he was undetected, he ducked into the tiny, closet-like room. As he entered the dark room, an overpowering odor of ammonia assaulted him, bringing tears to his eyes and a gagging to his throat. He closed the door behind him, then pulled the chain for the bare bulb hanging overhead.

The room in which he stood contained a chipped white sink next to a wheeled cart stocked with dust mops and dust rags, a wet mop and bucket and various jars and bottles of cleaning solutions, plus other assorted cleaning paraphernalia. 

 Looking around the small room, he discovered that the lid had been left off one of the bottles of cleaning solution, causing the ammonia smell. He searched around till he found the lid to the ammonia bottle, then screwed it back on, breathing shallowly through his mouth till the ammonia odor had dissipated. 

With that taken care of, he reached high up on the wall and closed off the cold air return vent that opened into the office on the other side of the utility closet. Then and only then, did he let out the rage that was bottled up inside him. 

Slumping to the floor, he beat his fists on the cold, damp-smelling concrete beneath him. He pounded so hard that he broke the skin on knuckles of his left hand and blood trickled onto the floor. Hunched over, he rocked back and forth, moaning a high-pitched wail as he rocked. After a few minutes, he felt his rage subsiding. As he slowed, then ceased, his rocking motion, his moaning also stopped. Finally, spent and drained, he sat up on his heels, leaning his back against one wall of the confining space. His eyes were closed and his hands were folded against his forehead in a pseudo-prayerful posture. He remained in that position for a few minutes, then withdrew the crunched photograph from his shirt pocket and smoothed it out on the floor. It was a color snapshot of a woman with two children, one on either side of her. All three were laughing into the camera and you could tell by their red hair and green eyes that they were related—mother and son and daughter, in fact. He stared at the photo, jaws clenched shut, teeth grinding together. Finally, he picked it up and, slowly and methodically, tore the photo into tiny pieces. He stood up, put the pieces of the picture into the dirty white sink, turned on the water, and washed the jagged pieces down the drain.

Now, his tantrum over and his inner turmoil subsiding, Toad, as he was called because of his toad-like appearance, stood there motionless for a moment. The tiny cage-like room was stuffy, the air heavy with the lingering odor of ammonia. He eased the door open a couple of inches to let in some fresh air. 

Standing in front of the chipped white sink, he dampened a cleaning rag, then knelt down and meticulously wiped the spots of blood off the floor to remove any evidence of his recent tirade. 

As if from a long distance, he heard a voice say, “Is something wrong?”

In a panic, Toad, still on his knees, turned and looked toward the door. He saw that while he'd been so intent on scrubbing up the spots of blood from the floor, the door had swung open almost all the way. Standing in the doorway was that bitch, that Barnes woman, the woman in the photograph he'd just destroyed. He looked up at her and tried to answer but the words wouldn't come. Trying again, he finally managed to stutter out what should have been obvious to the stupid, trouble-making busy-body: “I'm cl-cl-cleaning the fl-fl-fl-floor.”

She'd murmured something unintelligible and then moved off down the hall. For a few moments, Toad knelt there, breathing in huge ragged gasps. God, how he hated that woman. She'd ruined his sister's life and someday very soon she'd pay for that, he'd see to it.

He stood up, slammed the door shut, then turned to look at himself in the small spotted mirror that hung over the sink. He smoothed strands of his lank brown hair back from his forehead with his hand, then wiped away the beads of perspiration that dotted his face. With his jaw set firmly into a grimace of a smile, he pulled the light chain and left the utility closet. Walking quickly and determinedly down the hall and around the corner, he turned into the alcove that housed the freight elevator. Impatiently, he punched the down button, frustrated as usual at having to wait so long for the slow rumbling elevator to creak its way upward from its base location in the bottom-most level of the Rivermont University Student Services Building.
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MAGGIE

Thursday afternoon, November 19, 1992
“R - E -  S - P - E - C - T” Maggie wailed out, singing along with the Aretha Franklin tape in her Walkman blaring in her ears.  As she slowed down from a run to a brisk jog, she flicked off the tape player, choosing the company of her own thoughts for the last part of her run. She moved along the gravel road surefootedly, a tall, slender figure in black sweats, her longish auburn hair twisted up into a knot at the top of her head.

It was late November, a week before Thanksgiving, but unseasonably mild for the Midwest city of Rivermont. Normally, at this time of year, winter temperatures prevailed. But for the past few days, a delightful Indian summer had returned. Now, however, the weather bureau was forecasting an arctic cold front moving in this evening with a drastic drop in temperature. Maggie Barnes had decided to take full advantage of the few hours of remaining decent weather. 

She loved running on the back roads around her home here at the edge of the city and had left the university early this Thursday afternoon in order to get in a run before the cold front and darkness descended. Even though the area was relatively remote and crime-free, Maggie still preferred to do her running in the light of day. Usually she ran early in the morning, before going to her job as editor of the alumni magazine at Rivermont University. Now it was almost dusk and she was still a mile or so from the home she shared with her nine-year old twins Scotty and Leah, and her mother and brother, Kate and Hank Todd.

As she jogged along in the dusky pleasantness of the lingering Indian summer, Maggie thought back to an encounter she'd had this afternoon with Donnie something-or-other (she'd never learned his last name), one of the custodians at Rivermont University. She could see why he had been christened, by someone or other in the building, with the very apt nickname of Toad. His body was short and squat and he had a bulging forehead and bugged-out eyes, reminiscent of a stout stubby toad. His bug eyes stared out from behind thick-lensed glasses that emphasized the eyes' bulging protrudance. 

Although Toad had only worked as a custodian at the university for a couple of months, that had been long enough for Maggie to develop a deep aversion to him. She didn't exactly understand why or how but he gave her the creeps—she felt so uncomfortable around him that she had at times even gone out of her way to avoid him.

This afternoon she'd found him crouched down in the utility room next to her office. He'd claimed he was cleaning the floor but she'd doubted that that was all there was to it. He'd stuttered as he spoke, his hands had been trembling, and his face was covered with perspiration. She couldn't wait to get away from him—he really bothered her, no doubt about it. 

Yesterday, there had been an even more mysterious incident involving Toad. Maggie hadn't mentioned it to anyone but planned to talk with Rachel about it at lunch tomorrow.

It had been almost six o'clock yesterday evening, Wednesday, when Maggie was finally ready to leave the office. That day had been a particularly hectic one in the Rivermont University Alumni and Development Office, more so than usual, it seemed. Everyone else was working on arrangements for the impending homecoming football game on Thanksgiving Day, while Maggie, as editor, was up against next week's Alumni Magazine deadline.

She had been the last one left in the office and its silence had made her acutely aware of the dark empty spaces surrounding her. Hers was the only computer terminal still on and the only desk light still shining. But before leaving, she still conscientiously made her way from office to office, cubicle to cubicle, making certain that all lights and computers were off. In the staff lunchroom, she found that the coffeemaker was still on and the last few drops of coffee left in the pot had started to scorch, giving off that horrible burned coffee odor.

Quickly, she had rinsed out the coffeepot and put it in the dish drainer. Glancing around, she saw that the leftovers from this morning's doughnuts were still on the lunch table—the box had been left open and the remaining doughnuts were now hard as rocks. She dumped the whole box into the trashcan, then left the lunchroom, turning off the light on her way out. Back at her desk, she switched off her computer, then picked up her purse and briefcase and the morning paper, still unread. Before turning off her desk light, she grabbed a lightweight trenchcoat from the antique wooden coat rack in the corner of her office. The weather had been so mild the past few days she hadn't really needed a coat. Out in the reception area, she turned off the overhead light, but left the small lamp on the receptionist's desk lit. As she went out the main office door, she locked it behind her. 

On her way down the hallway of the darkened building, she had stopped off in the ladies room.

Inside the rest room, she discovered that sometime this afternoon the powers-that-be had finally started the long-promised, long-awaited restroom renovation project. One of the old dilapidated paper towel dispensers had been removed from the wall and the opening was covered over with a thin sheet of rough-sawn plywood—in sharp contrast to the room's dignified high ceilings and grey imitation-marble floors and walls.

As Maggie stood trying to dry her hands on pieces of toilet paper that kept shredding—of course, they'd neglected to leave out any paper towels while they replaced the dispenser—she heard a door open next door in the men's room, followed by the low rumble of men's voices. The men's room was adjacent to the ladies room and Maggie could hear the conversation going on almost as well as if she were in the same room as the men.

Maggie stood very still, barely breathing, not wanting them to know she stood only inches away and could hear their every word—in fact, she could even hear their breathing. She tried her best to ignore the sounds of their assorted bodily functions while concentrating on understanding what they were discussing.

She soon recognized one of the voices as that of Erik Nilssen. He was the head of the Rivermont University Student Health Service located down the hall from her office. At first, she had no idea who the second man was. Maggie held her breath, trying not to reveal her presence to the two men on the other side of the wall.

She heard Nilssen hissing at his companion: “Just be patient. It's almost time to make our move. Then everything will fall into place. But in the meantime, no more money—absolutely no more money. I'm tired of pouring money down a rathole. And you can just quit thinking about exposing me or anything like that. Who would pay any attention to a lowly university custodian like you—and one who's just gotten out of the state mental hospital, at that.”

Maggie had heard a door open and then slam shut, followed by rapid footsteps going off down the hall, then the sound of the elevator. As she stood there, unmoving, waiting for the second man to leave also, she heard what sounded like fists pounding on the wall. Then, she heard the other man, not Nilssen, shout, “We'll s-s-s-see about th-th-that M-m-m-r. High-and-Mi-Mi-Mighty, we'll j-j-j-just see about that!” Then, he too left the men's room and Maggie could hear footsteps going down the hall. 

From his stuttering, she had been surprised to recognize the second man's voice as that of Toad, the obnoxious custodian for the Student Services Building. What on earth kind of business could Erik possibly have with that slimy man? 

She waited for the sound of the elevator once again but didn't hear it. Minute after minute ticked by as she waited. Finally, she decided that the second man must have taken the one flight of steps down to the lobby level. But still she waited a few more minutes, wanting to make sure that both men were gone—she didn't want them to see that there was someone around who could've overheard their conversation.

How odd, Maggie had thought, how really odd. What on earth could Erik Nilssen be up to. As far as Maggie knew, he was a well-respected member of the Rivermont faculty and administration—she'd never heard a breath of scandal about him.

Just last year, Erik had suddenly and unexpectedly married China Smith, an old acquaintance of Maggie's. 

Even though they'd known one another since high school, Maggie had never considered China Smith a friend. As far as Maggie knew, Rachel Greene, Maggie's best friend since kindergarten, was the only person who considered China Smith a friend. 

She'd have to tell Rachel what she'd just overheard—Rachel would be fascinated in a gossipy way and then her brilliant legal mind would kick in and she'd start weighing all the possibilities and by the time they'd finished the conversation, Rachel would have mentally written a legal brief detailing exactly what was going on. Maggie grinned as she thought of Rachel applying her at-times-awesome intellect to the mysterious conversation she'd overheard.

At last, figuring the coast was clear, Maggie strode briskly to the elevators and waited what seemed an inordinately long time for the ancient machinery to crank itself up from the bowels of the building to the second floor. 

Inside the elevator, she smelled the faint aroma that permeated the building—that familiar odor of an old public building. The elevator creaked its way down to the lobby, which except for the uniformed guard at the front door, was deserted at this time of the evening. She said goodnight to him and smiled her thanks as he opened one of the tall wooden doors for her.

As she'd walked out of the building, out of the corner of her eye, she noticed a figure huddled off in one corner of the broad veranda that surrounded the Rivermont University Administration Building, across the quadrangle from the Student Services building. She'd wondered if it was the custodian, Toad or Donnie or whatever his name was. She'd shaken her head to dispel her uneasiness, then had gotten her car from the nearby parking garage and driven home, trying not to brood over what she'd just heard.

Now, on Thursday afternoon, as she once again started running here on the outskirts of Rivermont, Maggie decided there was no use in worrying about all that again and spoiling this beautiful afternoon. She'd best get a move on or she'd be caught in complete darkness, which she certainly didn't want. 

Suddenly, she heard a sound coming from somewhere behind her.

“Is someone there?” she called out, turning to see if she could spot the cause of the noise. To her super-sensitive ears, it had sounded as though there were something behind her on the gravel road, but there was nothing in sight.

Shrugging her shoulders, Maggie resumed running.

For the past several weeks, she'd had the weirdest feeling of being watched—as if she were under scrutiny by some unseen, unknown presence. Although she'd repeatedly thought she'd glimpsed someone out of the corner of her eye, she'd never actually seen anyone following her or watching her. But still, she'd felt an eerie sense of uneasiness. 

Putting a final burst of speed, she arrived at the road leading up to her home. With a sigh of relief, she once again slowed down for the final 100 or so uphill yards of her work-out. By the time she reached the wraparound porch of the house in which she'd spent the majority of her life, darkness was all around her. 

The Todd home was located in a thickly wooded area to the west of the city of Rivermont. It was a sprawling log and stone home, lovingly built by Nathanial Todd some forty years ago, to which he had brought his bride, the beautiful Kate. Nathaniel Todd hadn't lived to see his grandchildren. He had in fact died when Maggie and Hank were teenagers; Kate had managed, with a lot of hard work and frugality and thrift, to maintain their home and family in a semblance of their former life.

Maggie and the twins had come back home to live with Kate and Maggie's brother, Hank Todd, eight years ago, right after the death of Maggie's husband, Bob Barnes, in an autobmobile accident. 

Maggie was happy to see that the floodlights, set on a timer, were shining brightly out into the dense woods surrounding the house. The sunroom, hooked up to the same timer, was also lit up. Perched on the back of the sofa by the sunroom window and gazing out into the woods, were their two cats, Princess and Kelsey, better known as Show Pony and Romanian Baby.

The twins had given the nickname Show Pony to Princess because of the way she pranced around like a show pony with her gray bushy squirrel tail held high in the air. Kelsey's nickname of Romanian Baby had a more complicated background. Several months ago, Kate had been watching a television  special on the atrocious conditions surrounding orphans in Romania and the attempts by American couples to adopt the children. In her softhearted way, Kate had shed a few tears and said she wished that she, too, could adopt one of the Romanian babies. Her grandchildren, trying to comfort her, had said that her kitten Kelsey could be her own Romanian baby—and so the nickname had stuck.

When Maggie had come home from her office at Rivermont University an hour or so earlier, only the kittens had been there to greet her. On the front of the refrigerator, the family's informal bulletin board and message center, was a note held up with a magnet saying, in Kate's carefully-formed script, that she and the twins had gone to the grocery store to pick up milk and bread. At the time, Maggie had scrawled her own note to Kate's, “Home early—out running for an hour+...”

As she slipped in through the kitchen door, Maggie could smell the nose-twitching aroma of dinner cooking and smiled to herself, assuming that her family was home and wondering what Kate was fixing for their evening meal. 
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TOAD

Thursday afternoon, November 19, 1992

The battered white van was off to one side of the gravel road, out of sight behind a scraggly clump of overgrown cedar trees. From the outside, Toad's van looked abandoned, as though it had been in that deserted place a long while—a derelict vehicle with its chipped white paint turned gray with dirt, rusted-out side panels, dented fenders, bumper hanging askew—a piece of junk to any observer. 

After the runner had passed by on the road next to the van, Toad had quickly straightened up from his slumped-over position in the driver's seat.

Somehow his abrupt movement had caused the van to make a metallic creaking noise that echoed through the woods. Toad held his breath in apprehension when he saw the runner stop and turn around, then stand in place, seeming to listen for a repeat of the unfamiliar sound. When no such sound was forthcoming, the runner turned around and started off up the road again. 

Toad heaved a sigh of relief but remained motionless, mentally berating himself for almost giving away his surveillance post. 
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KATE AND THE TWINS

Thursday afternoon, November 19, 1992

Kate grinned to herself in relief as she and the twins finally started the drive back home from their round of errands. What had started out as a simple trip to the nearby convenience market to pick up bread and milk had escalated into a full-blown shopping trip, necessitated by school supplies the twins suddenly remembered they needed, desperately needed, according to them, by the next day. 

With a small inward sigh, Kate had driven the 20 miles to the discount superstore. She loved her grandchildren with all her heart but taxi service did get wearisome at times.  

Kate brushed back a wayward strand of graying blond hair from her forehead, and ran her tongue over her lips, checking for non-existent lipstick. Somehow, her appearance was getting short shrift lately, what with her endless taxi duties for the twins and trying to keep the house in decent order and still spend two days a week with her volunteer work at Rivermont Memorial Hospital.

Noticing how dark it had gotten, Kate flicked on the headlights, switching to the bright lights on this deserted secondary highway that led to their hilltop house. Fortunately, before they'd ventured out on their shopping trip, she'd put some of her homemade chile in the crockpot to warm up, so dinner would be ready and waiting when they finally got home. 

The car radio played softly in the background, tuned to the local news and weather station. The announcer caught her attention with the word “storm.” She turned up the volume and said to the ever-chattering twins, “Hush for a moment, sweeties, and let Gram listen to the weather report.”

The deep radio-voice of the announcer intoned, “Rivermont is under a winter storm warning for the next 24 hours. The above-average temperatures we've been enjoying for the past week or so, have ended, to be replaced by an arctic blast of cold, with temperatures dropping rapidly over the next eight hours. The cold front will bring with it a mixture of sleet and snow, with a predicted accumulation of 4 to 8 inches.”

“Wowee!” This from Scotty, in the front seat next to Kate. 

Leah, stretched out on the second seat of the family's well-broken-in station wagon, straightened up and leaned forward to better hear the weather forecast. “Does this mean school will be closed tomorrow?” she asked eagerly.

“Sure!” Scotty practically shouted the word. “We can go sledding and everything. Boy, this is really neat!”

“Whoa! Slow down there, Scott Fitzgerald Barnes,” Kate said with a laugh. “First, let's just see if we have any snow at all, weather forecasts being what they are. Second, we'll have to see if the schools close. So don't go getting your hopes up till we know what tomorrow brings.”

“Oh, Gram, don't be such a grinch. We haven't had any snow yet this year so we deserve this. And I just know  it's going to be a whopper of a snowstorm.” Scotty spoke this last with a loud burst of enthusiasm.

“Gram, if we get to stay home from school tomorrow, could we start baking Christmas cookies?” Leah asked in a hopeful voice.

Kate smiled at her granddaughter's question, remembering, from her own childhood and from Maggie's and Hank's, the excitement of the first real snowfall of the winter combined with the anticipation of Christmas. As she answered with a noncommittal, “We'll see, sweetheart,” she thought what a joy it was to re-live that excitement once again through her grandchildren and how fortunate she was to share their lives on a daily basis.

Thank God, the twins had either outgrown or at least compensated for many of the problems associated with their almost-three-months-premature birth nine years ago. Because of their prematurity, Scotty and Leah were physically slightly smaller than their same-age playmates but mentally they were more than equal than to their friends. For the first few years of their lives, Scotty and Leah had been extremely susceptible to colds and earaches but had now outgrown that tendency. The only lingering effect of their prematurity had been weak eyes—they'd had to start wearing glasses when they entered kindergarten. But their opthalmologist had promised that as they grew older, they'd be able to switch to contact lenses.  

Kate turned the station wagon off the secondary road onto the gravel road leading up to their hilltop cottage. She was looking forward to a quiet evening at home and was glad she'd done something about dinner before they left on their shopping trip. Then she smiled to herself at the improbability of any kind of quiet evening with the twins so wound up over the prospect of snow. Foolish to even think of a peaceful, quiet evening, she decided.

As Kate drove the last mile home, she wondered about the van-like vehicle she'd thought she'd seen off to one side of the gravel road, right after the turnoff from the highway. Something looking like a white panel van had been behind one of the many clumps of overgrown cedar trees scattered along the gravel road that led up to their house. As far as she could remember, there hadn't been anything there when they'd come this way earlier in the afternoon. 

What if the van had run off the road and someone was stranded there, injured and unable to get help, she speculated. Having a compassionate heart, Kate had time after time gone out of her way to be the Good Samaritan. Torn between going back to check on the van and wanting to get home, Kate decided to call Amos as soon as she and twins got home and ask him if he thought she should contact the sheriff's office.
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MAGGIE

Early Thursday evening, November 19, 1992

Walking from the kitchen into the sunroom, Maggie called out, “Mom, Scotty, Leah, are you back yet?”

Her voice echoed back at her, with no response to her greeting. That's odd, she thought, they should've been home by now. 

Show Pony and Romanian Baby trotted to her side, mewing loudly, signalling her that it was way past their dinnertime. Ignoring their plaintive cries of starvation for the moment, Maggie walked back into the kitchen and checked the note on the refrigerator once again. It shouldn't take that long to pick up milk at the convenience store, she thought. She felt a shiver of anxiety, then dismissed it as evidence of her overactive imagination. Shaking her head in puzzlement, Maggie went over to the sink and ran a glass of cold water, then drank it almost in one gulp.

Taking pity on the poor pathetic animals rubbing themselves up against her legs, Maggie doled out their allotted cat food, with a few extra pieces for good measure. For a moment she stood there, smiling, as she watched them frantically gobble their food, as though they'd not eaten for days. 

She took off the jacket to her black sweatsuit and draped it over a kitchen chair. Then, hearing Kate's potential protest ringing in her ears, she took the jacket with her into the sunroom that served as their family room and hung it on the wall coat rack. When she glanced in the direction of the answering machine, she saw that the red message light was blinking. Thinking that perhaps Kate had called to tell her she had car trouble or something, Maggie went over to listen to the messages. 

The first two messages were hang-ups, hopefully from siding salesmen or magazine peddlers and not the weird caller. For the past few weeks, they'd been plagued with phone calls where the caller would hang up when they answered. The calls had first annoyed Maggie and Kate but now worried them, and they were debating whether to change to an unlisted phone number. 

The next message on the tape was a chirpy little girl's voice asking that Scotty call Susie as soon as possible. Maggie grinned in anticipation, thinking how embarrassed her son was going to be at that message. Next was a lengthy one from Rachel asking Maggie to call her at home as soon as she could on a matter of dire importance. Beth frowned faintly as she listened once again to Rachel's message, then switched off the machine. What was that all about, she wondered. Rachel's had been the last message—and so there was nothing from Kate.

Maggie knew that she worried excessively about Scotty and Leah. But she felt so responsible for them and, conversely, so dependent on them. She always feared the worst when any of her family was late getting home, immediately assuming that there'd been some tragic accident.

And she well knew how an accident could wipe out a life. Eight years ago, her husband Bob had lost his life in an instant in an automobile crash. For the most part, Maggie always pushed aside any remaining memories of Bob and their short sad marriage—although out of that marriage came the two most wonderful people in her life—Scotty and Leah. 

But now as she stood there by the answering machine, filled with apprehension for her family, memories of the marriage flooded through her. 

It had gotten off to a rotten start as a shotgun wedding and had gone downhill fast. Maggie had met Bob at one of her sorority parties when she'd been a senior in college, just months away from graduation. He was an “older man,” 27 to her 21, an insurance man who seemed to be doing well. He'd come to the party with one of her sorority sisters, but had soon dropped her in favor of Maggie. They'd started dating, in a casual, desultory way, with Maggie intrigued by Bob's man-of-the-world posturing and Bob enjoying the subdued adulation of the inexperienced young woman. 

When her graduation day came at last, Maggie had been flying high—happy to finally be starting her life, as she thought of it. Kate and Hank and Bob sat together at the graduation, and then they'd all four gone out to dinner at an elegant restaurant in one of the poshest of the Rivermont suburbs. After dinner, Bob and Maggie had gone to the gala graduation bash being tossed by her sorority. Maggie and Bob both had too much to drink, not at all an unusual occurrence for Bob but rare and out of character for Maggie. They'd ended up parked on one of the back roads of Rivermont, and had that night finally made love, although forever afterwards, Maggie couldn't remember any of the details. 

As fate would have it, the twins were conceived on that night. This had subsequently led to a hasty elopement two months later. At the beginning, Maggie had thought she could make the marriage work. But what she didn't know was that Bob Barnes was a consummate, inveterate womanizer, with no fidelity in his make-up.

The twins were born almost three months prematurely, and at the time were given little chance of survival. Maggie had practically lived at the hospital for the two months it took for the tiny boy and girl to gain enough strength to come home. 

During that whole traumatic time, Bob had distanced himself from Maggie and the twins, feeling more and more trapped by the responsibilities of a family. He had escaped what he considered his burdens whenever possible, supposedly throwing himself into his work, but really catting about with different women.  

The end for Maggie and Bob had come when the twins were barely a year old. One stormy winter's night, Bob had ostensibly been out visiting a client. Maggie had put the twins to bed and had just crawled beneath the covers herself when the phone rang. It was the sheriff's office, telling her that her husband had been seriously injured in an auto accident and was at Rivermont Memorial Hospital. Panic-stricken, Maggie had called Kate to come stay with the twins. Hank had accompanied his mother and had driven Maggie to the hospital, his ancient Toyota valiantly struggling to cope with the vagaries of Rivermont roads in a raging snowstorm.

When they arrived at the hospital, Maggie learned that Bob had been killed in the accident. What she didn't learn until later was that he hadn't been alone in the car—in fact, he hadn't been driving, although it was his car. There'd been a young woman with him who'd been driving. She'd survived the crash but her left leg had been amputated just below the knee. 

After realizing just what the situation was, Maggie had shut her mind to the truth, refusing to hear any of the details of the accident or even to learn the woman's name. Kate and Hank had shielded her from the newspaper and television reporters and other curiosity-seekers.

Although Maggie had known almost from the beginning that the marriage was doomed to failure, she'd still given it her best efforts, and had been truly grief-stricken when the marriage ended so tragically. After Bob's death, Maggie had struggled to put the whole thing behind her and get on with her life, deeply grateful that the twins had come into her life.

Now, shaking her head to rid herself of the unpleasant and unwanted memories of the past, Maggie went back into the kitchen and lifted the lid of the crock pot to see what smelled so good. It was some of Kate's leftover chili, guaranteed to taste just as good the second time around, Maggie thought.

Deciding to take a shower, Maggie stopped first in the sunroom and flicked on the answering machine to pick up any phone calls that might come while she was showering. She felt an increasing uneasiness about Kate and the twins but told herself that surely they'd be home by the time she was out of the shower.
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TOAD

Early Thursday Evening, November 19, 1992

Abruptly, Toad started the engine of the old white van with a harsh grinding of the ignition. He maneuvered his way out from behind the scraggly clump of cedar trees and onto the gravel road. Several hundred yards beyond, he could just barely make out the reddish glow of the station wagon's taillights as it moved up the road.

All of a sudden he'd felt compelled to have some crazy fun with Todd family. One small sensible corner of his brain signalled the stupidity of what he was about to do but Toad ignored its warning. Gunning the motor, he sped up the road, spewing gravel every which way. In moments, he'd caught up to the station wagon. For a few hundred feet, Toad followed closely behind the wagon. Then, veering over to left of the road, he drew up abreast of the car. 

Glancing over to his right, he saw the startled face of the woman driver. She slowed down and Toad followed suit. She flashed him another look, this one mingling fear with anger. Toad grinned, then raised his fist in her direction, hoping she could see his gesture in the dim interior of the van.

Slowly, Toad began to ease his van over toward the station wagon. Closer and closer he moved, till his front bumper nudged the other vehicle's rear bumper. When the woman honked the horn of the station wagon repeatedly, Toad responded in kind, accompanying the noise with a cackle and a grin. He drove slightly faster, scraping his heavy metal bumper up the length of the station wagon, ultimately hooking the bumper onto one of the chrome strips on the side of the station wagon and wrenching it away from the body of the car. At that, the woman driver slammed on her brakes, stopping the car with a jerky jolt. 

Toad considered stopping also, then decided that was too risky. Besides, he had had his fun for the day. There was no point in taking any more unnecessary chances.

With a final blast of his horn, Toad raced away, the rear tires of the van once again spitting gravel to all sides.
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KATE AND THE TWINS

Early Thursday Evening, November 19, 1992

Kate sat motionless behind the wheel of the station wagon, head bowed, forehead touching the top of the steering wheel. 

“Are you okay, Gram?” came the concerned voice of Leah, sitting next to her in the front seat.

“Gram, I'm scared!” Scotty said shakily from the back seat.

Kate raised her head and turned halfway in her seat so she could see both of the twins.

“It's okay, dears,” she soothed. “We're all okay. That was just some nut case having fun with us. We're fine, just fine. And now, we're going home.”
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MAGGIE

Early Thursday Evening, November 19, 1992

Finished with her shower, Maggie walked from her bedroom into the sunroom, toweling her longish auburn hair dry. She was dressed in jeans and a knee-length aquamarine pullover sweater, with bare feet.

Still no sign of Mom and the twins, she thought. I can't imagine where they are. 

Maggie tossed the towel down the laundry chute in the hallway off the sunroom and went into the kitchen. Taking the lid off the crock pot, she gave the chili a stir. Deciding to set the kitchen table for dinner, she cleared its surface of the miscellaneous things that always seemed to gather there—tonight there were the twins' school papers, the daily mail, a small pile of grocery coupons, and Kate's checkbook. She stacked everything carefully at one end of the kitchen counter.

She loved their kitchen, with its two exposed brick walls and light oak wall cabinets and counters. In one corner, was a long wooden trestle table surrounded by six cushioned chairs. Because the room had such a warm, cozy ambiance, they spent a great deal of time there, almost as much time as in the sunroom. 

The table set, Maggie still felt nervous and on edge and too antsy to settle anywhere. She paced between the kitchen and the windowed-wall in the sunroom that overlooked the driveway. Still no headlights in sight. Where could they be? Maggie wondered. She couldn't think of any place they might have stopped. 

In the kitchen, she went over to the stack of mail on the counter and thumbed through it—bills, magazines, junk mail, catalogs, a postcard from one of her vacationing colleagues. One envelope with no return address caught her attention. It was addressed to Maggie Barnes in large printed capital letters—very shakily and clumsily formed—as if written by a child or a right-handed person writing with his or her  left hand or vice versa.

Inside the plain white #10 envelope was a photocopy of a newspaper article. The article was dated eight years previously and concerned the automobile accident in which Maggie's husband had been killed.

Scribbled at the bottom of the photocopy were the words, “You should have been the one to die,”  written in that same awkward printing.

Maggie's hands trembled as she clutched the paper. Who would send her such a thing, she wondered, who would write such a horrible thing to her. 

She read back through the article, seeing for the first time the name of the woman who'd been in the accident with Bob—Selene Dawson.

Heart pounding with anger at some unknown someone's cruelty, Maggie pondered what to do about the message. Then, remembering that Kate and the twins still hadn't returned, she admonished herself to forget the letter for the moment and take care of first things first. 

I'll deal with the stupid letter later, Maggie decided. Right now, I'll just call Amos and see if he knows anything about where they might be—or maybe Hank is there and he'll know something. Back in the sunroom, she sat down on the edge of the sofa next to the phone and punched in the button coded with Amos Powell's phone number. It rang once, twice, three times, then the answering machine clicked on.

After listening to the message and waiting for the tone, Maggie said, “Hi, guys—Amos—Hank—anybody? It's Maggie. Are you there?” Sometimes Amos used the answering machine to screen calls, but evidently that was not the case now. Not getting any response, Maggie left a message for Amos to call her at home as soon as possible.

Maggie debated whether or not to get in her car and drive down to the convenience shop on the secondary highway and look around for Kate's station wagon. Or maybe she should call the sheriff's office. Or maybe she should just continue to sit tight and wait. Temporarily opting for the waiting, Maggie leaned back on the sofa and was immediately joined by the two cats, Show Pony and Romanian Baby, snuggling up next to her. As they lay there, purring, the cats' slanted green eyes had closed for a catnap, but Maggie could feel the slow passage of each minute. Just when she'd at last reached the end of her patience, she saw the flash of headlights as a car crawled up the road leading to their house.

Maggie jumped up, dislodging the sleeping cats. She ran to the side door and went outside. The station wagon pulled into the garage and Kate and the twins were getting out just as Maggie reached the side of the car.

“Where on earth have you been?” Maggie asked. “I've been so worried about you.”

All three of them started to talk at once and Maggie was able to catch a few words here and there.

“Well, as it turned out, we had to go to the SuperMart instead of just to the QuickStop.”  This from Kate.

“Mom, we had this truly awesome accident!” This was a shouted exclamation from Leah.

“Oh, Mom, it was really scary.” This was from Scotty.

Maggie put an arm around each twin and they walked three abreast into the house, with Maggie somewhat impatiently trying to unravel exactly what had happened.

In the kitchen, as Kate and Maggie got supper ready, the twins chattered on and on about the van crashing into them, as they called it. Kate managed to reassure Maggie about their well-being and murmured in a low voice that she'd explain everything after the twins were in bed.

Later, after supper and dishes and homework, with the twins finally in bed fast asleep, Kate and Maggie sat talking at the kitchen table. Kate told Maggie about the frightening encounter with the van. 

“I guess I should have reported it to the sheriff's office as soon as we got home,” Kate mused, “but I couldn't make out the license number and I have no idea what make or year the van was. I'm not even sure if its color was white or gray—so there wouldn't be much, if anything, for them to go on.”

Maggie frowned, thinking that despite all of Kate's protests, they should still report it. But at last, she reluctantly agreed with her mother that it probably wouldn't do any good to report such a nebulous event to the authorities. But Kate did agree to call Amos about it right away.
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AMOS POWELL

Thursday Evening, November 19, 1992
With a small smile lingering on his lips, Amos hung up the phone, thinking for the thousandth time how fortunate he was to have Kate Todd in his life. She'd just called him to ask his advice about whether to call the sheriff to report a van sideswiping her on the road near her home in the woods to the west of Rivermont. Because the sheriff was an old friend of his, Amos had offered to call the sheriff for her. A frown replaced the smile as he dialed the sheriff's number. Kate and the twins could've been seriously injured, but thank God they were okay.

After he finished speaking with the sheriff, Amos tried to ring Kate back to report that a deputy from the sheriff's office would be stopping by tomorrow to take a statement from her, but the line was busy.

Amos Powell was the owner of Rivermont's fastest growing security firm, which specialized in electronic security systems and bonded, dependable, thoroughly reputable security guard services. Until ten years ago, Amos had been a highly regarded captain with the Rivermont police force. When he was sidelined by an injury sustained in the line of duty, he was forced to take early retirement from the force. Making the best of a potentially tragic situation, Amos had fulfilled a lifelong dream of owning his own business by founding Powell Security. 

Amos' apartment and the office for his security firm were both located in what had once been an abandoned downtown warehouse in the historic Landing area of Rivermont. Amos had received it several years ago from a client who couldn’t afford to pay his bill. He'd been dismayed by his new acquisition and at first could only think of it as a run-down, derelict albatross. 

For the past several years, the city of Rivermont had been going through a slow but steady renaissance and The Landing was an integral part of that renewal. After the booming economy of World War II gave way to the post-war recession and economic hardship, the city had resumed the decay and disintegration that had been its enduring legacy from the Great Depression. 

Then the city elected as its mayor an energetic, ambitious young man, Patrick Reynard, who saw the mayoral office as a solid stepping-stone to higher elected office. That is, if and only if, he could make a very visible impact on the movers and shakers who controlled the city’s business and political activities. Overcoming urban decay seemed to him the perfect platform on which to stage his climb to higher office. And at this particular time, the Federal Government was being more than generous with tax deferrals and incentive grants to prevent city blight. Reynard planned carefully and plotted skillfully,  although actually he did care about his native city and would be glad to see it restored to some semblance of its former glory. But his motives were far from pure and altruistic. 

He had begun his climb to the mayor’s office in a gradual way, starting out in ward politics, always ready to help out, to go the extra mile. He volunteered for committee work and took on tasks that no one else wanted to do. He made a small name for himself that way with some of the corporate powers-that-be who ran the city. When, in their minds, it came time to replace the incumbent mayor who had grown too fond of himself and his power and who had forgotten who put him into office and who kept him there, the powers looked around for another likely candidate—someone malleable enough for them to mold and maneuver and manipulate. 

But Reynard had proved to be anything but malleable. Once in office, he proceeded to run the city in his own way, with his own particular vision. For the most part, the corporate powers who had empowered him were furious and frustrated at his actions. He immediately raised the corporate taxes levied by the city and applied what most businessmen considered a bizarre special surcharge tax to companies with more than 100 employees, citing the strain that large companies put on the city’s services and resources. 

Reynard devoted a great deal of time, energy, and effort to his own pet project, his own special dream, the rebuilding of The Landing. To him, that was the heart of the city or its guts, depending on whom he was trying to persuade as to the merits of The Landing. 

More than 200 hundred years ago, fur traders had settled in The Landing area, with the town of Rivermont evolving from those early beginnings. Over the years, this part of the riverfront had grown seedy and run-down. The buildings were deserted and had started to crumble from the bottom up. Reynard offered special tax incentives to companies willing to rehab and then inhabit the abandoned buildings on The Landing. Those incentives, coupled with the Federal tax credit incentives, provided a deal that was too good to pass up for companies in the market for affordable office space. But it was a slow, stop and start process. And there were still many parts of The Landing that were derelict. Even some of the new projects had been done on a stop and start basis. Gradually, it was happening, but not fast enough for Reynard or for the occupants of The Landing. 

Eventually, Amos had realized what a treasure he had with his rundown warehouse located in the heart of The Landing. He began an extensive renovation project, creating two office spaces on the first floor and a condominium living area on the top two floors, which became his bachelor home. He also created another living area, a basement apartment, which he'd leased to Rachel Greene, an up-and-coming young attorney who was a close friend of Kate’s daughter Maggie.  Powell Security was located in the larger office, and at the moment, the smaller of the two office spaces was vacant. Amos had been trying to convince Rachel and her law partner and ex-husband, Martin Greene, to move their law office from Plaza Square to his building but so far hadn’t been able to budge them.  

9.5

MAGGIE

Thursday Night, November 19, 1992

Later that night, lying in bed unable to fall asleep, Maggie suddenly remembered the news article she'd received anonymously in the mail, with its ominous message. I should've told Amos about it, Maggie remonstrated with herself. Well, I'll call him first thing tomorrow. 

Her body tossed and turned as her too-alert mind raced agitatedly from thought to thought. It was a long while before Maggie finally fell into a restless, dream-ridden slumber.
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SNOWSTORM

Friday, November 20, 1992
The next day, the snow had started falling early, just before sunrise. Lazy, floating flakes at first, gradually escalating into ever-thickening curtains of snow. The streets quickly became snow-covered, despite the best efforts of Rivermont's snow removal crews. Most of the schools, public and private, including Rivermont University, had cancelled classes and closed their offices. The temperature began to drop around 2 p.m., causing the streets to freeze up. By 4 p.m., traffic was at a virtual standstill on many of the city's streets and highways.

At 3:25 p.m., the city's young, charismatic mayor, Patrick Reynard, has issued a snow alert. This meant that any cars parked on the city's major thoroughfares (and thus creating an impediment to efficient snow removal) would be towed. Half an hour later, upon advice from the city's central weather bureau and street department, he upgraded that snow alert to a snow emergency, meaning that all citizens were instructed to stay off city streets except for emergency purposes. By seven that evening, when the snow had all but stopped and the streets were relatively clear, Reynard lifted the snow emergency.
10.1

MAGGIE

Friday Morning, November 20, 1992

Maggie didn't get to her office until after nine that morning. The snow had tied up what little traffic there was, as was usual in Rivermont. Its citizens always marveled how a snowfall, or in fact, even a simple rainfall, could gridlock traffic into a snarl of congestion, fender-benders, and abandoned vehicles. Surely no other city reacted to inclement weather the way Rivermont did, Maggie speculated, as she hung up her snow-dampened trench coat on the antique wooden coat tree in one corner of her office.

Stuck under the receiver of the telephone on her desk was a pink message slip requesting that she call Amos Powell at his office as soon as she got in. What a coincidence, she thought, since I was planning on calling him first thing anyway. Then she noticed that the date on the phone slip was yesterday's and that Amos had phoned her just after she left, around 4 p.m.

“Lucky Amos,” Maggie murmured out loud, thinking how convenient it was for him, having his home and his office both in the same building. None of this commuting for him—and no struggling with the demented drivers congesting the Rivermont highways and streets.

Deciding to get herself a cup of coffee before calling Amos, she went down the hall and into the lounge/kitchen shared by the alumni and development staff members. No one else was in the lounge and there was no coffee made yet. Maggie set about remedying that, making both de-caf and regular. 

She hadn't seen anyone else in the office, although the main door had been unlocked and there were lights on in the reception area, the hallway, and the lounge. She assumed that someone was here but had just stepped out for a moment.

Maggie paced around the lounge, waiting for the coffee to perk. When it was finally done, she poured herself a cup, added some powdered creamer and went back to her office, still without seeing a soul.

As she set the coffee cup down on the coaster at one side of her desk, she looked at the top of the desk more closely. Papers seem to be in different places than where she'd left them yesterday. Her center desk drawer was open a crack, at an angle, which meant that someone had been at the drawer and not shut it properly. The drawer was temperamental and had to be closed exactly right or it wouldn't shut tight. Maggie had learned, after snagging her clothes on the slightly askew drawer many times, to always very carefully close it.  The snapshot of her and the twins that had been propped up against her typing stand was missing, as was her rolodex file. 

Maggie felt herself shiver at the thought that someone had been in here touching her things. She felt violated and angry, very angry.

Quickly, she punched in Amos' phone number and waited impatiently while the phone rang several times before being picked up.

“Powell Security, how may I help you?” Maggie recognized her brother Hank's voice and grinned in relief.

“Oh, Hank, I'm so glad you're there—it's Maggie.” She said the words in a rush, then continued without giving Hank a chance to respond.

“There's something really weird going on with me, here in my office and at home and everywhere. I wanted to talk to Amos about it and see what he thinks. Is he there?” Maggie finally paused, waiting for Hank's reply.

“Sure, Sis, he's right here—I'll put him on in a second. But first let me ask what you're doing at the office. I heard on the radio that the University is closed because of the snowstorm—they cancelled classes and closed all the offices, too.”

“Oh?” Maggie said. “I didn't even listen to the radio this morning—I just came on in to work because it's the University's policy to never cancel classes or close offices. Well, so much for that supposed policy, huh? Mom had heard that the twins' school was closed but nothing about the University...” her voice trailed off, then resumed. “Hmmm, that explains why I haven't seen anyone in the building this morning and why there was no coffee made.” 

To herself, she added silently, But it doesn't explain why the outer door was unlocked and why my office door was open and my things messed with.
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MAGGIE and RACHEL

Friday Lunch, November 20, 1992

As Maggie walked along the snow-packed sidewalk, she was deep in thought about her phone conversation earlier with Amos. She'd told him, in great detail, about all the curious things that had been happening. She'd grown increasingly uneasy when it became evident that Amos was taking her concerns very seriously and had insisted on coming by this evening to talk more.

At the moment, she was on her way to Lou's, the little hole-in-the-wall cafeteria where she was meeting Rachel for lunch. Lou's was located about halfway between Maggie's office at the University and Rachel's office at Plaza Square and had been one of their favorite eating places since college. The food was delicious and cheap, the service was good, the place was sparkling clean, and it was one of the best kept secrets in Rivermont. The regulars tended to keep its existence to themselves, not wanting to spoil the place with hordes of other people. Today, because of the snowstorm, the place was almost deserted. In fact, downtown Rivermont itself was like a ghost town, with only a few hardy souls,  out and about, willing to brave the elements.

Maggie and Rachel piled the food on their trays, paid for their lunches, each marveling at how low the prices still were.

“How can they stay in business only charging 99 cents for a big bowl of homemade vegetable soup? Anywhere else, it would cost three or four dollars,” Rachel hissed in a low undertone to her friend as they sat down at a table by the front window.

The two friends unloaded their trays, then sat down to eat, eschewing conversation to concentrate on their food for the first few minutes. Finally, with the first pangs of hunger satisfied, Rachel leaned back and took a long, appraising look at Maggie, then said, “So-o-o-o, buddy, what's up with you? You look as though you have something interesting to talk about.” 

Maggie finished swallowing a bite of soup and crackers, wiped her lips with a napkin, then answered. “Yup, I guess you could say that. Actually, I have several things to talk to you about—although I'm not sure I'd exactly call them interesting—weird might be a more apt description.”

Maggie proceeded to detail all the inexplicable things that had been happening in her life the past few days. First she told Rachel about the conversation between Erik Nilssen and Toad/Donnie/whoever that she'd accidentally eavesdropped on. Then she told her about the distasteful letter she'd received in the mail, the anonymous phone calls, how the things on her desk had been disturbed, her constant feeling of being followed, and finally, Kate's car being sideswiped.

For a long while after Maggie finished her recitation, Rachel said nothing. She sat staring out of one of the cafeteria's broad front windows into the swirling snowflakes. 

Finally, Rachel asked, “What do you think that all means?”

Maggie answered with a shrug of her shoulders and the words, “I have no idea, no idea at all. I was depending on you and your wonderfully creative legal mind to figure it out.”

When Rachel giggled as if Maggie had said something really funny, Maggie laughed also, delighted at the way her friend made her feel like one of the world's really funny, really amusing people. With Rachel, Maggie always felt more than herself—bright and attractive and entertaining. There'd never been anyone else who made her feel like such a super person. Rachel had often told her that it was the same for her. 

They'd been friends since kindergarten and through the years had been there for each other. When the twins were born, Rachel had come home from law school every weekend to be with Maggie, to share her vigil in the intensive care unit at the hospital. Then, when Maggie's husband died, Rachel had once again come home from law school, this time to spend several weeks with her friend, despite having to scramble frantically to keep up with her courses. Two years ago, when Rachel and her husband David divorced, even though the end of the marriage was amicable and civilized, Maggie had called or gone to see her friend every day for over a month.

Rachel sat deep in thought for a few more moments, then finally spoke in her lawyer voice, as Maggie called it—words very precise, in an even tone, dispassionate.

“It's obvious that at least some of these various events, although seemingly separate, disparate entities, are in reality connected or somehow related.” 

For some reason, the seriousness of Rachel's crisp, business-like speech sent a chill of apprehension down Maggie's spine.

Seeing her friend's reaction to her pronouncement, Rachel reached across the table to clasp Maggie's hand. She dropped her lawyer tone and reverted to the warm, lilting tone of friendship, accompanied by a smile—“Now, buddy-o'mine, don't go getting all uptight. You know that you and I together make the greatest team in the world. Don't you remember all of our wonderful Nancy Drew adventures?”

Maggie grinned back at her friend, drew a deep breath, then asked softly, “In what way do you think those things they're connected?”

Rachel reverted to her brisk tone. “At the very least, I think someone out there somewhere is trying to frighten you—they're badgering you, harassing you—and I do mean you, Maggie—at least insofar as the things that happened to you personally. The thing with Kate and the twins and that van may or may not be related. I'd wager that it was, somehow. The only unrelated thing is the Erik/Donnie conversation you overheard—let's put that one on hold for a moment.”

Rachel raked the fingers of both hands back through her short dark curls, then bent her head in thought.

When she finally lifted her head, she looked into her friend's eyes and said, “I think we'd best take all of this very seriously, old buddy. Something bad is going on here. What would you say to talking with Amos about it?”

“Well, actually,” Maggie replied, “I've already told him most of it this morning on the phone. He's coming by this evening so we can talk in more detail about it. Would you like to join us?” Before Rachel could answer, Maggie added with a chuckle, “And Hank will be there, of course.”

Rachel shot a mock glare at her friend and said, “None of your match-making nonsense. You know I've sworn off men. But perhaps I'll bring my brother along—I know you've always had a secret crush on him...”

This time it was Maggie's turn to glare at her friend. “Don't go getting any matchmaking ideas of your own!”

For years, their mutual matchmaking attempts had been a running joke between the two friends. Since kindergarten, Maggie had had a crush on her best friend's big brother. Maggie knew that Josh had thought of her as just his kid sister's friend, but still she had secretly idolized him. Big-hearted Josh, although unaware of Maggie's crush, had tolerated his kid sister and her friend and had sometimes even allowed them to tag along with him on his adventures. 

Going back to the main subject at hand, Rachel said, “Well, I'll have to ponder this whole thing for a bit,” Rachel said slowly. “You know, I wonder if I should say anything to China about what you overheard her husband saying. She and I are supposed to get together sometime this Saturday or Sunday to talk about our big girls' only thing next weekend.”

Maggie groaned softly, with a frown on her face.

“Oh, come on, it won't be that bad—it never is, you know. And besides for years it's been a tradition for the three of us to spend a day or two over Thanksgiving weekend at China's mountain cabin.”

“You know how I feel about China,” Maggie said. “She's your friend, not mine. I'm just along for the ride, sort of like excess baggage.”

“Don't be a fruitcake...we'll have a great time, so just make up your mind to relax and enjoy it.”

“You know what it is that that phrase usually refers to, don't you?”

Not deigning to reply, Rachel made a face at her friend, then squished a large bite of lemon meringue pie into her mouth.

10.3

JOSH

Friday Afternoon, November 20, 1992

Josh Campbell sat at his computer terminal, a little-used pencil stuck behind his ear, his fingers resting on the keyboard, his eyes staring unseeingly at the multi-colored screen flashing in front of him.

He'd recently returned to his hometown of Rivermont after living for several years in Twin Lakes, where he'd been a reporter/columnist for the Twin Lakes Tribune. A few months ago, he'd been recruited for a job as a columnist with the Rivermont Dispatch, the new start-up daily paper that was hoping to give the Rivermont Times, currently the city's only newspaper, a run for its money. 

This Friday afternoon, he was one of only a handful of reporters and editors still in the newsroom. Everyone else had left because of the storm or just because it was Friday. Although it was still snowing a little outside, he wasn't worried about having trouble getting home. His sister's apartment, where he was staying temporarily, was within easy walking distance of the green-glass cube of a building that the Rivermont Dispatch called home.

Josh knew that one of the main reasons he'd been hired, in addition to his journalistic credentials, was because he was a native of Rivermont. The managing editor of the Dispatch, Gerald Hopkins, was an out-of-towner. He was of the opinion that because of Josh's familiarity with Rivermont and the connections Josh had maintained here during his years in Twin Lakes, he'd have a headstart over any other columnist they could find. 

For the past several hours, Josh had been working on a column about Patrick Reynard, Rivermont's young mayor, and had lost track of time. But now it seemed he'd reached a stopping-point—or perhaps stumbling-block would be a better description, Josh thought. 

For one brief moment, he wished that Olivia were still around for him to bounce some ideas off. In addition to Olivia Zachary being a fellow reporter with him on theTwin Lakes Tribune, they'd lived together for several years. When Olivia was offered a high-profile job on the West Coast, an offer she said she'd couldn't afford to refuse, she'd tried to convince Josh to come with her, to take a chance on a future in a new place. Josh had considered it, but only briefly and had then quickly rejected the idea. Olivia was much more ambitious and upwardly mobile than he, and he knew deep down he wanted no part of the fast-track life she was planning for herself. He'd been to the Coast on several assignments and realized it wasn't the place for him. He was too Midwestern, too conservative, to fit in out there. Besides, he loved the Midwest's changing of the seasons—wall-to-wall summer would've bored him silly. 

He picked up his phone and called Rachel at her office to tell her he wasn't sure when he'd be home. “I've run into a problem with a column I'm doing on Reynard. I can't get an interview with him—his press aide claims the great man has no time to chat for weeks and my editor wants this particular column by the middle of next week.”

Rachel was about to hang up when she was struck by a thought. “Josh, I don't know if this would help, but my friend Maggie has written several articles on Reynard for the Rivermont Alumni Magazine. Maybe she could give you some information or maybe even help you to get in to see the Mayor.” And it would be a wonderful way to get you two together, Rachel added gleefully to herself.

“Hmmmm,” Josh murmured, “maybe you have something there, Sis. Do you have her phone number handy?”
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CHINA

Friday Afternoon, November 20, 1992

China slammed down the receiver of her desk phone and swiveled around in her chair, to glare out the window behind her desk, overlooking Rivermont. Her office at WRM-TV was on the 30th floor of the Smith Building and from that height she had a panoramic view of the city, the riverfront, the bridges, and off in the distance, the rim of low-lying mountains that surrounded the area.

The phone call had been a change in plans for the evening. She'd been intending to drive up to her mountain cabin with her lover for a night of good food, good booze and great sex. For several days now, China had been really looking forward to this long, leisurely evening but unfortunately, his family or the snowstorm or something had interfered with those plans and now she was left with an empty evening to fill. Her husband had gone out of town this morning, to some convention or something and wouldn't be back till Sunday evening.

She stood up and stretched, a tall woman, with a shapely body and long blond hair worn loose around her shoulders. She was dressed for the stormy winter weather, in wool slacks made of a soft, brown tweed, an off-white cable knit sweater, a suede jacket, and low-topped, fur-lined boots.

China Smith was currently a producer at WRM-TV, the television station owned by her family's publishing/communications company. As heir apparent to the Smith Publishing mini-conglomerate, she'd served in various capacities throughout the corporation over the past several years. A workaholic, she spent long hours at her job, learning each function thoroughly before moving on to the next. To her surprise, she was really enjoying the television component of the corporation and was toying with making that her central focus when she eventually assumed the chairmanship—make that chairpersonship—of Smith Publishing.

As China stood gazing out the broad window of her office, she fiddled with the cord to the mini-blinds. Giving a soft grunt of frustration, she snapped the blinds shut, then snapped them open again.

I certainly need to get my personal life in order, she told herself. Matters have gotten out of hand in several areas and it was time to straighten things out. 

Above all, China demanded order and organization and control in her life. Recently, she'd lost control in some areas and was determined to deal with that.

For several years now, China had been involved, on and off, with Patrick Reynard. It had been during one of their off periods that she had met and impetuously married Erik—an act she now deeply regretted.

Erik Nilssen had been a consultant on one of the television shows China was producing. She'd been captivated by his blond handsomeness and his invigorating personality. He'd had a presence or an aura that was fascinating to her.  The attraction had been mutual and fiery—after their first dinner date, they'd fallen into each other's arms in an all-consuming, lustful passion. Less than a month later, they flew to Las Vegas for a quick wedding ceremony in one of the glitzy chapels out there.

But China had retained enough of her cynical, calculating outlook on life to request that prior to their Las Vegas trip, Erik sign a prenuptial agreement. The document had been hastily drawn up by the law firm that had once catered to her late grandfather's every whim and now catered to hers.

China's only other foray into marriage had also ended up a disaster. Seven years ago, to her grandfather's dismay, she'd eloped with the tennis pro at the Rivermont Country Club and had subsequently been taken for an expensive two-year ride by him. The tennis pro, Jack Hamilton, had spent her money lavishly, almost promiscuously. By the time China woke up to reality, Jack had gone through hundreds of thousands of dollars, with little to show for his expenditures. 

China filed for divorce, only to have Jack file a countersuit against her, demanding a huge lump sum settlement, plus a ten-year alimony arrangement.

When told of his demands by her lawyers, China had shrieked a furious, “Hell, no!” only to later back down and agree to all of his demands. Jack had threatened to go public with every dirty family secret that she'd so trustingly confided to him during the course of their relationship. Jack had been an expensive lesson, a very expensive one, but he'd also taught her something extremely valuable. After the Jack fiasco was settled, China had promised her attorneys that never again would she marry without first having her prospective bridegroom sign a prenuptial agreement to protect her and the estate.

Initially, Erik had protested—albeit mildly—signing the prenuptial agreement, saying she should know he wasn't marrying her for her money. China jollied him along about it, saying it wasn't her idea, that her legal advisors were insisting on the prenupt to protect the interests of the Foundation and the publishing company. With great reluctance, saying it offended his sensibilities, Erik had finally signed the agreement at the eleventh hour, just before they left Rivermont for Las Vegas.

At the time of their marriage, China had still been enthralled by Erik's overwhelming sexuality. He was the best lover she'd ever had—and China had an extensive list to use for comparison. However, China found Erik as a husband to be very different from Erik as a lover.

At the beginning of the marriage, Erik had continued to envelop China in a romantic eroticism that left her breathless. Along with his sexual ardor, he'd treated his new bride with a concentrated care and concern coupled with a seductively tender thoughtfulness.

But then gradually China began to sense that there was no honest human emotion behind all of Erik's attentiveness. She started to think it was all a pose, a pretense. Then, as time went by, Erik became more and more aloof and uncommunicative, for no discernible reason. After that, reality set in very quickly and China realized, once again, what a mistake she'd made. She had eventually concluded that Erik lacked basic human warmth and connectivenesss—she'd even begun to wonder if he were indeed a sociopath.

To all intents and purposes, the marriage was now over. China just hadn't yet tackled the distasteful task of sharing that fact with Erik. Unfortunately, she had still been sporadically sharing the marriage bed with him so he probably had no inkling that she was going to divorce him.

But the most reason for her impending plan to divorce Erik was that just recently, China had once again resumed her affair with Patrick Reynard.

She'd first met the young, charismatic mayor of Rivermont several years ago, right after he was elected. She had attended Reynard's inauguration and the ball that followed with her grandfather, Walter Smith, the head of the Smith publishing empire and one of Rivermont's prime movers and shakers. 

That night, China had been a knockout in a brilliant red designer ballgown that clung to her very generously endowed body. Reynard had been there with Lily Reynard, his little mouse of a wife, who at the time was hugely pregnant with their second child. Like China, Lily Ralston Reynard was also the granddaughter of one of the power elite of Rivermont. It was her family's money and prestige that had secured for her the very desirable Patrick Raymond Reynard as her husband. 

When China's grandfather introduced her to the Reynards, she thought the contrast between Lily and Patrick as far as looks was concerned was almost laughable. Lily was short and stocky, even in the non-pregnant state—in her ninth month she was now as round as a balloon and looked apt to pop at any moment. She had nondescript brown hair which hung limply down to her shoulders, and her features were obscured by huge round-framed eyeglasses. As China looked her over that night, she'd wondered if the woman had deliberately chosen the most unflattering frames available. When they were introduced, Lily acknowledged the introduction in a wavery squeak of a voice that grated on China's ears.

Patrick Reynard, on the other hand, was one handsome hunk of a man, China thought. He was tall, so much so, that he even towered over China, who was considered a tall woman. His thick, crisp black hair was brushed back into waves, and his dark brown eyes crackled with gleeful merriment, as he reveled in the night's celebration of his success. He had acknowledged the introduction to China in a deep, clear-toned voice that seemed to invade her body like warm honey.

At her grandfather's suggestion, Patrick had danced with China, whirling her around the floor till she was breathless and flushed in the face. When the music ended, Reynard had suggested they go out on one of the balconies for a breath of fresh air.

Outside, they'd simultaneously set their drinks down on the balcony ledge and had enveloped themselves in one another's arms, in a feverish frenzy of kissing. China had thought they just might have made love right there on the narrow balcony overlooking Rivermont, if she hadn't come to her senses at the last moment.

Their affair began the next day. Before leaving the ball they had danced together several more times and had arranged to meet the next afternoon at the Hideaway Haven, a seedy little lovers' motel on the south side of Rivermont. The Hideaway Haven was well-known to the adulterers of the city for its discretion and the closed eyes of its proprietress, Pearl Guthrie. Although this was China's first excursion into the world of the Hideaway Haven, Patrick seemed to be a seasoned customer.

Eventually, China had arranged with Mrs. Guthrie to rent the same little room on a weekly basis, even though Patrick could only juggle his schedule as Mayor and doting husband and father to see her once or twice a week.

China had quickly been hopelessly lost in lust for Patrick and he returned her lust as avidly as was possible for him. The affair had continued to flourish in secret for several years until one day when Lily Reynard had accidentally been in the neighborhood one day and saw them coming out of the motel together. 

That evening at home, Lily had confronted Patrick with his betrayal and had threatened to go to her grandfather. Patrick had quickly come to heel, breaking off the relationship with China so that he wouldn't lose the support of William Ralston and his Rivermont cohorts. 

It was during this first hiatus in the affair that China had met and married Jack Hamilton, the tennis pro. Subsequently, following her divorce from Jack, China and Patrick had started up the affair again, this time being extremely discreet—always leaving the motel separately by a special secret back entrance that Pearl Guthrie kept for her most treasured—and most generous—patrons.

Last year when he set out to win the state's gubernatorial nomination, the ambitious Reynard, overcome with caution, had broken off the affair once again. And it was during this break that China met and married Erik Nilssen. When Reynard had been defeated in the gubernatorial primary, he came looking for China again. Finally, after an intense program of courtship on his part, they had once again resumed their affair.

At 5:30 p.m. that Friday evening, China finally decided to call it a day. But before leaving the office, she made one last phone call—to her attorney to set up an appointment for the Monday after Thanksgiving to talk about filing for divorce.

10.41

MAGGIE and JOSH

Friday Afternoon, November 20, 1992

When Josh called Maggie, explaining that Rachel had suggested to him that Maggie might be able to help with the problem he was having with his column and asking if she would be willing to answer some questions about Patrick Reynard, Maggie said, “Yes, of course. When did you have in mind?” 

Josh had replied, “Well, I'm on a tight deadline and I would need to talk with you in the next day or so.”

Maggie hesitated a moment before saying, “Well, actually, if it would convenient for you, I could stop by your office this afternoon on my way home. Would you believe that I'm here by myself—the University is closed because of the snowstorm only I didn't know it. So I've been sitting here in this deserted building, suffering from sensory deprivation, and it'll be wonderful to be out of here. Besides, I've been dying to see that fabulous  building that the Dispatch built.”

Josh explained to her exactly where in the Dispatch building his cubbyhole was located and she said she'd see him shortly. As he hung up the phone, Josh was surprised at how much he was looking forward to seeing Maggie again. He couldn't remember the last time he'd actually seen his kid sister's best buddy. But he'd been intrigued by her cheery voice on the phone and her generous offer of help. 

While waiting for Maggie, he made an attempt to straighten up his cluttered cubicle, throwing away an accumulation of styrofoam coffee cups and crumpled food wrappers, moving the stack of books and newspapers off the straight-backed visitor's chair at the side of his computer desk, and putting away some of the papers strewn around his desktop.

At the University, as Maggie put her work away and gathered up her things, she felt an unexpected excitement rising in her at the prospect of going to meet Josh Campbell. Despite her denials to Rachel at lunch today, she'd always had a crush on him. 

She wondered what he looked like now. Josh had always been good-looking, especially the last time she saw him. That was over five years ago, at Rachel and David's wedding. Maggie had been Rachel's matron of honor and Josh had been one of David's groomsmen. Josh had looked handsome but somewhat rumpled in his tuxedo. Maggie hadn't exchanged more than a few words with him over the course of the rehearsal dinner, the wedding ceremony, and the reception. She remembered that he'd brought a girlfriend with him who'd evidently kept him occupied. 

While driving to the Dispatch building, Maggie decided to keep the Explorer in four-wheel drive for the ride home. The Rivermont snow plow crews had been struggling to clear the streets and keep them clear, but some of the roads were still snow-covered, with a thin but treacherous sheet of ice underneath.

Outside the Dispatch building, Maggie stared up at the gleaming greenglass walls towering over the Rivermont streets. Going inside, she was surprised at the lavish decor of the lobby. It seemed to her that the Dispatch owners had gone overboard, with groupings of lush tropical plants every few feet, huge modernistic paintings creating colorful splashes on the walls, and marble benches strategically placed in front of the paintings, as in a museum. What a contrast to the shabby old Smith Publishing Building, home of the Rivermont Times, Maggie thought.

The information desk in the lobby was deserted, as was the lobby itself. In fact, hers had been one of just a few vehicles on the streets of Rivermont. The city had evidently dug itself in because of the storm. She herself was looking forward to getting home and spending a long leisurely weekend with her family. But first, this meeting with Josh. 

After a few false turns, Maggie finally found Josh's cubicle and did a pretend knock on its side.

“Maggie! Hi...it's great to see you again.” Josh's enthusiasm was genuine as he reached out and grasped both of her hands. 

“You have a beard!” Maggie blurted out, then blushed in embarrassment. “I'm sorry,” she apologized, “that's no way to greet an old friend.” 

Josh laughed and shook his head, then said, “Not to worry—I think that's the way most of my Rivermont friends have greeted me. Here, let me take your coat,” Josh offered. 

“I can just put it on the back of the chair here,” Maggie said with a smile. She shrugged off her coat, draped it over the straight-backed chair, then sat down. From her large, briefcase-sized purse, she drew out a bulging manila file folder and handed it to Josh.

“Those are copies of articles I've done about Patrick Reynard, plus copies of the background material I researched for the articles. Maybe some of it might be helpful to you,” Maggie said.

“I can't thank you enough. I ran into a stone wall trying to get in to see Reynard or get any kind of cooperation from the Mayor's office. I think my reputation as a muck-raking columnist must have preceded me,” Josh said.

“Are you?” Maggie asked, “a muck-raking columnist, I mean.”

Josh gave her a lopsided, slightly rueful grin, and said, “Yeah, I guess you could say I've been accused of that. At various times, I've also been called sarcastic, sardonic, and irreverent. But in my defense let me say that I've been known to help little old ladies across the street, when they want to go, that is, and I always buy my fair share of Girl Scout cookies.”

Maggie burst out laughing at the unexpected image that instantly flashed through her mind of Josh, loaded down with boxes of Girl Scout cookies, dragging a reluctant white-haired woman across a traffic-filled street.

“What's so funny?” Josh asked with a big grin.

After a brief hesitation, Maggie, embarrassed, explained and Josh joined in her laughter.

As they quieted down, Josh offered, “Can I get you a cup of coffee? I can't guarantee it's fresh but I'm sure it'll be hot.”

Maggie shook her head and said, “No, thanks. I'm all coffeed-out for the day. Besides, I have to be getting home. Why don't you look through those things over the weekend,” with a nod of her head she indicated the Patrick Reynard file folder on Josh's desk, “then call me at the office on Monday and we can talk about them.”

After Maggie stood up and put on her coat, she reached out to shake hands with Josh. He found himself clasping her hand a moment longer than usual as he thanked her again for her help. Finally, with a slight shake of his head, he released her hand, and said, “Let me walk you to the elevator.”

On their way to the elevator, Josh mentioned her and Rachel's upcoming weekend at China's mountain chalet, after Thanksgiving. Maggie gave a slight shrug of her shoulders and said, “It's sort of a tradition with the three of us.” She hesitated, then continued slowly, “But to be honest, for some reason, I'm really not looking forward to it this year.”

Outside the elevator, Josh gave a half-wave to Maggie as the doors closed. He stood there for a moment, thinking that he'd forgotten what a truly lovely woman Maggie was. It was more than her physical good looks, although she certainly had those in abundance, with her cloud of auburn hair, deep green eyes that twinkled with good cheer, a pertly upturned nose, and high cheekbones dusted with a pale sprinkling of freckles. She emanated a combination of energy and good will, all wrapped up in a cheerful package of smiles.

“Back to your desk, Campbell,” he ordered himself and walked down the hall to his cubicle, deciding he was ready to finally call it a day.
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CHINA and JOSH

Friday Evening, November 20, 1992

China walked quickly down the street away from the Smith Building on her way home to her penthouse in Plaza Square. Although the snow seemed to have stopped for now, there was a briskly cold wind gusting around her. She hunched her head down into the collar of her coat, eyes down on the sidewalk. As she rounded the corner, she collided with a tall, burly figure coming from the opposite direction. 

Startled, China screamed in surprise as she backed away from the figure. Then, pushing down her fear, she burst out with an angry shout of, “Watch where you're going, mister!”

“I'm sorry, I didn't...” Josh started to apologize, then stopped when he thought he recognized the woman he'd bumped into.

“China? China Smith?” he asked.

China hesitated a moment before responding, then said tentatively, “Yes, I'm China Smith. Who are you?”

“Josh Campbell, Rachel's brother,” he answered.

“My God, Josh, I didn't recognize you with that beard!” China looked up at Josh, his face illuminated in the amber-colored street lamp there on the corner. “It's really good to see you!” She reached out and put a gloved hand on his arm. “I knew you were back in town, working for the competition, no less. Unfortunately for the Times, what I've read of your stuff is good, really good.”

“Thanks for the kind words, ma'am. That means a lot coming from you.”

“I just wish the Times and Smith Publishing had lured you away from the Twin Lakes Tribune instead of the Dispatch,” China lamented.

Josh made a noncommittal murmur in response, then said, “Well, I'd best be getting home,” and started to walk away.

“Wait, Josh—how about a drink together for old time's sake...” China suggested. When Josh hesitated before answering, China spoke again. “There's a little pub just down this street that has a really pleasant atmosphere. Come on!” She reached out and linked her arm through Josh's and made a gentle pulling motion. Josh gave a barely perceptible shrug to his shoulders, then said “Sure, why not,” and followed  China's lead.

Later, seated at the padded booth in a secluded corner of the bar, drinks and a plate of the pub's barbecued chicken wings in front of them, Josh groped around for a topic of conversation. He felt ill-at-ease and regretted his easy acquiescence to her spur-of-the-moment invitation. He'd never known China well, only peripherally as a friend of his sister. 

The pub, known for years as Casey's although the current owner's name was George, was a well-known, much-patronized watering spot for employees of the Rivermont Times—reporters, columnists, editors, PR people, paper handlers, pressmen, graphics people, the whole gamut of newspaper workers. Now, with the advent of the Rivermont Dispatch, a whole new cast of characters had been added to the regulars, and  George was ecstatic at the prospect of doubling of his clientele.

As Josh chatted about this and that, he paused every once in awhile to gnaw on a spicy chicken wing or take a sip of beer. China found herself staring into Josh's deep blue, penetrating eyes, tuning out his words, feeling inexplicably drawn to his rugged good looks and air of calm self-assurance. She wondered why she'd never before recognized just what a handsomely sexy specimen he was.

Feeling a heat steadily rising inside her, China made one of the quick impulsive decisions that often led her into trouble. 

“Let's have another drink, Josh. If you have the time and you don't mind loaning me a shoulder, I need someone to talk to.” China looked full into Josh's eyes, letting her own eyes send a message of desire.

Josh felt the magnetic pull of China's allure, considered resisting, then said to himself, ‘What the hell, I'm a free agent.’

Out loud, he said, “Sure, why you don't you order us another round and I'll go phone Rachel and tell her I won't be home for awhile.”

As Josh started to stand up, China put out a hand and gently edged him back down in his seat. With her other hand, she reached into her black leather pouch of a purse and pulled out a compact cellular phone. “Here, use this—save yourself a quarter,” China offered.

For the next hour, China poured out the story of her mistake of a marriage to Erik, carefully editing it for Josh's ears by eliminating the Patrick Reynard component, but going into great detail about the way she'd met and married Erik, including the particulars of the fairly restrictive prenuptial agreement Erik had signed.

She made sure to linger over all the sexual overtones as she described their passionate lust-at-first-sight relationship. Over the years, China had developed the art of successfully seducing a man by confiding in him the details of a failed relationship with another man, concentrating heavily on sexual allusion and innuendo. 

Josh listened intently, murmuring sympathetic responses where appropriate. Somehow another round of drinks, then another, appeared in front of them, although Josh didn't remember seeing China order them and he knewhe hadn't.

Actually, Josh had an ulterior motive for his attentiveness. For years, he'd been hearing whispered rumors about a wild and passionate love affair between the beauteous China Smith and the charismatic young mayor of Rivermont. Perhaps with her present penchant for confiding her secrets to him, she'd might divulge her attachment to Reynard, thus opening the door for Josh to gain further insight into the man.

He gazed at China, thinking what a beautiful woman she was. Her long blond hair was worn loose around her face, falling in waves to her shoulders. Her electric blue eyes were framed by dark brown lashes tipped with gold. As she talked, Josh watched her lips form words but he found himself ignoring the meaning of her words and concentrating on the fluid movements of her mouth. He felt himself falling deeper and deeper into the seductive magnetic field surrounding this woman.

Josh was startled out of his thoughts when he heard China say the word ‘psychopath’ in referring to Erik Nilssen, and he quickly tuned back into China's monologue.

“Perhaps psychopath sounds too strong a word to describe Erik,” China was saying, “but his behavior lately really warrants it. He's started playing subtle little mind games with me, sneaky ones, and it's driving me batty—which may be his intention, for all I know. So whatever I do, as far as a separation or divorce, I have to proceed cautiously. It sounds strange to say I'm afraid of what my own husband may do, but that's exactly what I'm saying.”

As China went on detailing Erik's peculiar actions, Josh once again stopped paying full attention to her words and concentrated on the woman. She certainly was a beauty, much more so than Maggie Barnes. But Josh couldn't help wondering what it would feel like to be sitting here in this warm, cozy pub across the table from Maggie instead of China. He remembered Maggie's smile, one that flooded her whole face with life and warmth. She'd not had a particularly easy life, from all that Rachel had confided in him over the years. But you'd never know that to see her or talk to her. Maggie seemed to have a delightfully optimistic approach to life and it had made Josh feel good just to be around her.

Once again, Josh tuned back into China's words when he heard her say, as if from a distance, something about her husband Erik being out of town tonight and tomorrow at some kind of psychology seminar. As she spoke, an alarm bell clanged a warning in Josh's mind, and he knew he was in trouble unless he took charge of himself, fast. He took a deep breath, smiled, stood up and said, “Excuse me for a minute.” Before China could react, Josh left the booth and walked to the men's restroom at the back of the pub.

In the brightly lit restroom, empty for the moment, Josh splashed cold water on his face, then leaned against the washbasin and stared at himself in the spotted mirror, saying out loud, “Okay, Campbell, get yourself out of this one.” He stood there for a moment, considering his options. Although momentarily tempted to go with the flow and see what happened with China, this really wasn't a direction he wanted to take. So, what to do...how to get out of this without insulting, or worse, humiliating the lady. He didn't want to end up having China Smith as an enemy—he guessed that she would be a formidable foe.

Deciding to brazen it out, Josh strode back to the booth where China waited. With a big grin on his face, he reached into his pocket and drew out some folded bills which he put down on the table. He knew the amount would be more than enough to cover their tab.

Exuberantly he said, “China, it's been really great seeing you. We have to do it again real soon.” Without giving her a chance to react, Josh grabbed his parka from the booth and hurried out of the pub, slamming its door behind him in his haste to escape.

Outside, he took a deep breath, then took off at a trot toward the Landing and the safe haven of his sister's apartment. Part of him, the most male part, berated him for his ridiculous behavior. The other more sane and rational part congratulated him on his deliverance from what could have ended up being a disaster.
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RACHEL

Friday Evening, November 20, 1992
On Friday evening, Rachel was curled up on the sofa, snug and warm in front of a blazing fireplace in her apartment.  
Sitting there by the fire, she remembered what a challenge the walk home from work had been. What had begun as a few snow flurries late last night (which, for a change, the meteorologists hadn't forecast as a “dusting” of snow, Rachel thought, cynically) had metamorphosed into a full-blown snowstorm, with “blown” the operative description. As she made her way home, Rachel could've sworn it was snowing sideways as she felt the ping of cold pellets against her exposed face. Even tucking her chin down into her muffler as far as she could didn't block out the icy assault of wind-propelled snow. By the time she reached her apartment, the hood and shoulders of her gray ankle-length coat was snow-covered.

She had moved in here almost two years ago, following the final disintegration of her marriage to David. Their break-up had, surprisingly enough, not impacted negatively on their other partnership, the law firm of Greene and Greene.

Although the distance from Plaza Square, where Greene and Greene had their law offices (along with several other law firms), to Rachel's apartment was less than two blocks, it had still been slow going. In addition to the onslaught of snow, the cobblestoned sidewalks were glazed with a thin veneer of ice, calling for careful steps on their precariously uneven surface.

The building in which her apartment was located, in the downtown area of the Rivermont riverfront known as The Landing, was the last in a row of four similar-looking four-story warehouses, in the red-brick square-built style so popular in the region at the turn of the century.

Her below-street-level apartment had been a relatively recent remodeling creation in this particular warehouse, recent meaning in the last five years or so. The building was owned by Amos Powell, an old family friend who was also the owner of the security firm that handled the security at Plaza Square and Rivermont University, in addition to an assortment of other smaller clients. 

An authentic antique wrought iron fence, with the requisite spikes and curlicues, separated the apartment's front entranceway from the cobblestoned sidewalk. Three broad brick-paved steps led down to the front entranceway, which included a brick-lined patio area, a grouping of evergreens in black wrought iron pots, and a lacy-patterned wrought iron bench next to the front door.

Rachel loved her apartment and had felt at home in it from her first moment there. In addition to a large master bedroom there was a smaller back bedroom that she used as a combination office/study. The study was now serving double duty as a temporary bedroom for her brother, Josh, who was staying with Rachel until he found a place of his own.

She'd furnished the apartment with her favorite things she'd taken with her following the divorce from David. In the bedroom, she had a particularly comfortable easy chair, an antique brass bed, and a faded but beautifully-colored fringed Turkish carpet.

Now, as she sat in the living room, curled up at one end of the beige semi-circular sofa that faced the fireplace, she wondered if she would be spending the rest of her life alone. Although the divorce from David had been as friendly and amicable as they come, she still retained a feeling of failure from the ending of the marriage. 

Shaking her head to dispel this brooding on past mistakes, Rachel ran her fingers through her short hair, ruffling up the dark curls. She'd changed out of her suit into faded jeans and a long multi-colored sweater when she had gotten home from work. Not feeling hungry for real food, she'd popped a bag of popcorn in the microwave, letting that serve as her dinner, or at least as an appetizer. Not very nutritious maybe, she'd thought guiltily as she ate the popcorn, but really tasty.

She wished Josh would get home soon—she was anxious to talk over with him what Maggie had told her at lunch today. Earlier in the evening he'd called to say he would be late getting home but that had been an hour or two ago so maybe he was finally on his way.

Over the years, she'd gotten out of the habit of confiding in anyone but David about anything, just because so much of what she had on her mind concerned clients and their cases and thus fell under client confidentiality. But this was different—this didn't have anything to do with a client or a case and besides, now she had Josh to talk to.

Maggie's story today had absolutely blown her away—so much so that she'd asked Maggie if it would be all right to tell Josh about it and ask his advice. Perhaps he could counsel her—and Maggie—about how to handle the information that had come Maggie's way. However, there was a small part of Rachel that felt that talking about anything confidential with a newspaper reporter was a definite conflict of interest, even when that reporter was her brother. 

The grandfather clock in the hallway sounded the hour and Rachel was surprised that it was eight o'clock already. She'd gotten so engrossed in reading the newspaper and then thinking back over her lunch with Maggie, that she'd lost track of time. Where on earth is that brother of mine, she wondered. 

Just then, a sound at the front door of the apartment jerked her out of her thoughts, and she snapped back into her surroundings. At Josh's cheery shout of ‘Yo,’ she jumped up to greet him.

“Yo, yourself, big bro!” Rachel threw at him. She came over to the entrance foyer where he stood knocking snow off his boots. She helped him off with his parka, shaking the snow from it onto the doormat before draping it over the coat tree in the corner.
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JOSH

Friday Evening, November 20, 1992

Later that evening, Rachel was once again seated on the semi-circular sofa in front of the fire, this time with Josh sitting in a chair adjacent to the sofa. Her brother was also dressed in jeans, but they were his work uniform, not something he changed into after the workday was finished. 

Tonight, with his well-broken-in jeans, he wore a blue plaid shirt, topped off with a garish wild green paisley print tie, now loosened and hanging askew under his shirt collar. The tie had been a Christmas gift last year from a fellow reporter on the Twin Lakes Tribune who shared Josh's secret affliction of color blindness. 

Josh was known to friends and foes alike as a walking sartorial disaster zone. His various pieces of clothing always clashed with one another—nothing was ever even remotely coordinated.  No matter what time of day it was or how Josh was dressed, he always managed to fit the descriptions of ‘scruffy’ or ‘rumpled’ or even ‘sloppy’ or ‘disheveled’—but at least he had never descended to ‘slovenly.’ Rachel had always marveled at the way Josh could put on perfectly respectable looking clothes (albeit mismatched ones) and have them immediately conform to his mussy, messy, untidy state.

Fortunately, Josh was attractive enough and personable enough that most people ignored the way he dressed. The smile on his lips was almost always accompanied by a matching twinkle in his flashing blue eyes, which were set under unruly dark brown hair. His dark brown beard was crisply curly and was already lightly frosted with gray, even though he was only in his mid-thirties.

For a late dinner, Rachel and Josh had ordered a large pizza delivered from the pizzeria around the corner. While they ate, they'd watched John Wayne in the last part of “True Grit” on one of the cable channels. Rachel had waited until the movie was over and they'd finished the last piece of the pizza's cheesy-bacony goodness before bringing up the troublesome subject she wanted to discuss with Josh.

But first she decided to satisfy her curiosity about what had kept him so late this evening.

In what she thought was a nonchalant manner, she asked, “So, where were you this evening, Bro?”

Josh chuckled to himself, knowing what his nosy baby sis was up to. Well, he'd give her some interesting info, but probably not what she wanted.

“Well, let's see...Ummmm...First, I called Maggie Barnes and she came by the paper with some material on Reynard.” He was interrupted by a squeal from Rachel, who then said, “Why didn't you tell me that first thing?”

“Oh, you know how it goes when one gets older, things seem to slip one's mind.” Josh stopped again to fend off Rachel's attack with one of the small stuffed pillows on the back of the sofa.

“Okay, Josh, now tell me everything and don't anything leave out.”

“Sis, there's really nothing to tell, at least not what you mean. Maggie was helpful and I'm grateful to her. And I enjoyed seeing her again...but that's all there was to it.” Josh paused, then said teasingly, “Except...”

“Except what?” Rachel hissed. “Quit making me drag this out of you a syllable at a time!”

“Well, Maggie said if I have any questions or need more information, I should call her on Monday, so...I guess that's what I'll do.” Josh leaned back on the sofa and closed his eyes, as if finished with the conversation.

“Oh, no you don't. I can tell that you have more to tell me. And when you're finished, boy, do I have some stuff to tell you!” Rachel said emphatically.

“You must be some kind of mind reader,” Josh said, and proceeded to give her the highlights of his tete-a-tete with China at Casey's, including China's melodramatic assessment of Erik as a psychopath.

When he'd finished, Rachel was silent for a long while, deep in thought. 

“I wonder...” she started to say, then stopped.

“You wonder what, Sis?”

Rachel proceeded to tell Josh about all of the things Maggie had told her at lunch, starting first with the overheard conversation between Erik Nilssen and Donnie, the maintenance man.

Then it was Josh's turn to sit and think about what he'd been told. Finally, he said, “I see what you were wondering—whether there's any connection between what Maggie overheard and what China told me about Erik's strange behavior.”

The brother and sister sat there for a few minutes, each lost in his or her own thoughts.

“Do you think about Maggie should tell China about what she overheard?” Rachel asked.

“Yeah, she should do it. I'm sure it won't come as much of a surprise to China but she should have all the information—or ammunition, maybe—she can get. I have a hunch that Erik Nilssen is not going to leave quietly.”
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MAGGIE

Friday Evening, November 20, 1992

It was past 9 o'clock Friday evening when Amos and Hank  finally arrived at the Todd/Barnes home. 

“Sorry we're so late,” Amos apologized, “but we got involved in a Plaza Square security problem and lost track of time.” He was a stocky man of medium height whose full head of white hair depicted his age as late fifties or early sixties. He and Kate Todd had been close friends for years, and Maggie and Hank were always hoping the friendship would blossom into a romance.

The twins were in bed and Kate and Maggie had been sitting in the sunroom watching an old John Wayne movie on the Classics Movie Channel.

At Kate's suggestion, the four of them, Kate, Maggie, Hank, and Amos went to sit around the kitchen table, where Kate put out coffee and cookies.

It was almost an hour later before Maggie and Kate were finally finished telling Amos about the things that had happened to them the past few days. 

After studying it for a bit, Amos pocketed the copy of the newspaper article and promised to do some checking. He also told both women to be extremely cautious, to not go out alone at night, to stay away from lonely, deserted areas—in general, to play it safe until they could figure out what was going on, and to be sure to inform him if any additional incidents occurred.

“One thing I'll do tomorrow is install some call tracing equipment on your phone line here and also the one at the university,” Amos said  

Hank added, “We just bought a new type that can trace any call anywhere in two seconds—it's the latest and greatest you can get.” His enthusiasm for one of his electronic toys brought a smile to Kate's and Maggie's faces.

Soon after that, Amos went back to the city, and Kate, Maggie, and Hank went to bed.

Once again that night, Maggie was unable to fall asleep and lay there in bed, going over and over things in her mind. One of the most bothersome was that she still hadn't decided whether or not she or Rachel should tell China what she'd overheard.

Maggie had never felt particularly close to China, even after all the years they'd known one another. Rachel and Maggie had first met China when they were seniors in high school. China had been a student at Miss Potter's, an upscale private girls' school that was considered the best in Rivermont. Maggie and Rachel, on a whim, had applied for and been awarded scholarships to Miss Potter's.

At first, their mothers, Kate Todd and Carolyn Campbell, had categorically refused the girls permission to attend Miss Potter's.

“Margaret Rose,” Kate had said, “the girls that attend that school are enormously wealthy, so much so that they live in a different world from us. I think both you and Rachel would feel uncomfortable and out of place there and that you would be really very unhappy.”

Carolyn Campbell had concurred with Kate but Maggie and Rachel continued to hound their mothers, determined to wear them down.

“What I can't understand,” said Carolyn Campbell during one of their first marathon discussion sessions about Miss Potter's, “is why you girls would even want to go there. Rivermont High School is one of the best in the state and all of your friends are there. Why on earth would you want to transfer to Miss Potter's for your last year? It really makes no sense to me.”

Rachel and Maggie had very patiently explained about Miss Potter's outstanding academic reputation, how it offered much more in the way of challenges and opportunities for learning than Rivermont High.

What had started out as a lark for the two girls had now become a cause. They made a pact that together they would convince their mothers this was the chance of a lifetime that they must not miss. Their ace in the hole was the guidance counselor, Mr. Deall, at Rivermont High. 

When the girls had first approached Mr. Deall about applying for the scholarship at Miss Potter's for their senior year, he had encouraged them.

According to Mr. Deal, Miss Potter's regularly took top honors throughout the state in secondary school programs. He agreed with their mothers that Rivermont was indeed a superior school but even it couldn't hold a candle to Miss Potter's.

“There's an interesting bit of history behind Miss Potter's and it's one of the reasons I'm so enthusiastic about it,” Mr. Deall had told them.

“The school was founded right after the Civil War by, of course, the original Miss Potter, Esther Potter, who was the spinster daughter of a very well-to-do Rivermont businessman. The story goes that her fiance had been killed at the very end of the war, and she had prayed that her broken heart would kill her too. But her innate strength of spirit had prevailed, and eventually she had begun to search for a good cause to which she could devote herself. At the time, she was one of only a handful of young women in Rivermont who'd had the opportunity for a high school education. Back then, most young women ended their formal education after grammar school, which stopped at eighth grade. Esther was a staunch believer in education for women and that became her cause. At first, her father refused to assist in her efforts, saying it was totally inappropriate and that she should set her mind to finding and marrying a suitable young man.

“Well, that didn't sit too well with our Miss Potter. She made up her mind to raise the funds she needed for a school for girls from the good folk of Rivermont. And that's exactly what she did. By the time she had enough money, she'd also changed her father's mind about her project and he became a full and dedicated participant in her endeavor.

“Up until the last fifty years or so, the school wasn't the high-priced, exclusive, upscale institution it is now. But somehow with the ever-escalating costs of education, private schools became more and more expensive and consequently available mostly to the wealthy. At Miss Potter's, they've always had scholarship students. That was one of the provisions of the original Miss Potter's last will and testament, which still governs the school today.”

With Mr. Deall's help, Rachel and Maggie had finally convinced their mothers to let them accept their scholarships to Miss Potter's.

Unfortunately, their scholarship status set the girls apart, and they were never accepted into the mainstream of the school's social life. But fortunately, this is no way impacted on their academic activities and they threw themselves wholeheartedly into their studies.

When Maggie and Rachel started at Miss Potter's, they soon became aware of the outsider status of one of their fellow students, China Smith.  

“I feel so sorry for her,”Rachel had said to Maggie about China when they first realized that none of the other girls liked her. Weeks later, Rachel had said, “She's really not that bad, you know. It's a shame no one likes her. I think we should join forces with her.” And so they had, with the three girls somehow hooking up together because of their similar situations. 

China's exclusion was based on the dislike her personality had engendered in the other girls. Like most of her classmates, China had been a student at Miss Potter's since kindergarten. Right from the beginning, China had acted as though she were better than anyone else. Her grandfather had convinced her that she was a princess; in fact, he called her Princess more often than he called her China. Her grandfather constantly told her that there was no one as beautiful as she was—or as bright and intelligent and capable. 

By the time she reached sixth grade, China had alienated the other girls with her air of superiority—to the point that they rarely spoke to her. China accepted their ostracism stoically, burying herself in her studies and in reading for pleasure.

From the beginning, Rachel and China had been much closer friends than Maggie and China. Maggie had gone along with Rachel's attachment to China but had never felt truly comfortable or at ease around China.
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SCOTTY and LEAH

Saturday Morning, November 21, 1992

At 7 a.m. Saturday morning, Scotty and Leah were sprawled on the floor in front of the television in the sunroom. They were patiently watching the Home Shopping Channel, while waiting for the cartoons that started at 8. Considerately, they had the volume turned low to keep from waking their mother or grandmother. On weekends, Kate and Maggie tried to grab an extra few minutes of sleep and usually didn't get up until 8 or 8:30.  As for their Uncle Hank, he could sleep through a tornado and actually once had.

The twins had already eaten heaping bowls of Sugar Pops and were now working on the assortment of doughnuts Maggie had picked up at the bakery on her way home from work yesterday. Show Pony and Romanian Baby were hovering in the vicinity, having licked the last drops of milk from the cereal bowls, they were now hoping for doughnut crumbs.

“Scotty, look at that,” Leah whispered loudly, gesturing toward the TV screen. “They're selling a special video for cats—it has birds and squirrels and chipmunks on it, with all the sounds they make. Wouldn't our kittens love that?” 

“Gee, that would make a super Christmas present for them. Run get paper and pencil so we can write down how you order it,” Scotty said.

Leah started to protest his ordering her around, but then decided it wasn't worth the trouble. She went over to the desk against one wall of the sunroom and rooted around for paper and pencil.

Later that day, at the lunch table with Kate and Hank, the twins presented the information on the video tape to their mother, along with its price tag of $49.95.

“Absolutely not,” Maggie said firmly, but with a smile. “You know I love the kittens dearly, too, but that's an exorbitant—I mean, that's way too much money for something they would most likely ignore. We can get them a new assortment of toys filled with catnip—you know how much fun they have with those.”

“But, Mom,” Leah began, a slight whine in her voice.

Maggie interrupted with “Now, young lady, you know better.”

Hank looked at his niece and nephew quizzically, and said, “Why don't you tell me about this video? You know, we might be able to make one ourselves and save the fifty bucks.”

The twins both started chattering at once, telling their uncle all about the cat video, excited at the prospect of making one on their own.

Behind her napkin, Maggie grinned to herself as her brother and her children began to plan how they would create a video. 

That afternoon, while Maggie and Kate were out running errands, Hank and the twins positioned one of Hank's video cameras on a tripod in the living room window. The camera was aimed out at the front yard where the twins had last year set up a combination bird, squirrel, and raccoon feeding area. In the daytime, the sunflower seeds were enjoyed by an assortment of birds and squirrels. Then, during the night, the raccoons who lived in their woods came out to feast on the seeds plus the miniature marshallows they loved. The raccoons had learned to adjust their preference to darkness to the subdued glare of the always lit gas lamp in the front yard, so that the twins could watch the raccoons.

While Hank fiddled with camera, setting it up for motion detection photography, the twins bundled themselves up and went out to scattered around the seeds. In a few minutes, Hank joined them, toting a plasket, mesh-sided clothes basket and a cassette tape recorder. 

“What in the world is that for?” Scotty asked, pointing at the clothes basket.

“You'll see,” Hank promised his nephew. Right next to the feeding area was the front sidewalk, a brick pathway that wound its way around the front yard. On the sidewalk, Hank set the tape recorder down, turned it on, then covered it with the clothes basket.

“Okay, Uncle Hank,” Leah demanded, “explain what you're doing.”

Hank put his finger to his lips, made a shushing sound, then motioned the twins to follow him back in the house. When they were all inside and had taken off their coats, he explained. “That's a voice-activated tape recorder. That means when it detects... ummm, when it picks up a sound, it switches on and records the sounds for as long as they last. See, this way we can get the sounds of birds and squirrels and things. Then we take the video tape and dub the sound onto it...ummm, I mean add the sound to the picture, and there, we have our own cat videotape.”

The twins were silent for a moment, absorbing this information. Then Scotty asked, “Won't the tapes on the recorder and the camera run out?”

“Well, sure, eventually and then we'll put in new tapes. But let me explain about the recorder and the video camera. With the recorder, the tape only runs when there are sounds—so when then aren't any chirping birds or squawking squirrels around, the tape won't be on. So we have a tape of sounds only—not sounds surrounded by silent gaps. With the  video camera, I set it up for time lapse photography combined with a motion detector. That means that it only takes pictures at certain intervals and only when it detects motion in the area that its lens is focused on—so you get much more on a tape.”

Once again, the twins were quiet as they absorbed this additional information. Finally, they were satisfied that what their uncle was telling them all made sense.

“How about a snack after all that work?” Hank suggested, already knowing what the ever-ravenous twins would say.
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MAGGIE

Early Monday Evening, November 23, 1992

Maggie sat at the computer terminal, fingers resting lightly on the keys. She'd been sitting here for several minutes lost in her thoughts about Josh Campbell.

Josh had phoned this morning, shortly after she'd gotten to the office.

“I want to thank you again for the Reynard material,” Josh said. “It was a great help to me on the column I'm writing—especially your background notes.”

“I'm glad I could be of help,” Maggie said. “Are you going to make your deadline?”

“I think so,” Josh answered. “I still wish I could have talked to Reynard himself but no could do.”

There was a silence on the phone, as if each was at a loss for words. Then Maggie filled the empty space with, “I understand my Mom invited you to come with Rachel to Thanksgiving Dinner at our house. I hope you can make it.”

“I wouldn't miss it!” Josh responded enthusiastically. “Well, thanks again for your help—and I'll see you on Thursday.”

For the rest of the day, Maggie had found herself thinking about Josh and replaying their conversation in her head.

Now, it was Monday evening and deadline time for her again. She'd gotten in all the final revisions and approvals for the cover article of this month's edition of the Rivermont University Alumni Magazine. After she made the corrections and additions on the computer file, she scrolled through the article on the computer screen once more.

Plaza Square: A “Genius” of a Building

By Maggie Barnes
The Smith Foundation, one of Rivermont University's most generous supporters, is involved in more than just philanthropic activities. The foundation is the major developer of Plaza Square, downtown Rivermont's tallest office building.

The Plaza Square slogan, “Soaring to New Heights,” aptly characterizes its status as a new beacon on the city's skyline. Construction on the 45-story high rise was completed three years ago and the building's office space was steadily being leased, despite the city's saturated leasing market and the resulting perrenial glut of available office space.

Maggie remembered her interview about Plaza Square with China several weeks ago. Maggie had already talked with the building management company, the architect, the construction company, and the building's chief engineer. Fonally, all she'd needed to finish her fact-gathering had been to talk with China Smith, as the chairperson of the board of the Smith Foundation, owners of Plaza Square. 

The interview with China had taken place late one afternoon in China's penthouse apartment. It was the first time Maggie had seen China's home and she was slightly awestruck at the apartment's elegance and grandeur.

China had seemed to enjoy being the subject of Maggie's interview and had cooperated fully, even going so far as to produce a series of quotable remarks and opinions.

China's husband Erik Nilssen had come home in the middle of the interview. He'd joined the two women in the living room, despite China's slight frown of disapproval and her offhand comment that he needn't stay around.

After Erik joined them, Maggie had felt vaguely uncomfortable  as though there were undercurrents here that she didn't understand. As a result, she'd hurried through the remainder of the interview, hoping she was getting all the information she needed.

China Smith, chairperson of the Smith Foundation, developers and owners of the building, says, “Plaza Square was designed as a signature building by one of the city's leading architectural firms. Its post-modern style combines sleek, simple geometric details with historic elements designed to harmonize with the traditional architecture of surrounding buildings in the city. Its steeply pitched roof suggests a French Renaissance chateau and the acutely angled dormers hint at Gothic arches. The building  was designed to project a dramatic yet stately image that would celebrate the city's renaissance. It was conceived with a commitment to enrich the experiences of pedestrians in downtown. The landmark building not only makes a statement as the tallest tower on the city's skyline, it makes an all-important contribution to the dynamism of downtown with exciting ground level experiences.

Located on a 1-1/2 acre city block, the building eschews the ubiquitous glass and steel construction of most new buildings today. The 1-1/2 million square foot structure (with 1 million square feet of leasable space) will feature a total of eight different granites and marbles, with three different granites in varying finishes accenting its exterior. The first seven floors are finished in Baltic brown granite; the remainder of the building's exterior is finished in Golden Carioca. The tower is built with 60% Golden Granite and 40% bronzed glass. One 15-foot granite cornice section weighs 32,000 pounds.

There are approximately 433 tons of marble in the 50-foot, 35,000 square foot lobby, nearly 38% more than the amount of marble in the Lincoln Memorial Staute in Washington, D.C. More than 7,500 tons of stell were used to complete the superstructure of Plaza Square. 3,500 square feet of glass (at a cost of $150 per square foot) was used on the 50-foot high Pilkington Glass wall entrance to the lobby of Plaza Square.

The lobby does double duty as an art gallery, featuring wrap-around murals that reach to its top. Seven 22-foot high murals depict “An Urban Odyssey,” drawing on a mythical journey of a modern-day Ulysses. Two 22-foot high murals depict a historical fantasy about the city.

Plaza Square is virtually free of columns, with only four per typical floor. Minimum space was allotted to corridors. Construction is a composite of structural steel framing and concrete floor slab; the coordination allows not only the maximum use of space but also modification to accommodate changes in load or future use of the space.

The building has been designated as “a profile in the sky.” Its copper green roof is visible for many miles and is lighted at night, serving as a beacon to the downtown area. Immediately below the pitched roof is a two-story, all-glass penthouse. From the penthouse on the 44th and 45th floors, you can see a distance of at least 35 miles. There are 18 bay windows per floor, and ceiling heights of nine and ten feet and the windows are insulated to conserve energy.

Another crucial energy-related facet of Plaza Square is that the entire building operates under a recently-installed state-of-the-art computerized  environmental control system which effectively elevates Plaza Square from the “smart” building category to “genius” status. 

The system runs under a graphical user interface environment and is a product of a leading manufacturer of control systems for HVAC (heating, ventilating, and air conditioning) equipment and computer systems. 

The Chief Engineer of Plaza Square, an employee of the real estate management and leasing company which administers the building for its owner, The Smith Foundation, says that the system was a natural migration from Plaza Square's initial environmental control system which was semi-computerized. The new system offers cost effectiveness,  increased security and safety for the building systems, faster accommodation of tenants' specific, individual requirements, and the all-important features of multi-tasking and user friendliness. 

The system is cost effective in two significant ways: 1) By automating many formerly manual operations, the maintenance department can  operate in a more efficient and timely manner and with fewer staffing requirements; and 2) The system gives users the ability to immediately adjust the environmental controls, thus maintaining energy  usage at the most efficient level (and simultaneously reducing energy costs).

The system is physically connected by cables to various sensors throughout the  million square foot building; these sensors  constantly transmit readings to the main control unit. A temperature sensor on the roof of the 45-story, 596-foot tall building provides instant access to the outside temperature, a crucial component of maintaining the proper inside temperature.

In addition to the central control unit in the maintenance department on the 17th floor of Plaza Square, there are two other main system stations: one in the building management office on the 29th floor and one in the security department located just off the building's first floor lobby area. The operator workstation on the 29th floor is also used in a project management capacity, with a software package installed on the hard disk that tracks all Plaza Square-related projects. The three central units are networked together and share several printers; other software integrated into the system includes a drawing program and a communications program.

One of the most important functions of the system is its multi-tasking capability: in the midst of other applications (word processing, graphics, etc.) alarms can  pop up, alerting users to potential emergencies.

Another extremely useful feature of the system is its ability to create “icons” of the various functions. With this feature, a user can check the status of an air handler in the morning, make an icon of that function, then throughout the day can immediately re-check that air handler's status by double-clicking with the mouse on the icon. 

(An air handler is the piece of equipment that physically controls air flow. Manipulating the quantity, force, and temperature of the air moved by the air handler determines the temperature of a facility.)

Plaza Square's diverse mix of tenants have varying heating or cooling requirements, depending on their schedules of regular and special events.  The system has a scheduling function that allows for temperature control adjustments for holidays and for special events which overrides the routine set-up schedule.

Maintaining a consistently comfortable temperature in the building's five-story, 50-foot-high atrium lobby is another environmental-control challenge and the most public one. Temperature sensors, located at strategic points throughout the lobby, are constantly monitored to help maintain the optimeum comfort level indoors. The building is also protected by a system of smoke and fire sensors and alarms that provide immediate warning of potentially dangerous situations.

The system has a built-in telephone modem which can provide the Chief Engineer with off-site access to the system from his home or from any other remote modem-equipped computer. In addition to the three main control centers, the system also provides a portable unit that can be plugged into any of the connections or sensors throughout the building.

Cost-effective, comprehensive, powerful, and up-to-date, the system also has the advantage of being very user-friendly for non-computer experts.

The next, related phase in computerizing the Plaza Square building systems will be the installation of a computerized preventive maintenance (pm) program. With the pm system, the scheduling, tracking, and recording of routine and preventive maintenance procedures will be automated.  The pm system can also store historical maintenance data and can function as an inventory control system for the maintenance department. 

China Smith also says,  “In the lobby of Plaza Square is an inlaid brass plaque inscribed ‘Plaza Square: Transcending the Ordinary.’ We believe a  state-of-the-art environmental control system is just one of the many ways in which the building transcends the ordinary and is in keeping with our goal of offering the ultimeate in premier office space to our tenants and prospective tenants.”

Am edtorial in one of the local newspapers characterized Plaza Square as “a gracious addition to the city's skyline.” The editorial goes on to say, ‘The building is indeed breathtaking, and both its design and size add to our central business core. It represents the new sense of growth and excitement in and around the city. The distinctive visual  impact of the building enhances the city's appeal and identity nationwide. Everyone connected with building deserves credit, from the designers at the architectural firm to the brokers at the real estate company leasing the space. Rising in a position of prominence in the financial district of the city, the long-term economic impact of Plaza Square can only strengthen the city.”
When the article was revised to Maggie's satisfaction, she printed out a hard-copy for final proofing, then saved the computer file. That finished, she sighed and turned off her computer, glad that this day was finally at an end.

As she stood up and stretched to get the kinks out of her shoulders and neck, she noticed a white rectangle of paper lying on the floor in front of her office door.

“Hmmm, where did that come from?” she said out loud as she walked over and picked it up. With a start, she realized it was another plain white anonymous-looking #10 envelope, similar to the one she'd received in the mail at home last Thursday. For a moment, she was tempted to shred it into bits without opening it, but then a certain morbid curiosity got the better of her. 

She ripped open the flap of the envelope and drew out another photocopy of a newspaper article. This one was dated several days after the first one and the headline read, “Woman Charged With Reckless Endangerment,”  but had no handwritten message scrawled across the bottom.

According to the article, Selene Dawson had been charged by the County Sheriff's office with one count of reckless endangerment for the automobile accident in which she and Robert Barnes were involved. The sheriff was quoted as saying that the district attorney's office had filed the lesser charge of reckless endangerment rather than vehicular homicide because Barnes had actually died in the hospital emergency room of a heart attack, and not directly from the injuries he sustained in the accident itself.

Maggie frowned at the paper she clutched in her hand. So...another piece of the mysterious puzzle to turn over to Amos, she thought. And no time like the present.
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AMOS

Monday Evening, November 23, 1992

For a few moments after Maggie left his office, Amos stood at the door watching after her, concerned about her safety and well-being and stymied by her predicament.

He didn't like this additional anonymously-sent news article she'd brought by, he didn't like it at all. Someone had set out on a determined course of harassing Maggie and it was time to find out who that someone was. The most obvious suspect was this Selene Dawson. He'd started the process of looking for the woman first thing Saturday morning, after his Friday evening meeting with Maggie. So far, none of the usual, most obvious resources had turned up anything on Selene Dawson. The woman seemed to have disappeared shortly after her release from the hospital eight years ago. From newspaper files, Amos was able to ascertain that the authorities had eventually dropped the reckless endangerment charge filed against her. It turned out that a witness turned up who corroborated the Dawson woman's account of the accident, how a van had seemingly deliberately edged her off the road.

His next approach would be tracking her through her Social Security number, one sure-fire way of locating a missing person. First thing this morning, he'd called one of this contacts in D.C. but still hadn't heard anything back. 

Amos wished he could call it a day. His bum leg was starting to ache and he wanted nothing more than a hot shower and an evening with his leg propped up in bed. But no such luck. The internal theft situation at Plaza Square required his immediate and personal attention.
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MAGGIE and RACHEL

Tuesday Noon, November 24, 1992

In celebration of Rachel's 31st birthday, Maggie was treating her to an elegant lunch at The Atrium, the posh restaurant located in the lobby of Plaza Square. They'd arranged to meet under the clock at the main building entrance, exactly at noon. Maggie, as usual, was a few minutes early. Rachel, also as usual, was a few minutes late. As Maggie waited, she stood gazing around the lobby of Rivermont's premier office building. Bits and pieces of the recent article she'd written about Plaza Square flitted through her mind as she studied the lobbby. Especially distinctive were the twenty-foot high murals lining the walls of the five-story atrium lobby. The light airy atmosphere was enhanced by the abundance of flowering plants and trees distributed scattered here and there on the terrazzo lobby floor.

Eventually, Rachel showed up and after Maggie gave her a birthday hug, the two friends walked arm in arm to The Atrium.

Once they were seated and had ordered a glass of wine, Maggie reached into her purse and drew out a small gift-wrapped package and a card and with a flourish, presented them to Rachel.

Rachel pulled off the ribbon and ripped into the wrapping paper. Inside a small red velvet box was a tiny, delicately etched crystal mouse. Rachel crowed in delight, and said, “Oh, Mags, it's absolutely precious! What a wonderful addition to my collection. Thank you so much.” With no regard for what the other restaurant patrons might think, Rachel reached over and gave her friend a hug and a kiss on the cheek.

As Rachel tucked her present and card into her oversized handbag, Maggie asked, “Well, did you and China get together this weekend?” 

“No, we didn't. She called Saturday morning while I was out running errands and Josh was at the paper and left a message on the machine saying something had come up and we wouldn't be able to get together and that she'd call me sometime this week. But so far I haven't heard anything from her.” 

Suddenly, Rachel realized someone was standing just behind her chair and she turned around, expecting to see their waiter. Instead, seeing that it was Maggie's brother Hank, Rachel let out a small yelp of surprise, and said, “Hank! What are you doing here?” Then, realizing how rude that sounded, she immediately added, “I mean, uhhh, are you having lunch here today, too?”

Hank grinned at Rachel's confusion, then moved over and pulled out the chair next to her.

“Yep, I sure am! Maggie invited me to a gala birthday lunch for you—so here I am,” Hank said.

To Maggie and Hank's puzzlement, Rachel burst out laughing.

“And what's so funny?” Maggie asked, a bit peevishly.

Rachel was laughing so hard she couldn't answer. All she could do was gesture off to Maggie's right side. In bewilderment, Maggie looked around and saw Josh Campbell standing there. Almost immediately, Maggie understood her friend's laughter and joined in.

Josh sat down, first giving the two laughing women a quizzical look. 

“Hank, do you have any idea what's so funny?” Josh asked.

“Not a clue,” Hank answered, “but don't let it worry you. I think they've been this way since birth.”

When Maggie and Rachel finally got their giggles under control, they apologized to the two men but didn't explain that the reason behind their laughter was that both of them had caught each other matchmaking again.

After they'd ordered and while they were waiting to be served, Rachel looked toward the restaurant entrance and said, “I don't believe it! This is like old home week here.” Her three lunch companions looked over in the same direction and saw China Smith striding across the restaurant following behind the maitre d'. All eyes were on the tall blond woman as the maitre d' seated her at one of the small tables along the banquette and with a flourish, presented her with the menu.

Rachel waved at China and motioned for her to come over to their table. After first glancing around the room as though looking for someone, China walked over to where they sat.

“Hi there, birthday girl. Did you get my little something?” China asked as she gave Rachel a squeeze around the shoulders.

“Listen to the woman! Little something, she says! Little something doesn't even begin to describe that huge forest of plants and flowers I found outside the office door this morning,” Rachel said.

“Well, I couldn't make up my mind between a dozen roses or a scheffelera  plant or a ficus tree so I sent them all,” China drawled.

“Would you like to join us?” Rachel invited. “We can get the waiter to squeeze in another chair here.”

“Thanks but no thanks,”China answered. “I'm expecting...I'm expecting someone,” she said slowly and seriously. “And here he is now. Listen, happy birthday, Rache—and it was great seeing all of you. Oh, and Rache, I'll give you a call today or tomorrow about this weekend.” With that, China walked back over to her table, intercepting the tall blond man heading in that direction.

“Is that her husband?” Hank asked Maggie in a low voice.

“Mmmm-hmmm,” Maggie answered.

“Nice looking guy,” Hank said.

“ Yes, they make a really striking couple, don't they?” Maggie said.

Just then, the waiter arrived with their salads, and they turned their attention to the food.

Every once in awhile as the four ate and chatted, Maggie would surreptitiously glance over at the table where China and Erik sat. They didn't seem to have much to say to one another and Maggie was curious about why they were having lunch together. Eirk Nilssen certainly was a handsome man, Maggie found herself thinking, not for the first time.

At the end of the meal, as the four of them were finishing their coffee, there was a hum of noise at the restaurant entrance as a group of people came in, talking and laughing. In the midst of the group, one man towered over the rest, Patrick Reynard.

As the group moved toward one of the private dining rooms, Josh tried to keep one eye on Reynard and one on China Smith. China had certainly noticed Reynard's entrance, no doubt about that. But Josh was unable to tell if Reynard had spotted China sitting along the banquette. 

Once the group of people had disappeared into the private dining room, the other restaurant patrons had gone back to their own concerns, except perhaps for China Smith. She'd stood up and stalked out of the room, leaving her husband sitting alone, their lunches half-finished.

“I wonder what that was all about,” Josh murmured in an undertone. Rachel overheard him and answered, without looking at him, in an equally low voice, “Beats me, Bro. I think I'm going to see what I can find out this weekend at China's.”

The four had walked out of the restaurant together and over to the bank of brass-fronted elevators, where Rachel would ascend to the law offices of Green & Greene on the 29th floor. “Thanks for the birthday lunch and birthday surprise...surprises,” Rachel said to Maggie, giving her friend a hug good-bye. “Call me when you get back to the University.”

Maggie had agreed with a grin, then she left the building with Josh and Hank. Outside, Maggie and Josh said good-bye to Hank and headed off to their offices.
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HANK

Tuesday Afternoon, November 24, 1992

Hank stood there for a moment watching Maggie and Josh as they walked down the street. Hmmmm, he thought speculatively, they make sort of a nice-looking couple, I wonder if...

His thoughts took off on a tangent, veering over to Rachel Campbell, as he still thought of her. She didn't seem to be in any hurry to remarry, or even to do much dating, from what he could remember Maggie saying. Maybe I should ask her out, Hank thought, then shook his head in surprise, at having what for him was such an unusual thought. 

Hank had never been much for dating. Mostly, he'd go out with a bunch of friends, guys and gals and hadn't ever developed a serious romantic relationship. He'd always seemed to have too much to do, what with with his job and his hobbies. 

Hank was a tall, lanky figure, looking younger than his 32, almost 33, years, with light brown hair that always seemed to fall in his face. He wore glasses and had one of those plastic pocket protectors crammed with an assortment of things like pens and pencils and screwdrivers and a tire gauge and a pocket knife. People sometimes told him he looked kind of nerdy but it didn't really bother him.

Hank had parked his car on the street outside Plaza Square, just down from the roped-off valet parking area serving The Atrium. As he strolled over to his car he noticed that next to the restaurant was some kind of a work-out or health club, with floor to ceiling windows looking out onto the sidewalk. For a moment, he stood there watching as Spandex-encased bodies pulled and pushed and stretched on pieces of equipment that to Hank resembled medieval torture apparatuses. He shook his head in wonderment that any sane human being would willingly endure such unnatural bodily contortions, then continued on toward his car.

He'd put a “DELIVERY” sign in the windshield of his fifteen-year-old Toyota, and as usual, no one had bothered his derelict of a vehicle. For some odd reason, Hank was inordinately attached to his beat-up car and refused to consider replacing it with something more presentable. The Toyota's red paint was faded and spotted—in places, the paint was entirely gone. All four fenders were dinged and dented and the front bumper hung at a slight angle. Paradoxically, the car sported a set of brand-new, top-of-the-line, steel-belted radials. 

But the most unusal thing about Hank's Toyota wasn't visible on the outside—in fact, it was barely detectable inside. Hank had equipped the car with a very expensive, state-of-the-art stereo system, complete with compact disc player, quadraphonic speakers, sound modulators, everything the most dedicated stereo buff could want. 

Hank had painstakingly camouflagued his expensive, theft-prone electronic “toys,” so that would-be thieves had no idea that the banged up Toyota was a treasure trove of re-sellable goodies. In addition to the stereo system, the car was also equipped with a cellular phone, a CB radio, and a portable TV, all hidden behind a false panel in front of the passenger seat. 

Adding to its disreputable appearance, the inside of the vehicle also sported a varied collection of crumpled paper bags representing the whole gamut of the fast food industry in Rivermont.

Hank did, however, always lock the car to deter any mischief-intentioned passersby, and he now unlocked the driver's door and got in. He sat for a moment watching his sister and Josh far off down the street. They'd refused his offer of a lift and he hadn't insisted because carrying passengers in the Toyota required a major shifting of all the debris that had accumulated on the car's every interior surface.

At the first pause in traffic, Hank pulled out of his parking space and headed toward The Landing and the office of Powell Security. 

What had started out for Hank as a temporary stopgap job had since become a fascinating career. Last year, Hank had been one of the many victims of the end of the cold war when he'd been among the 12,000 workers laid off by Dynatron, the major aerospace firm located in the suburbs of Rivermont. Hank had worked for several years as an electrical engineer at Dynatron, with thousands of other interchangeable worker bees, each in his or her own little cubbyhole. 

At the time of the layoff, Hank had been working on a top-secret “black” project, which he didn't understand and couldn't have cared less about. Being laid off had been liberating, an act of emancipation for Hank. He'd had no regrets, especially when Amos, knowing of Hank's electronics hobby, had offered him a job as an electronics technician. Hank had jumped at the opportunity. 

When he got to Powell Security, Hank once again put the “DELIVERY” sign in his windshield. As he started to get out of the car, he remembered that he'd brought in the video and audio tapes that he and the twins had made of birds, squirrels, chipmunks, raccoons, and possums over the past couple of days. He'd promised the twins that he'd bring them into work with him and work on editing them, combining the separate video tapes into one master tape, and then dubbing the audio tapes onto the master video. 

Last night, Leah had asked, “Uncle Hank, do you think you could get it finished by Thanksgiving Day? It would neat to have the pre--pre, what's that word that means first showing?”

“You're probably thinking of either premiere or preview,” Hank said.

“Yes, premiere, thanks Uncle Hank, that's the word I was thinking of,” said Leah. “It would be neat if we could have the premiere of the cats' tape on Thanksgiving Day, after we eat dinner, and we're all sitting around stuffed and sleepy. The tape could be the entertainment for everyone.”

Hank had turned away to hide his smile from his niece, as he wondered who but the twins would be entertained by a vidoetape of animal pictures and sounds, not counting their cats, of course.

In the Powell lab, as Hank called the little back storage room he'd transformed into an electronics paradise, he unloaded the various tapes from his briefcase and laid them out on one of the gadget-strewn work tables that lined the walls of the tiny room. He'd get started on the project this evening, after regular work hours. Then he went looking for Amos, to see what the latest was on  Maggie's problem.

17.6

MAGGIE

Tuesday Afternoon, November 24, 1992

Back at her office after lunch, Maggie felt at loose ends. That morning, she'd delivered the last of the copy for the next issue of the alumni magazine to the university's graphics department. She was temporarily finished with this issue of the magazine until early next week when she'd do the last-minute proofing from the blue-line, the final step before publication. She sat in front of her paper-laden desk, determined to start filing away multiple drafts of articles from this issue. 

Her desk faced a window, with her office door behind her over her right shoulder. As she sat there, trying to get motivated, she had what had become the familiar sensaton of being watched. Turning around, she saw Erik Nilssen in the doorway of her office. He was just standing there, looking at her with an expressionless face.

Maggie took a deep breath, stood up, and said, “May I help you, Dr. Nilssen?”

“Erik, please,” Nilssen said, “I thought we'd moved beyond the formalities.

Maggie was silent, trying to hide her growing aversion to this man. Lately, it had seemed that Erik Nilssen was almost seeking her out. With the counseling service office just down the hall from the alumni and development offices, she ran into him at least once a day, sometimes more often.

Whenever she'd run into him in the hallway, he'd stop to chat. Several times, he'd invited her to join him in the university cafeteria at lunchtime and she hadn't been able to think of an excuse to refuse. At first, Maggie had found him an interesting conversationalist, and he certainly was an attractive man, with his thick blond hair and dazzlingly blue eyes. When he found out that her undergraduate degree had been in psychology, he'd started treating her like a colleague. This made her uncomfortable because she made no pretense at being a professional psychologist. She'd only majored in psychology because she couldn't think of anything else. yet Erik was also discussing his cases with her, anonymously of course, but still in infuriating detail.  She'd tried to deflect him on the topic of clinical psychology and his patients, but to no avail. 

Now, as Erik stood there this Tuesday afternoon, Maggie realized that it was the first time she'd seen him to talk to since the conversation she'd overheard last Wednesday between Erik and the custodian. 

“Tell me, are you looking forward to your all girls weekend?” Erik asked. 

Maggie had hesitated before answering, detecting an odd note in his voice but not able to identify what it was. “Well, yes, I suppose. It's been a tradition with us for several years now.” Maggie thought Erik looked disconcerted at her lukewarm response—she knew she sounded less than enthusiastic but couldn't seem to put any feeling in her tone.

“But you are definitely going?” Erik asked.

“I'm planning to,” Maggie answered, wondering why he was making such a big deal about this.

Changing the subject, Erik asked, “Did you enjoy your lunch?”

Once again, Maggie found herself answering with restraint. “Yes, I enjoyed my lunch.”

Erik met this response with a silence that lasted long enough to beome awkward.

Maggie decided to put an end to this uncomfortable interlude, “If you'll excuse me, I was just on my way out...”

Erik gave her an unreadable look, then turned abruptly and walked away without another word.

What a weird bird, Maggie thought as she walked toward the staff lounge to get a cup of coffee—the only place she was on her way out to.

Later, talking to Rachel on the phone, Maggie mentioned her strange encounter with China's husband. 

Rachel had said a long drawn-out, “Hmmmm,” then had continued, “You know, Josh told me some equally strange things about Erik.” She stopped there.

“Well, don't stop there, tell me more,” Maggie demanded.

With only a moment's token hesitation, Rachel proceeded to tell Maggie what China had confided in Josh Friday night and which he in turn had told his sister.

“China thinks Erik's a psychopath?” Maggie said with a note of incredulity in her voice. “Surely you've got to be kidding.”

“Don't call me Shirley,” Rachel responded with one of their tired old jokes. “And I'm not kidding. China went into great detail, almost clinical detail, Josh said, as if she'd actually researched just what a psychopath is.”

“Well, if she thinks her husband is a psychopath, tell me why she's insane enough to still be married to him,” Maggie said.

Rachel ignored Maggie's snide remark and continued. “China also told Josh she's going to file for divorce. It's a truly messed-up situation. And get this—Josh said China was putting serious moves on him and he just barely escaped with his virtue intact.” At that, both women started laughing.

After a few more minutes of conversation, the two friends hung up, promising to talk again before seeing one another on Thanksgiving Day.

Maggie sat there trying to remember what she could from her psychology courses of just what a psychopath was. 

I'll have to dig out my old textbooks tonight and look it up, she thought.

17.75

AMOS and HANK

Tuesday Evening, November 24, 1992

By eight o'clock that Tuesday evening, Hank was fairly satisfied with the videotape he'd been editing for the twins. He was almost finished dubbing sound onto the final portion. He leaned back in his swivel chair, closed his eyes, yawned and stretched his arms upward, then outward. He almost fell off the chair when he heard a hoot of laughter behind him. Twirling around in the chair, he saw Amos standing in the doorway with a big grin on his face.

“Boy, if I didn't know better, I'd think you were sitting there doing calisthenics or some of those isometric exercises,” Amos teased.

Hank stood up and walked over to his boss, standing a good six inches taller than the older man. Amos was about five feet 8, with a muscular stocky build.

“You know better than that. Exercise, any kind of exercise gives me a headache,” Hank said with a deadpan face. “Say, what are you doing here? I thought you had a meeting over at Plaza Square.”

“That's finished. It's after 8, boy. You'd best think about getting yourself home.”

“I'm about ready,” Hank said, gesturing toward the video equipment behind him. He proceeded to explain, somewhat sheepishly, what he was doing for his niece and nephew.

Amos grinned at the younger man, then walked over to the video monitor to take a closer look at the tape playing there. He stood there for a few moments, intent on watching the screen.

“Hank, come here a minute,” Amos said in a thoughtful tone. Hank walked over to where Amos stood and looked at the screen also.

“Hey, who's that in the picture?” Hank said indignantly. “This is a tape of woods animals, not people.”

“That's why I called you over here,” Amos said. “The video camera picked up some guy sneaking around the perimeter of Kate's property. See, he's still there. Do you have any idea who that is?”

Hank pressed the pause button on the VCR, then got up close to the screen, staring at the figure caught there in mid-motion  skulking just at the edge of the woods. The man, if it was a man, was wearing a hooded poncho, dark in color. His trousers and shoes were also a dark color, as if he wanted to blend in with the black woods behind him. 

Hank pressed the play button and the tape resumed. For several minutes, the figure stood there, watching the house with what looked like a pair of high-powered binoculars. When he or she walked out the range of the camera, Hank and Amos glanced at one another, then back at the screen, mystified by this intruder. After a minute or so, the figure reappeared, probably having turned around to retrace his steps. This time, he moved just to where the woods stopped, and hunkered down. It was weird to see him stare directly into the lens of the camera. It was almost as if he aware he was under surveillance, which Hank knew couldn't be the case.

“Amos, what's going on here? Do you think by any chance that could be the guy who's been harassing Mom and Mags?” Hank asked.

“Yep! That's exactly what I think. Tell you what—let's make a quick copy of just this portion of the tape and take it out and show it to Kate and Maggie,” Amos said. “I'll give them a call while you're making the copy.”

“That sounds like a plan to me,” Hank said with a grin. 

An hour later, Amos and Hank finally reached the Todd home. Maggie and Kate were waiting for them in the sunroom; the twins were already in bed. When Amos had called, he'd only said he and Hank had something to show them but hadn't explained any further than that.

“We have a portion of a tape we want you to look at, to see if you can identify the person who's on it.” Amos then explained about the strange appearance of the intruder on the videotape Hank and the twins were making.

Maggie and Kate watched the tape several times, then Maggie said, “Can you run it again, in slow motion this time? There's something really familiar about the person but...” Maggie shrugged and let her sentence trail off.

Hank played the tape in slow motion as Maggie stared intently at the TV screen.

“There's something about his body build and the way he walks,” Maggie paused, then said, “I guess I wouldn't swear to it in a court of law, but he reminds me of the custodian at the student services building. His name is Donnie something-or-other—his nickname is Toad because his body is shaped like a squat little toad and he has sort of a jumpy way of walking.”

“What about you, Kate?” Amos asked. “Anything familiar about him? Could it be the jerk who sideswiped you?”

Kate shook her head slowly, as she said, “I couldn't see the man—if it was a man. All I saw was a shape at the steering wheel—sorry I can't be of more help.”

“Well, at least we have one lead, the custodian,” Amos said. “You can't think of his last name, Maggie?”

“No, I don't think I've ever heard his last name. But you'll be able to find out tomorrow from someone at the university.”

As Amos walked over to the telephone he said, “Well, I don't want to wait until tomorrow. I'll call my security guys at the university and see what they can dig up for me tonight.”

17.8

MAGGIE

Tuesday Evening, November 24, 1992

Later that evening, once again unable to sleep, Maggie had gone up to the attic to dig out some of her old psychology textbooks.

In a couple of the books dealing with abnormal psychology, she found some intriguing descriptions of psychopathic behavior.

“Psychopaths are childlike in their self-centered logic. They play their game, by their rules, with their logic. Guilt-free, psychopaths are capable of remorseless killing. A psychopath's behavior is not moderated by consequences; punishment has no impact and dows not cause them to behave in a more socially acceptable way. Psychopaths have no conscience, they can't and won't keep friendships or form positive relationships. They have total lack of remorse or shame and can engage in compulsive criminal and antisocial behavior. You'll never find a sociopath or psychopath from a nurturing family. The thing is, they can't help it. The psychopathic killer of above average intelligence is hard to catch.”

Maggie read with fascination the case history of one psychopathic who for years had been a successful practicing psychotherapist. 

“He had achieved enormous success in the field of counseling, at an early age. He'd finished his dissertation by the time he was 25 and had published over a dozen articles and papers by age 26. He was considered a brilliant, gifted therapist. His forte was testing—superhuman at testing, he could find things other psychologists missed. He was a brilliant diagnostician also, with his keen intellect and probing mind. He had a photographic memory, advanced cognitive thinking. He was hooked on the power and the invincibility of his career. 

“His parents had been secretive and abusive. He suffered years of hideous abuse and psychological terror. He lived to challenge his body, his mid, his capacity for pain, his proximity to danger. He liked the lies, the edge, the manipulation, and the win. He was not capable of normal social relationships or normal sexual relationships. An evil created him. He has no use for the archane concepts of right and wrong. He was in reality—his reality. He didn't hear voices, get visits, anything like that. Psychotics are driven out of control and out of reality by their particular mental incapacity; they're hallucinating most of the time. He didn't value himself or any other person. His reasoning behind his acts of cruelty is, ‘It makes me feel better—that's all.’ His parents worked him and beat and abused him. His mother cooperated in the sexual abuse. He had a horrible temper and was always right.”

Maggie put the text books aside, and sat thinking for awhile in the dusty attic. She finally decided to take the text books downstairs with her and share what she'd found in them with Amos the next time they talked.
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DONNIE and SELENE

Tuesday Evening, November 24, 1992

Selene was late getting home from work again, and, concerned, Donnie paced back and forth in the tiny living room of their shabby ramshackle house. The clock on the wall showed it was past six—she should have been home an hour ago. He worried about his sister and felt somehow responsible for her well-being, even though she was two years older than him. 

Their house was located on a lonely back road in the outskirts of Rivermont, in a wooded deserted area away from any other houses. This had been their home for Donnie's whole life, except for the years when he was in the state hospital. The house had only four small rooms—the living room, a kitchen, and two bedrooms, plus a tiny bathroom. The rooms were crammed with furniture and other junk they'd accumulated over the years. Neither Selene nor Donnie was particularly neat and tidy, although periodically, Selene would make a half-hearted attempt to clean or straighten up. At times she'd also tried to brighten up its drabness, with plastic flower arrangements—which were now coated with a layer of dust—or dimestore oil paintings—whose fake wood frames now hung askew on the walls. The place had an air of defeat, as did its inhabitants.

Donnie and Selene had never known their natural father—he'd deserted their mother when they were still small. Their mother, Irene, had had a series of boyfriends after that, finally marrying one, Roy Jennings, in an attempt to give Donnie and Selene some sense of permanency. It had seemed permanent, that is, until Irene had died a lingering, painful death of cancer when Selene was 10 and Donnie was 8. 

Roy had continued to support them, in a manner of speaking, providing them with a roof over their heads, sparse but adequate food to eat, and a few odds and ends of clothes from the local Salvation Army store. Roy was an alcoholic who turned vicious and abusive when he was drunk, and he routinely beat Donnie and Selene with little or no provocation. In an attempt to protect her younger brother, Selene had tried to take the brunt of the beatings but wasn't always successful. 

As she grew older, Selene turned into a pretty girl, with pale blond hair and a shapely little body that didn't escape her stepfather's notice. He began pawing at her in his drunken moments. One night, at his drunkest, he came into the tiny room she shared with Donnie, dragged her out of bed and into his room, where he proceeded to rape her. The next day, he acted as if nothing had happened. But he did insist that Donnie start sleeping on the hide-a-bed in the living room, claiming it wasn't fittin' for a brother and sister to sleep together. 

Over the next couple of years, Selene had endured Roy's nocturnal visits as best she could, taking care to keep them a secret from Donnie, trying as usual to protect him. She longed to run away but couldn't bear to leave Donnie there alone, and she didn't think she could manage to take care of both of them.

Then one fateful night, when Selene was 14 and Donnie was 12, it all came to an end. That night there was a raging thunderstorm. Donnie, who was deathly afraid of lightning and thunder, was awakened by a particularly loud crash of thunder. Scared, he went into Selene's dimly lit room, only to find his stepfather on top of her, banging away at her body. Thinking Roy was beating his sister, skinny little Donnie leaped on his back and started pummeling him with his fists. Roy had raised a massive arm and swatted Donnie off his back as though he were a mosquito. 

For a moment, Donnie had lain on the floor, stunned by the blow. Then, he slowly stood up and quietly slipped out of Selene's room and into the kitchen. There, he looked around for a weapon. He dismissed the idea of a knife—the only one they had was dull and broken-off, a worthless weapon. Finally, he settled on the heavy cast iron skillet on top of the stove. He picked it up and quietly returned to Selene's room. Roy was still at it, oblivious to everything but what he was so intent on doing. Donnie stood next to the bed, lifted the frying pan high over his head and brought it down on the top of Roy's skull with a resounding thud.

Roy's body jerked, once, twice, then rolled off Selene's bed onto the floor, as if in slow motion. As she realized what had happened, Selene screamed and jumped out of bed, holding her ragged quilt up to cover her nakedness. 

“Is he...is he de-de-de-ad?” Donnie stuttered in a whisper.

Selene had quickly found her nightgown and pulled it over her head. She turned on the overhead light, squinting at its harsh glare, then bent down over Roy's body. “I don't know,” she said. “I can't tell.”

“I ho-ho-hope he's de-de-de-dead,” Donnie hissed. “Then he can never hu-hu-hurt you again.”

Selene stood there motionless, trying to quiet her pounding heart so she could think.

Finally, after what seemed like a long while to Donnie, his sister said, “Okay, here's what we're going to do. Help me get that old quilt on my bed under his, under him.” The two struggled with Roy's lumpy body, rolling him first one way, then another to get the ragged quilt underneath him. They were both breathing heavily from exertion and fear when they finally positioned the cover under Roy.

Telling Donnie to go get dressed, Selene quickly put her jeans and a sweater on top of her nightgown and slipped her feet into tennis shoes.

She went into Roy's bedroom and searched around till she found the keys to his old pick-up truck. Putting them into the pocket of her jeans, she motioned to Donnie to follow her back into her bedroom.

“Now, help me pull the quilt outside to the truck. Then we'll take him—take it somewhere.”

Pulling together, they managed to get Roy's body out of the house and into the pouring rain. It was a struggle to get him up into the bed of the pick-up parked in front of the house. The rain and the all-enveloping darkness made it even more difficult. What they finally did was each take hold of two corners of the quilt and using it like a sling, they swung Roy in the quilt up into the back of the truck.

Selene got into the driver's side of the cab and told Donnie to hop in.

He hesitated, then said, “But you don't know how to dr-dr-drive, do you?”

“No, but I'll have to try.” 

For a moment, Selene left the truck door open so that the inside light would be on and she could look at the dashboard. She found the ignition and with trial and error, got the right key in. Then she turned it and the engine made a grinding sound.

“I think I have to do something with this,” Selene said, motioning to the emergency brake on the floor of the pickup.

“Yeah, you push it down,” Donnie said in a shaky voice. “We're lucky that this old truck has an automatic transmission instead of a gearshift and all that.”

Selene fumbled around with the knobs and switches on the dashboard until she found the switches for the headlights and the windshield wipers. She jiggled around with the gearshift until she found the drive position. Tentatively she stretched her foot down to the gas pedal and pushed. With a jump, the old truck was in motion, jerking down the deserted back road. As she peered intently out the windshield, Selene could barely make out the road ahead in the driving rain.

“Wh-wh-where are we going?” Donnie asked in a tiny voice.

“Down the road...” Selene answered, then continued shakily, “to the old quarry.”

“You mean that big old deep pit filled with wa-wa-water?” Donnie asked. 

Selene murmured yes as she concentrated on driving the rattling old truck over the rough gravel road. The chugging of the pickup engine mingled with the clack-clack of the windshield wipers, drowning out the sound of the pouring rain. It took another fifteen minutes for them to get to the overgrown side road leading to the abandoned rock quarry. Years ago, the quarry had ceased operations and the excavation had filled with water, till now it was a dark, seemingly bottomless pit of water.

Selene drove the truck as close to the edge of the quarry as she dared, then stopped abruptly. Once again she opened the driver's side door so the interior light would go on and she could see what she was doing. She pushed the gear shift into the slot marked “P” but left the engine running. 

“I think there's a flashlight in the glove compartment there,” she said to Donnie. “Would you get it out?” Donnie reached into the glove box, pulled out the flashlight, and handed it to Selene, who stuck it in the waistband of her jeans.

Taking a deep breath, she said, “Okay, Donnie, now here's what we have to do.” She paused, then continued. “We're going to push the truck into the water. We have to get out, move the gearshift into “Drive” and then push the truck till it rolls down into the quarry.”

They both got out and Selene reached in and moved the gearshift. She and Donnie shut the truck doors and shoved against the side of truck. Slowly, the old vehicle began to inch forward. As they pushed, it gained momentum and in a moment had moved ahead of them and was on its way over the side of the quarry. The headlights arced up in the rainfall, then illuminated the roiling black water as it splashed around the diving truck.

For a moment, the two stood there staring into the blackness, getting drenched in the pouring rain. Selene reached out an arm and pulled her brother to her, wincing as she felt how thin and bony he was. Well, she'd have to do something about that, she thought. There were a lot of things she'd have to something about now.

Selene took the flashlight from her waistband, clicked it on, grateful for its wavery light, and said to Donnie, “Come on, let's go home.”

From that night on, Selene and Donnie had pledged themselves to a conspiracy of silence. They lived a hidden secret life, away from civilization, taking care to avoid school officials and county welfare officials. Donnie earned money by cutting grass or shoveling snow, depending on the season, for homes in the well-manicured subdivisions several miles from their little house. Selene did some housecleaning and babysitting till she was 16, then she got a full-time job at the all-night convenience store located just off the highway.

Somehow, they managed to survive and to remain undetected. But as the years went by, Donnie began having nightmares that woke him up screaming. Then he started telling Selene about the voices he heard in his head, telling him to do bad things. He told her how the voices had told him to break into houses whose lawns he'd once cut and how he stole things and smashed things and made messes. Selene tried her best to conivnce him it was wrong to do those bad things, but that only made Donnie stop talking to her and stop listening to her.

It all finally came to a head one cold winter's night when Donnie was 17. He broke into a house that he thought was empty, but as it turned out, the husband and wife were there, asleep. Awakened by strange noises, the man of the house caught Donnie trashing their kitchen. He threw the boy down on the floor amdist the spilled flour and sugar and eggs and sat on him while his wife called the sheriff's office. The couple then tied up Donnie with an extension cord and a phone cord and stood guard over him with a baseball bat until the sheriff's deputies arrived.

For a long while, Donnie wouldn't say a word to anyone. He had no identification on him and no one fitting his description had been reported missing. Then, suddenly, Donnie seemed to flip out. He started raving and ranting and screaming and talking about the voices shouting in his head. In between screams, he told them his name and his sister's name and where they lived. One of the deputies drove out to the Haskell house, picked up Selene, and brought her back to the county jail to see her brother.

After his frenzied outburst, Donnie had had to be restrained, with his wrists and ankles loosely fastened to the sides of the cot in his jail cell. A doctor had come to examine Donnie and had prescribed a sedative to quiet him down. 

Selene had stood outside the cell, looking in on her brother. He lay there, wavering on the edge of consciousness. Finally, in a brief moment of wakefulness, he recognized his sister standing just a few feet from him, but totally unreachable because of the bars separating them. Tears filled Selene's eyes, and she whispered, “Oh Donnie, what's happened to you?” 

Donnie had eventually been found unfit to stand trial for his vandalism and had been committed to the state mental hospital. Selene faithfully went to visit him every Sunday afternoon, each time praying he would have regained his senses. But it had taken years before Donnie slowly began to show signs of normality. 

Eight years ago, he'd been released into Selene's custody. At the time, Selene was a waitress at one of the rowdier roadhouses outside Rivermont and was earning enough money in wages and tips to support herself and her brother. 

Selene had also been seeing one of the regular patrons of the roadhouse, a married insurance man named Bob Barnes. Donnie had resented his sister's interest in a married man and had constantly harped at her to break it off. But Selene had been infatuated with the handsome young man and had ignored her brother's  constant vociferous protests about her lover's marital status.

One night, when Selene was working, Bob had come into the roadhouse and started drinking heavily. By closing time, Selene realized her lover was too intoxicated to drive, so she insisted on driving him home. 

Bob's home lay ten miles away, just off Highway 50, the main throughway at the edge of Rivermont. Selene very seldom traveled this way and when she got on the highway, she stayed in the right lane, traveling at well under the speed limit. It was a stormy night, and Selene thought the pouring rain was reminiscent of the night of Roy Jennings' death. In addition to the difficult driving weather, Selene found it nerve-wracking to be driving Bob's unfamiliar mini-van.

As she approached Highway 50's massive, seemingly unending construction/renovation project, she slowed down even further.  She glanced over at Bob, who was slumped over in a heap in the passenger seat next to her, snoring loudly.

She checked the rear view mirror and saw a large, old-looking van following closely behind her, close enough to make her feel uneasy. For a mile or so, the old van stuck right on her rear. Selene slowed down even more, hoping to encourage the van to pass her. But instead of passing her, as she'd hoped, the van stuck even closer to her bumper.

Concerned and irritated by the van's distracting closeness, Selene flicked on the directional signal and carefully moved over into the left lane, and then regretted her move. This was the part of the highway that was particularly treacherous and only dimly lit by light poles spaced at wide intervals. Off to the left was a deep ravine that the construction company had not yet blocked off with the usual concrete guard rails. Selene hadn't heard of any accidents along here but she thought it was only a matter of time before some car tumbled over the muddy edge of the highway down into the rocky ravine below.

Just then, she noticed that the van that had been tailgating her had pulled up parallel to her on the highway and was now edging over into her lane. She blared her horn and glanced over at the vehicle, trying to see the driver. But the side windows of her vehicle and those of the van were fogged up and she couldn't see into the van and she assumed its driver couldn't see into her vehicle.

Trying to avoid the van, Selene moved further to the left, getting perilously close to the edge of the drop-off. Once again, she blared her horn at the van but still it kept moving closer and closer. Then, the front bumper of the van nicked her rear bumper, knocking her even closer to the edge. Selene started to feel panicked at not being able to escape this lunatic.

Suddenly, without warning, the van swerved directly into the side of her van, knocking the mini-van over the edge of the embankment. Over and over, the min-van rolled down the side of the ravine. Selene remembering screaming once, then she lost consciousness. 

Twenty-four hours later, she awoke in the surgical recovery room at Rivermont Memorial Hospital. It was days before she learned the fate of Bob Barnes and the full extent of her injuries.

Several hours after they were rescued by paramedics and taken to the hospital, Bob had suffered a heart attack in the emergency room, shortly followed by a second, fatal attack.

The accident had crushed Selene's left leg beyond repair and it had been amputated just below the knee. She'd lost the two-month fetus she was carrying; subsequent hemorrhaging had necessitated a compelte hysterectomy. As she lay there recuperating, a constant litany that ran through her head—“I'm crippled in so many ways—losing the man I loved—losing my leg—and losing my ability to have babies.” She sunk into a deep depression, prolonging her recovery period. 

After several weeks in the hospital, Selene was finally released, having learned to use crutches and a wheelchair. The hospital social worker had arranged transportation home for her, and the doctors had scheduled her to come back in six months to be fitted for an artificial leg. 

All the time she was hospitalized, Selene couldn't understand why she hadn't heard anything from her brother. She repeatedly had the hospital social worker try to locate Donnie, but her attempts had been unsuccessful. 

When Selene arrived home, she found her brother there, in the midst of squalor. He looked as though he hadn't washed or shaved or eaten in weeks. A thin man to begin with, Donnie was now emaciated. To Selene's shock, there was a large old familiar-looking van parked in the back of their house.

“The van that caused the accident,” she'd whispered to herself when she first saw it.

Selene had helped Donnie clean up and pull himself together, and had fixed soup for him.

When he was in reasonably decent shape, Selene had pulled up next to him in her wheelchair, had taken his hand in hers, and said gently, “Donnie, why did you cause my accident?”

He burst into tears and it was a long while before his sobs had subsided enough for him to speak.

“I-I-I didn't know you were in there with that man. You know I'd never hurt you. I wanted him out of your life. I wanted him dead because he wouldn't leave his wife.” Here, Donnie started sobbing again and Selene released his hand and patted him on the back, murmuring soothing sounds.

As Donnie quieted down, he whimpered, “Your le-le-leg, you lost your leg because of me. I can't ever forgive myself.”

Donnie had regressed to the point that he'd had to go back to the state mental hospital. This time, Selene had been unable to visit him because of her handicap. Although she'd written to him and phoned, Donnie was convinced she hated him and had abandoned him because of what he'd done to her.

With the help of the social worker at Rivermont Memorial, Selene eventually found a job as a cashier in the bookstore at Rivermont University. For the past seven years, Donnie had been in and out of the state hospital. This last time that he was released into her care, Selene had arranged a job for him as a custodian at the University, with the help of one of the professors there.

Donnie looked at the clock on the living room wall and saw that it was now after seven. Where could Selene be? What if something had happened to his sister? He didn't think he'd be able to live without her.
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ERIK

Tuesday Evening, November 25, 1992

Erik, standing by his car, waved as Selene drove out of the University's parking lot. He'd walked down with her from his office in the Student Services Building. She'd called him when she got off from her job at the University Bookstore to ask if he had a few minutes to see her. She'd been coming to talk with him for the past couple of months, ever since he'd helped get her brother a job here as a custodian. Poor pathetic thing, she'd been so grateful to him. Little did she know how crucial she and her pitiful brother had become to his plans.

Erik unlocked, then opened the driver's door of his light blue Thunderbird. He put his soft-sided Land's End briefcase on the back seat and climbed into the low-slung car, as usual reveling in the car's still-new-smell mixed with the aroma of leather. 

Since his marriage to the Ice Queen and thanks to her wealth, Erik had indulged many of his repressed urges for what he considered the finer things in life, like the Thunderbird, a new wardrobe crafted by his personal tailor, the furnishings he was acquiring for the penthouse. Because she was always so engrossed in her career and because she took her wealth so much for granted, China's spending habits ran to the austere or the Spartan. Until her marriage to Erik, the penthouse had remained sparsely unfurnished.

The Thunderbird took to the highway with a thrust of power that sent a surge of satisfaction through Erik. It was almost seven and already quite dark outside. China was out for the evening and wasn't expecting him home. It was the perfect time to check on his arrangements for the weekend. He'd be back at the penthouse before China returned from tonight's charity benefit. He frowned for a moment as he realized she hadn't even mentioned the possibility of him accompanying her tonight. Oh well, he thought, dismissing his brief flash of concern, she'd probably finally accepted that those weren't his kinds of things.

The drive up to the chalet took almost an hour. Because the traffic was light and he didn't have to concentrate on maneuvering around cars, Erik found his mind going back to that afternoon's counseling session with Selene.

From what Selene had told him in their sessions, she and her brother had grown up in an abusive environment very similar to his own. He, like them, had endured both physical and emotional cruelty. His torment and torture had lasted until he was 17 when went away to college, never to return home again.

He'd been adopted when he was about three years old by a childless couple in their late thirties who lived in a small Northeastern city.  He'd never learned anything from them about his natural parents. However, his adoptive parents had reiterated over and over again that he'd obviously been an unwanted child, which was completely understandable, so they said.

His father was a tool and die maker and his mother was a housewife. To make ends meet, his mother also took in laundry for some of the well-to families in the suburbs near their own modest home. Erik attended the same schools with the sons and daughters of those affluent neighbors. He had always felt inferior to them because he didn't have expensive, name-brand clothes and an abundance of spending money. From the time he was old enough, he worked at various odd jobs to earn money for clothes and other necessities. He'd tried to hide his money from his parents, but they'd insisted on him giving them half of all the money he made. His father would demand an accounting the moment he stepped in the door. All the while he was growing up, Erik had been small for his age, while his parents were tall and heavy set. They routinely swatted him around, claiming that because he came from bad blood, they had to beat the evil out of him. No matter what Erik did, he couldn't avoid their pounding and punching.

After saving part of his earnings for over a year, he was able to make his first major purchase—an old, beat-up secondhand bike which enabled him to get a newspaper route. With the bike he also was able to make deliveries for the local pharmacy, in the afternoons after school. 

Because he was bright, he was able to make good grades without a lot of outside studying—which was fortunate because his work activities took up most of his free time.

Erik had learned over the years to deaden and deny his feelings. He became a brittle shell of person, with no emotions inside. 

The Nilssens were silent, brooding people who resented their lot in life and who were filled with an all-pervading rage at a world they had no control over. His father had always been a drinker and as the years went by, his drinking got worse and worse. When he was drunk, Lars Nilssen would take out his frustrations on Erik. Mrs. Nilssen never stepped in to protect Erik—she feared the transfer of her husband's violence to her. Lars eventually was fired for drinking on the job and subsequently his treatment of Erik worsened.

Erik eventually won a scholarship to a small college in the Midwest and when he left in August of his 17th year, that was the last his hometown ever saw of him. But before he left, he arranged a farewell gesture for his parents. In the middle of the night, as his parents slept, he set the house on fire, first locking their bedroom door and nailing shut their windows. Those little precautions had been enough to ensure that the Nilssens died in the fire. The authorities were unable to locate the Nilssens' son to tell him of his parents' fate, but had no reason to suspect arson. 

After earning his undergraduate degree, Erik went on to get his master's and his doctorate in psychology. During his career, he served on the faculty of two small Midwestern colleges. Rivermont University was his latest stopping-place. He'd thought that with the marriage to the wealthy China Smith, that this would be his final stopping-place.

“And so it will be,” he whispered out loud, as the Thunderbird sped towards the chalet.
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CHINA and PATRICK

Tuesday Night, November 25, 1992
China lay on the bed, watching Patrick put another log on the fire in the fireplace in the mountain chalet's master bedroom. His back was bare and she had a sudden urge to rake her long fingernails down its broad expanse as a way of marking her man. But she knew Patrick would be furious if she did anything like that—he was being paranoid about keeping the resumption of their affair a secret from Lily.

They'd driven up here in separate cars late this afternoon. China had told Erik she'd be at a charity benefit this evening—she had no idea what Patrick had told his wife. They'd spent the past two hours making love, first in a frantic, hurried way, then in a slower, more languid manner.

In a moment, she'd guessed she'd go into the kitchen and start dinner—but for the moment she wanted to enjoy the sight of Patrick in the nude.

“Come back to bed for a moment,” China said softly, “I think I want you again.”

Patrick gave her a pat on her rear, saying, “What do you mean—think?” Then he added with a mock leer, “God, lady, you're insatiable, just the way I like my women.”

They made love, once again in a leisurely way.

Later, as they'd been lying in one another's arms, China told Patrick about her appointment with her attorney.

“I'm through with Erik,” China had said as she ran her fingers through Patrick's crisp black hair. “Unfortunately, this is going to come as quite a shock to him—he has no idea how far apart we've become.”

“How is that possible, kid? He's certainly not a stupid man, as you well know,” Patrick said.

“No,” China agreed, then added slowly, “but he does have a huge egotistical blind spot when it comes to me and marriage—in fact, to any and all simple human emotions. Honest to God, I don't think he has ever had a human emotion. He certainly took me in. When I first met him and fell in love with him, I thought he was such a warm, loving person with a depth of caring in him. Boy, was I wrong.”

China reached over to the bedside table for a cigarette. Patrick was one of the few people who knew she hadn't completely given up her smoking habit. She'd made such a big production of having quit and then had been chagrined to discover she couldn't quite let go of her addiction. Patrick, too, was a closet smoker and after she took a drag of the cigarette, he took it from her and put it in his own mouth.

“What's your husband going to ask for in alimony?” Patrick asked, blowing smoke from his mouth.

China frowned in the dim light of the bedroom, then said, “Alimony? Fat chance! Didn't I tell you about the wonderful straitjacket of a prenupt that I had Erik sign before we got married?”

“Yeah, I forgot. So he gets nothing or next to nothing, is that the deal?”

“Right...although I intend to make some kind of settlement on him, just out of the goodness of my heart...ha!...actually to ensure that he gets out of my life and stays out.”

Later, they sat eating dinner at a small table positioned in front of the fire in the large living room. 

China's grandfather had commissioned the building of the chalet, fashioning it after one he'd visited in the Swiss Alps when he was a boy. The mountains surrounding Rivermont were hills compared to the Alps, but the chalet had a rustic charm that China had always loved. And its seclusion made it the perfect trysting place for her and Patrick, when they had enough time. Otherwise, they had to make do with the Hideaway Haven.

Two years ago, shortly before his death, China's grandfather had had the chalet completely renovated, adding skylights, a Jacuzzi, a Jenn-Air range in the kitchen, and a satellite dish for TV reception. He'd also hired a decorator who'd re-done the furnishings in a western style.

The furniture was oak, massive and comfortable. The chairs and sofas were covered in a Southwestern zig-zag pattern in shades of beige and burnt orange. Besides the fireplace in the master bedroom, there was also a huge stone one in the living room. On either side of the stone fireplace were floor-to-ceiling bookcases, crammed with colorfully covered best-sellers—reading was still China's main addiction and avocation.
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ERIK

Tuesday Night, November 25, 1992

As the Thunderbird climbed the steep road leading to the chalet, Erik thought he saw a flicker of light somewhere in the darkness ahead. When he rounded the next bend, he saw, off in the distance, that there was indeed a light in the chalet. He quickly  pulled off into a side road and braked the car. Parking the car behind some pine and cedar trees, he quietly closed the door and starting walking through the woods in the direction of the cabin. He took a flashlight with him but tried to use it sparingly so as to not give away his presence.

There were evergreen bushes and cedar trees in clusters arund the outside of the chalet, and using these for cover, Erik worked his way up to one of the windows and cautiously looked in. At first, he couldn't see anyone. Then, he saw a tall figure move into view. He grunted in shock at seeing the mayor of Rivermont walking around his wife's cabin in the nude. Moments later, Reynard was joined by China, wearing a robe and carrying one for the mayor. Erik watched as she helped Reynard into the robe, caressing his body as she did so.

Erik turned away, a rage burning in him. But it was neither a jealous rage nor a rage of betrayal. He was angered that some other man was possessing something Erik had thought was his and his alone.

Thank God, he'd seen the light in the chalet in time to stop the car before he was discovered, Erik thought to himself as he carefully walked back to the Thunderbird. 

His mind was racing as he factored in this latest development. He would have to make a slight alteration in his plans.

22.1

CHINA and PATRICK

Tuesday Night, November 25, 1992

When they'd finished eating, China and Patrick had gone over to the sofa in front of the fire. As they sat there, arms entwined, China said, “Did you hear that?”

“Hear what?” Patrick said offhandedly.

“I thought I heard something that sounded like a car,” China answered. She undraped Patrick's arms from around her and stood up, still listening intently. She walked over to the front window and peered out into the darkness. 

“There! I heard it again. I'm sure there's a car outside somewhere close. I'm going to go see.” She pulled on a pair of snow boots sitting by the front door, then took her long fur coat off the coat rack beside the front door of the chalet and draped it around her shoulders.

“China, it's freezing out there and it's too dark to see anything. It's probably just kids out joyriding.” Patrick protested.

“The road dead-ends here, so I don't think it would be joyriders.” China looked around the room, then found what she sought—a large flashlight, sitting on the floor by the fireplace. 

Light in hand, she unlocked the front door and stepped out on the broad deck that surrounded all four sides of the chalet. Determinedly she stomped down the steps and out into the snow. She quickly walked down the snow-covered gravel driveway to the blacktopped road. A few hundred yards down the road, she found what she was looking for. Behind a clump of evergreens, the snow had been disturbed with a jumble of tiretracks. As best as she could tell, a car had been parked there and had then turned around and headed back down the mountain.

Thoughtfully, China walked back up to the chalet. Patrick stood on the deck waiting for her, bundled up in his coat, with the collar turned up around his neck. He was stamping his feet to keep warm. As China came up next to him, he grabbed her and pulled her inside the chalet with him.

“You're a real nutcase, you know that. It's freezing out there—it's past eleven and you decide to go exploring.” Patrick's voice turned a trifle strident at the end.

China only picked up on the time. “What do you mean, it's past eleven. If it's that late, I guess we have to get home, don't we?” Her voice ended on a wistful note. She'd been nagging Patrick about their future together, badgering him to leave his wife to be with her. Patrick had ignored her entreaties, content with the status quo. He wasn't yet ready to abandon his political ambitions for a roll in the hay, even if the roll was with a wealthy powerful woman who was an amazing sexual Amazon.

China told Patrick about what she'd seen in the snow as they hurriedly gathered up their things, locked up the chalet and left in their separate cars, as they'd come.

22.5

DONNIE

Tuesday Night, November 25, 1992

Donnie was really worried about Selene—she always phoned him when she was going to be late because she knew how upset he got. He'd already called the University bookstore, only to be told that Selene had left at her regular time, hours ago.

He paced back and forth from the the living room to the kitchen. The darknes outside had spread inside the house. Donnie turned on a floor lamp that stood by the front door, then swore in frustration as the bulb burned out. He went to rummage through the pantry in the kichen looking for light bulbs. The only one he could find was a yellow bug deterrent bulb. He put it in the lamp anyway, grinning at the eerie light it cast.

The jangling of the phone startled him. He rushed over to the old secretary against one wall of the living room and picked up the receiver before the phone could ring a second time.

He was disappointed to hear Dr. Nilssen's voice at the other end—he'd been hoping it was his sister telling him where she was and when she'd be home.

“Donnie, I have an important assignment for you. Do you think you can handle it?” Dr. Nilssen's voice was deep and soothing, almost hypnotic.

Donnie listened carefully as Dr. Nilssen explained to him what had to be done. After he'd hung up, he searched around the secretary for paper and pen to leave a note for Selene. He taped the note to the outside of the front door, where she'd be sure to see it when she got home. Then he gathered up the things Dr. Nilssen had told he'd need, put them in his rickety old van, and drove off. 
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SELENE

Tuesday Night, November 25, 1992
When Selene answered the door that night, she was startled to find two uniformed sheriff's deputies standing there, along with two men in business suits. She'd just gotten home a few minutes before, and had been surprised at Donnie's note saying he'd had to go out on important business and that he'd let her know when he'd be home.

One of the deputies handed her an official looking document, saying it was a warrant for the arrest of Donnie Haskell. He also said showed her a search warrant. Then the two uniformed men pushed their way past her and into the house. Selene stood there speechless for a moment, then followed the two deputies into the house. The other two men, dressed in civilian clothes, came in behind her. The older man had introduced himself as Amos someone and had said the other man was his colleague but Selene couldn't remember now if anyone had told her his name.

“I told you my brother isn't here,” she said in a quavery voice that she tried to control. “I don't know where he is or when he'll be back.” 

The deputies went off to search the house while the other two men stood near the front door, obviously uncomfortable and ill at ease. 

When Selene asked what was wrong, what they thought Donnie had done, neither man answered her. Then, the older man asked her name and she answered in a soft voice, not wanting to be involved in whatever was going on, “My name? Why do you want to know my name?”

“It's just for the records, ma'm,”  the man named Amos answered, in an official-sounding voice.

Selene had still hesitated, but then said, “I'm Selene Dawson.”

She'd been puzzled when the younger man had blurted out a surprised, “Selene Dawson?”

Just then the two deputies walked back into room, having made quick work of searching the tiny house. 

“Well, he's not here,” one of the deputies announced. 

The older man in the business suit had given a brisk nod, then one of the deputies said to Selene, “Ma'am, it's very important that we find your brother. We'll be having someone keeping an eye on your house and we'll see if he shows up for work tomorrow. Things will go much easier on him if he cooperates and turns himself in.” 

The older man had motioned one of the deputies to join him in the kitchen. Selene could hear their low-pitched voices but couldn't make out any of their words. When two men came back into the living room, the deputy said to Selene, “Ma'am, Mr. Powell here says you may have some information about what your brother is involved in. We're going to ask you to come to the sheriff's office first thing tomorrow morning to answer some questions and make a statement.”

“I don't know anything about whatever my brother is supposed to have done,” Selene protested, fear making her voice shaky. “I haven't done anything and I'm sure my brother hasn't either.” 

“Well, we can straighten that all out tomorrow—we'll see you first thing in the morning—we'll send a car for you around eight. And ma'am, I would suggest you not think about going anywhere—we'll be having the car that patrols this area keep a close eye on the house—and on you.”

After the four men left, Selene locked and bolted the front door, the back door, and the door leading down to the tiny cellar below. Then she went around closing the blinds and curtains and turning off the lights. Her hands were shaking and felt cold and clammy.

Where could Donnie be? What could he be doing? What was going on here? 

She wondered if Donnie's important business could have anything to do with a phone call he'd received one night earlier that week. She'd been in her room that evening and couldn't hear what he was saying—she could only hear the rise and fall of his voice. When he hung up the phone, he came to the door of her room and said, “I have to go out for a while, Sis.”

“Who was that on the phone?” she'd asked. At first, she'd thought he wasn't going to answer. But then he'd said, “It was Dr. Nilssen. There's something he needs me to do for him.” She'd detected the note of pride in Donnie's voice. Somehow it bothered her that Dr. Nilssen was asking Donnie to do something for him, but didn't know why she should have a feeling of uneasiness about it. Donnie had left then, saying he didn't know when he'd be back. He'd been gone till after midnight. Selene hadn't been able to sleep from worrying about her brother and she confronted him when he finally got home.

“What's going on, Donnie? What did Dr. Nilssen want you to do?”

Donnie had mumbled something about some private work for Dr. Nilssen and had then gone into his room and shut the door behind him. No matter how Selene badgered him the next few days, Donnie refused to say anthing more than that.

Now, as Selene sat alone in the dimly lit living room, with a ridiculous yellow bulb in the lamp, she once again felt a fearful concern for her brother and herself. She couldn't begin to understand what was going on here and she cerainly didn't trust Donnie's judgement, not at all. She decided to call Dr. Nilssen herself and see if he had any idea where Donnie could've gone.

23.1

AMOS and HANK

Tuesday Night, November 24, 1992

Later, in Amos' car, heading towards the Todd/Barnes home, neither Amos nor Hank could contain their excitement. They'd gone searching for one mystery person and had turned up another.

“I can't believe it!” Hank exclaimed. “Selene Dawson, Donnie Haskell's sister. This is really crazy.” He let his voice trail off as he thought about what it all meant.

“We still don't have all the pieces,” Amos said with a glance over at the younger man, “but it would seem that this is somehow connected to the accident in which Bob Barnes died. But what the connection is or what their motive is, I have no idea. And why are they doing this eight years later? That's what doesn't seem to make much, if any, sense. There's something here that we don't know—there's a crucial piece of the puzzle still missing.”

23.2

SELENE

Tuesday Night, November 24, 1992

For several minutes after the deputies and the other two men left, Selene sat by the phone, trying to get up her courage to call Dr. Nilssen. She hated to bother him so late at night—by now, it was almost midnight—but she had no other alternative.

Although she had no idea where Donnie was or when he'd be home, she knew she had to find him—to try to warn him to stay away because the sheriff's office had a warrant out for his arrest.

 Several weeks ago, Dr. Nilssen had given her a card with his various phone numbers on it in case she needed to reach him, for herself or for Donnie. Selene finally decided that the easiest number to try was his answering service. She left her name and number with the chipper-voiced woman who answered the phone, saying to please tell Dr. Nilssen it was an emergency.

Then she sat there to wait for his return call.

23.3

ERIK

Tuesday Night, November 24, 1992

Erik was surprised when his beeper went off at midnight. He was in the Thunderbird on his way back to Plaza Square. He turned on the interior light, looked at the number on the beeper's LCD read-out, and saw that it was his answering service. Debating whether or not to ignore the call, he finally decided he'd better check—with all the balls he had in the air, it could be something critical.

23.4

SELENE

Tuesday, November 24, 1992

When the phone finally rang, Selene grabbed the receiver and said a hurried, “Yes?” into it.

“Selene, this is Dr. Nilssen. My service tells me you called?” His voice had a faraway, hollow sound, as though it were coming through a deep tunnel.

“Yes, thank you for calling back. I'm sorry to be caling you so late but I have to find my brother—there's something terribly wrong and and I don't know where he is.” She spoke rapidly, in a distraught tone of voice.

“Tell me what the problem is,” Erik said soothingly.

“The sheriff or deputies were just here, saying they had a warrant for Donnie's arrest. But they wouldn't tell me what for—they wouldn't tell me anything. Then they said they wanted to talk to me first thing tomorrow morning at the sheriff's office. They're going to send a deputy for me. and they told me to try to find Donnie and get him to give up—to turn himself in—that it'll go easier on him—whatever that means.” Here Selene stopped, to catch her breath.

Before she could resume, Erik said, “What makes you think I might know where Donnie is?”

“Well, last week, he told me he was doing some private work for you and I just thought maybe that's where he was tonight. He left a note for me saying he had some important things to do...”

Erik interrupted with, “I'll tell you what, my dear. I'm calling from my car, on my way home. Why don't I stop by to see you? Perhaps we can come up with something that will help in this situation. You sit tight and I'll see you soon.”

Selene said all right, then hung up the phone. As she sat there waiting for Dr. Nilssen, she wondered why he hadn't asked for directions—evidently, he knew where she and Donnie lived.

23.5

ERIK

Tuesday, November 24, 1992

Erik sped along the highway, on his way to Selene's house. His mind was racing, as he tried to put together the pieces to the puzzle and figure out what to do.

Obviously, someone had discovered something damaging about Donnie, or why else would the sheriff's office have a warrant out for his arrest. Hopefully, no one would be able to make a connection between him and Donnie and his sister.

Well, it was time for damage control, thought Erik. His first priority would be to find out what Selene knew or suspected. Then, depending on what he learned, he'd decide whether he had to silence her right away. Just in case, he'd swing by his office at the University and pick up some potentially necessary supplies.

How far things had come in just a few months. His plan had all started early this summer when Selene had talked to him about her brother being released from the state mental hospital.

Selene Dawson had worked as a cashier at the University Bookstore for several years. One of her job benefits as a University employee was free counseling from the University Counseling Service, and over the years, she'd periodically taken advantage of this. Her most recent counseling experience had been triggered by her brother Donnie's impending release from the state mental hospital. Donnie's release into her guardianship was contingent on finding him a place to live and a job. The place to live was no problem— Selene had maintained their same old ramshackle home but a job proved to be a problem. The few inquiries she made on Donnie's behalf revealed that most employers were unwilling to take a chance on a hiring a former mental patient.

Selene had gone to ask advice from her regular counselor only to find that he's suffered a heart attack and was on an extended leave. The counseling center had re-assigned her to Dr. Erik Nilssen, a psychologist who'd joined the staff earlier that year.

In her first session with Dr. Nilssen, she'd given him an extremely edited version of Donnie's and her life history. Dr. Nilssen had earned her gratitude and trust when he agreed to help find a job for Donnie. He'd done so by arranging with the University to hire Donnie as a custodian under the special work-fare program for the disadvantaged and difficult-to-place unemployed  admininstered by the University.

Selene began seeing Erik for counseling on a regular basis. He eventually began using hypnosis as part of her treatment. Unbeknownst to her, over a period of time, Selene had confided to her therapist all the secrets of Donnie's and her life—including the truth about Roy Jennings' death and the fact of Bob Barnes' death.

Erik had stored away the information in case he found a use for it at some later time.  He'd also undertaken a watchdog role for Donnie, thinking that somehow the brother and sister might play a useful role in his future plans. Erik had earned their gratitude and planned on someday putting that gratitude to work for him .

Then one evening, he and his wife had run into an old school friend of hers at the Rivermont Symphony. On the way home, China had told him about Maggie Barnes, including the tragic death of her husband Bob in an automobile accident.

Erik had picked up on the name Bob Barnes and had put together the pieces, making an immediate connection with the story told to him by Selene during one of their sessions. But he hadn't mentioned anything about Selene to China. The next day, he'd made a trip to the University library to look at microfilm of back copies of the Rivermont Times. When he'd found the 8-year-old articles about the automobile accident in which Bob Barnes lost his life and Selene Dawson her leg, he read them over several times, then made copies to take with him. 

The copies had recently come in handy for him, when he'd mailed them one at a time to Maggie Barnes.

During his periodic counseling sessions with Donnie, Erik had tried using hypnosis procedures with him, but the man's mental instability had rendered him unsusceptible to hypnosis. From Donnie, Erik had learned of his hatred of Maggie Barnes, whom Donnie blamed for his sister's tragic life. Donnie had twisted the facts in his mind to the point that Maggie Barnes' supposed refusal to give her husband a divorce, resulted in Bob Barnes' death and in Selene's maiming. 

During the counseling sessions Erik had fueled Donnie's hatred of Maggie Barnes, having realized that he could use the man's obsession for his own purposes.

“I-i-it's a-a-all he-he-her fault,” Donnie had stuttered time after time.

“Yes, you're right,” had been Erik's consistent rejoinder, followed by “What should we do about that?”

At first, Donnie had responded with a disheartened shake of his head, stuttering that he didn't know. Then, finally, after Erik had fanned his anger into flames of hatred,  “Ki-ki-kill he-he-her!” had been Donnie's response.

“I think so,” Erik had agreed smoothly, then added, “but not in a quick and painless manner. She should suffer the way your sister suffered. 

Gradually, one by one, each of the pieces of the intricate web Erik was spinning came together. He was plotting the death of his wife, but in a very convoluted round-about manner. what a thrill to make thses things happen, he thought—what a feeling of power, of control, to manipulate people and events.

He had set Donnie and Selene as his pawns—maneuvering them to do his bidding, unaware they were following a script written and directed by him.

Erik had coached Donnie on each trick to play—the hang-up phone calls, rifling Maggie's desk, following her, spying on the Todd home. Erik himself had mailed the news clippings to Maggie.

Controlling Donnie had proved to be an iffy thing at times because of Donnie's diminished mental capacity and his inability to stay in reality. Erik learned the extent of Donnie's uncontrollability when Donnie had proudly confided in him his sideswiping of Kate's car.

Upon hearing of Donnie's independent action, Erik had barely managed to restrain himself from flying into a rage. 

Grinding his teeth, with clenched jaw and fists, Erik had chosen his words and his tone carefully.

“Donnie, you know very well that wasn't part of our plan. And don't you remember how we agreed to follow the plan?” Erik had paused, waiting for Donnie's concurrence.

Donnie had bowed his head contritely, sorry to have displeased his counselor. Then he raised his eyes to meet Erik's and said, “I-I prom-prom-promise no-no-not to d-d-do an-anything li-li-like tha-tha-that again.”

Erik had reached out and patted Donnie's shoulder. Then he said to the younger man, “I know you won't, Donnie, I know you won't.”

23.6

SELENE

Tuesday, November 24, 1992

Selene was too nervous to sit still while she waited for Dr. Nilssen. Standing up, she limped over to the television and turned it on to an old black and white Fred Astaire and Ginger Rogers musical on the local late-night movie channel. She went back to the sofa and sat down, propping her artificial leg up on a worn vinyl hassock. The doctors and physical therapists had never been able to eliminate her rather pronounced limp, despite several new prostheses and intensive therapy.

Before the accident, Selene had been a fun-loving good-time girl, always ready to party. When she lost her lover and her leg, she'd also lost her happy-go-lucky outlook on life. Although she'd recovered some physical ability, her emotional climate had remained bitterly negative. She felt that because she was a cripple, her life was over.

In Selene's mind, Maggie Barnes had usurped what should've been Selene's, and she felt a deep resentment of Maggie and her twins. The few times when Maggie had come in to the University Bookstore, it was all Selene could do to be civil to the woman. What she longed to do was scream at her and scratch her eyes out. 

And stupid Maggie had no idea who Selene was or how much she hated Maggie.

23.7

ERIK

Tuesday Night, November 24, 1992

Erik Nilssen stood for a moment on the falling-down wooden front steps of the Haskell house. He could hear the sound of the television, and through the half-curtained window, he could make out Selene sitting on the sofa, head back, eyes closed. 

Not finding a doorbell or a knocker, he lifted his hand and rapped his knuckles several times on the front door. He watched through the window as Selene abruptly sat up, looking disoriented. Once more he knocked, and Selene stood up and limped over to the front door and opened it.

Erik greeted her with a slight smile and walked past her into the cluttered living room. Selene closed the front door, then went over and turned off the television.

“Thank you so much for coming, Dr. Nilssen. I'm so worried about Donnie and I don't know what to do.” Selene stood with her arms at her side, hands clenched into fists. She felt so cold, even though the furnace was running full blast. 

“There, there, my dear, I'm sure everything is all right. I'm sure Donnie will be home soon and he'll be able to clear up any misunderstandings.” Erik reached out an arm and draped it gently around Selene's shoulders and led her over to the sofa. “Let's just sit down here and relax.”

Selene sat down, and Erik sat down next to her.

“I've brought along a mild tranquilizer for you, Selene. It'll calm you down a bit till Donnie gets home. You just wait here and I'll get a glass of water.” He stood up, patted her shoulder reassuringly, then left the living room.

In the kitchen, he turned on the over head light and searched around for a relatively clean-looking glass. To his distate, he saw that the sink was piled high with dirty dishes, some looking days old. He ran some cold water into a glass, then withdrew a small vial from his coat pocket. On his way here, he'd stopped by his office at the University to prepare a powerful sedative, from the  supply of illegal drugs he kept hidden there. He'd jerry-rigged two large capsules with enough extra-strength barbiturate to send Selene off into a permanent sleep.

Back in the living room, he handed the two capsules and the glass of water to Selene, saying, “Here, you'd best take two because they're rather mild.”

Unprotestingly, Selene swallowed the two capsules, one after another, then put the half-full glass of water down on the end table beside the sofa. Erik sat down next to her, saying “Why don't you lean your head back and try to rest a bit? I'll sit here with you and wait for Donnie's return.” 

Selene smiled gratefully at Erik and did as he suggested.

Erik watched closely as Selene's eyes blinked, blinked again, then closed. Soon, she was asleep. From what he knew of the drug he'd given her, she would sink deeper and deeper into unconsciousness. Her respiration would gradually slow down, her nervous system would be paralyzed, to the point that death would occur. 

Erik didn't know how long that process would take but he didn't plan to stay around to find out. He was confident that he'd given her enough of the drug to kill her, so it didn't matter how long it might take.

He stood up and from his pocket, he took a handkerchief which he used to wipe off the glass of water. He lifted Selene's hand and wrapped it around the glass, then put the glass back on the end table. He walked over to the front door and paused there a moment thinking, trying to remember if he could've possibly left fingerprints anywhere else. As a precaution, he wiped the doorknobs of the front door although he didn't remember touching them.

He left the house, welcoming the cold, crisp invigorating night-time air, feeling that one dangerous loose end had been effectively eliminated.

Tomorrow, he'd call the University Boostore, pretending that he was Selene's brother, and report that she was ill and wouldn't be in to work for a few days. If he were lucky, it would be quite some time before anyone discovered Selene's body.
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MAGGIE

Wednesday Afternoon, November 25, 1992

At noon on Wednesday, Maggie sat in the Explorer outside the twins' grade school, wating for them to be dismissed from class. She'd taken the afternoon off to spend with them and Kate, baking pumpkin pies for tomorrow's Thanksgiving dinner.

Sometimes I really miss being a stay-at-home mom, Maggie thought as she sat there. Whenever she had the chance, she did stay-at-home mom things like picking the twins up from school, or being a room mother or packing the twins' brown bag lunches each day, sometimes including a little note in then to let them know she was thinking of them. 

She'd had to go back to work a few months after Bob Barnes' death eight years ago and had worked steadily ever since. Fortunately for Maggie and Scotty and Leah, Kate had been available to be a daytime caregiver for the twins. 

Today, Maggie had brought a new mystery best-seller along with her, not knowing how long she'd have to wait. The twins' third-grade class had planned to visit a senior citizen nursing home just adjacent to the elementary school—so far, she hadn't yet seen them trooping back into the building.

When she realized that she'd read the same page over three times, she shook her head at her distracted mind, then closed the book, deciding to try it another time when her own life wasn't so filled with mysteries itself. 

The day was cold and gray. Every once in a while, tiny crystal-like snowflakes drifted down, spotting the still-warm windshield as they melted.

Maggie leaned her head back on the head rest and closed her eyes.  She was surprised how much she was looking forward to seeing Josh Campbell tomorrow at Thanksgiving dinner. She was glad that Kate had invited Rachel and her brother a couple of weeks ago; Maggie was also glad that Kate was unaware of her growing interest in Josh. 

How different Josh is from Erik Nilssen, Maggie thought, shivering a little in the cooling-off Explorer. As she sat there, a sudden memory of Erik in her office yesterday afternoon caused another shiver. Last night when Amos had called, she'd told him about Erik's strange behavior, although he'd been as puzzled by it as she.

Amos had told her about Donnie's disappearance, but tried to downplay it, saying he'd surely turn up soon and then they'd find out what he was up to, lurking around the Todd/Barnes home.

Amos had finally succeeded in convincing her of the seriousness of the harassment instigated against her. He'd told her to always be very careful in strange places, particularly at night. In fact, he'd strongly suggested that for the duration she not go anywhere alone at night. Maggie had promised to try.

Maggie lifted her head and looked at her watch, surprised to see that it was one o'clock already. The twins should've been here by now. Looking around the school parking lot, Maggie saw that besides the Explorer there were only a few vehicles there, which surprised her. She decided to go in and check on how long the twins would be.

Inside the school building, Maggie expected to see and hear busy, noisy classrooms. Instead, the halls were dimly lit and the classrooms were unlit and empty. She felt a tremor of apprehension as she walked toward the twins third-grade classroom, only to find it dark and deserted. She walked down the hall and around the corner, heading to the school office.

As she opened the door to the office, she saw the twins sitting just inside.

“Mom! You're here at last!” Leah jumped up and enveloped her mother in a tight hug around the legs.

“Where have you been? We've been waiting forever!” Scotty demanded.

Maggie stood there confused, wondering what they were talking about. “I've been sitting out on the parking lot waiting for the two you since before noon. Why didn't you come out? Why are you sitting here in the office?”

At that, the school secretary walked over to where they stood. “I couldn't help overhearing, Mrs. Barnes. Perhaps there's been some misunderstanding. We received a phone call this morning from the twins' uncle saying there'd been a family emergency and that you wouldn't be able to pick up the twins but that he'd be here to get them. Meanwhile, they were supposed to wait here in the office.” Mrs. Taylor, a kindly-looking older woman with gleaming white hair and a comfortable smile, looked questioningly at Maggie, expecting an explanation.

“I don't understand,’ Maggie said slowly. “As far as I know, there's been no family emergency. I can't imagine what's going on here. I''m really sorry for the misunderstanding—and for any inconvenience this may have caused you.”

The two women exchanged a few more words, then Maggie helped the twins pick up their belongings and the three of them went out to the Explorer. The snow had started to come down in earnest and the hunter green vehicle was now whitened with a coating of snowflakes.

When they were all three in the Explorer, seat belts fastened, with the twins in back, Maggie turned around to them and said, “Kids, I don't know what's going on here. I'm really sorry about you having to wait so long. We'll get to the bottom of this, don't worry.”

Neither Scotty nor Leah had said anything, confused by the turn of events, and they rode home in silence.

24.1

KATE and MAGGIE

Wednesday Afternoon, November 25, 1992

Kate, Maggie, and the twins spent the afternoon making pumpkin pies for tomorrow's holiday dinner: Kate's assignment was to make the pie crust; Maggie was to make the pumpkin mixture; and the twins were in charge of sampling everything, plus making little cinammon twists out of the leftover pie dough.

By 4 p.m., all the pies were finished and were lined up on the kitchen counter to cool, giving off a spicy aroma that filled the house. Scotty and Leah had eaten most of the cinammon twists and were now watching The Electric Company on the public TV channel. Tonight, the four of them, and Hank if he was available, would cube the bread for the turkey stuffing.

As Maggie stood looking out the kitchen window, a cup of freshly brewed coffee in one hand, she thought how ironic it was that they seemed to be in the midst of normal preparations for the upcoming holiday. The truth of the matter was that nothing was normal. 

As soon as she and the twins had arrived home that afternoon, she'd called Hank at the office to see if he knew anything about the phone call he'd supposedly made to the twins' school that morning.

Hank had, of course, not made the phone call and knew nothing of what was going on.

“Mags, I think this is more of that nonsense,” he'd said.

“I know,” Maggie said dejectedly, “that's what I thought. Oh, Hank, what am I going to do? This has got to stop—especially now that it's affecting the twins. They were really upset and fulll of questions and I didn't have any answers for them.”

Hank promised to tell Amos the latest happening when Amos returned to the office. Hank hesitated before continuing, “I think he's going to have some news for you soon.”

Maggie tried to find out more from Hank but Hank said he couldn't tell her anymore right now, but that things might be resolved in the next day or two.

Maggie went in to the sunroom to sit with Scotty and Leah while they watched TV. Leah came to sit beside her on the sofa, and Scotty, who was sitting on the floor in front of the television, scooted backwards until he was leaning against Maggie's legs. She reached down and ruffled his red hair, and and when he turned around to smile at her, she gave him a big grin in return.

Oblivious to the action and sound on TV, Maggie sat there immersed in anger and fear, coupled with a glimmer of hope from what Hank had just said on the phone. She couldn't imagine who could be doing these awful things to their family—the only possibility, based on the two newspaper clippings, seemed to be that woman who'd been in the automobile accident with Bob. But why now, after all these years. Hopefully, Amos would have some luck in tracking her down.
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RACHEL

Thanksgiving Day, Thursday, November 26, 1992  

As Rachel walked along the road towards the Todd home, she heard a dog barking, continuously off in the distance. This stretch of road was particularly deserted but the dog seemed to indicate some sign of life somewhere. In one hand, she carried her portable cellular phone which as usual was malfunctioning, just like her car.

She'd been blithely driving along, enjoying the crisp, cold but sunshiny Thanksgiving Day, when all of a sudden she heard a loud knock in the her car's engine. She pulled off to one side of the blacktop road, turned off the ignition, and got out. 

“Now what, smarty? Okay, let's see if we can figure out how to open the hood.”

Once she had the hood open, Rachel had no idea what to look for and quickly abandoned that line of activity. She got back in the car and tried without success to start the engine. Then, to top things off, when she picked up her portable phone to to call the Todd's and tell them of her dilemma, there was no dial tone. 

Deciding she had no choice but to start walking, Rachel took her handbag and the phone with her, thinking she'd try the phone again in a few minutes. Hopefully, someone would come along soon and give her a lift. Too bad Josh had had to go into work this morning, Rachel thought.
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AMOS

Thanksgiving Day, Thursday, November 26, 1992  
Amos drove along the gravel road leading to the Todd's home, enjoying the leisurely pace of his 1931 Ford Roadster. 

His parents had bought the car new the year of Amos' birth. It was still in like-new shape, thanks to the loving care he and his father had lavished on the vehicle over the years. 

The paint on the main body of the car was a rich glossy cream, almost pale yellow, color. The four fenders were painted a shiny black, as was the square trunk positioned at the back of the vehicle, behind the rumble seat. The butterscotch wheels had shiny chrome spokes and there was a spare tire perched on either side of the car, each encased in a black leather cover, just in front of the running boards. The wing windows on each side of the car had swirly white designs etched into the glass and were rimmed in polished chromium.

From the moment he first laid eyes on it, Amos' father had fallen in love with the vehicle and had decided almost from the beginning to preserve it in as pristine a condition as he could. For years, his father had only taken the coupe out for Sunday afternoon drives, preferring to drive the old beat-up farm pick-up for everyday use.

Like his father before him, Amos kept the car safe and protected inside a garage, driving it only on infrequent jaunts over the backroads of Rivermont. He also entered the vehicle in various antique car shows, and routinely, the Roadster won best in its class and would sometimes win best of show.

Today was the first time Amos had taken the car out to Kate's. He'd been promising the twins a ride for quite some time now and today was the day.

As he rounded a bend in the road, he saw a stalled car, with its hood up, parked at the side of the road. He slowed down, intending to offer his assistance to the driver but saw that the car was empty and there was no sign of anyone in the vicinity. He picked up speed and drove on, slowing down, then stopping once again when he saw a woman stepping briskly along the road.

To his surprise, it was Rachel. She gave out a whoop of joy when she saw who it was and came running over to the driver's side of the Roadster.

“Amos, my white knight on a charger, or in this case, an antique Ford. How great to see you!”
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THANKSGIVING DINNER

Thursday, November 26, 1992  

Josh pulled into the Todd's driveway, parking behind Amos' beautifully preserved Ford Roadster. On his way here, he'd seen Rachel's car off to the side of the road and had stopped to check it out. There was no sign of his sister and he assumed that she'd either walked the rest of the way to the Todds or had gotten a ride with someone going that way. Hopefully, she hadn't accepted a ride from a stranger, Josh thought, then shook his head ruefully. He supposed that being a big brother was something you never outgrew.

Josh had called Kate Todd last night to tell her he had newsroom duty for part of Thanksgiving Day and would be coming a little later than the other guests. He'd protested when she'd said she'd postpone serving dinner till he arrived but she'd insisted.

To say it had been a slow news day was an understatement. The only newsworthy occurrence was that there wasn't enough food for the Mayor's Annual Thanksgiving Open House. The reporter covering the event had called the newsroom to apprise Josh of the situation. On the spur of the moment, Josh had decided to make an appearance at City Hall himself to check out the story possibilities. He'd asked the reporter to come back and cover the newsroom and reluctantly, the reporter agreed. She would have preferred to stay for the Mayor's Thanksgiving buffet—but Josh was in charge of the newsroom and called the shots.

It seemed that one of the Mayor's political opponents, intent on embarrassing the city's chief executive, had encouraged the city's homeless, the street people, the bag ladies, to descend on City Hall to join the movers and shakers for Thanksgiving dinner.

So the Mayor and his family and staff were faced with hundreds of Rivermont's most influential citizens, plus hundreds of homeless Rivermont citizens, all hungrily milling around the rotunda of City Hall. Upon instructions from Patrick Reynard, the caterer had put out an emergency call for additional roasted turkeys with the trimmings. 

Josh arrived at City hall just in time to see the Mayor handle the potentially embarrassing situation with his usual panache. Reynard welcomed his unexpected guests and announced that additional food supplies were on their way, begging everyone's patience and indulgence.

Josh, thinking the whole situation was mostly a hoot, had returned to the Dispatch's newsroom and had written a quick tongue-in-cheek column for tomorrow morning's paper detailing the frantic footwork to find enough food to feed everyone. However, he'd concluded the column on a more serious note. The final paragraph was a stern reprimand for whomever had taken advantage of the street people, for manipulating and using them for his or her own purposes.

Josh rang the Todds' doorbell. A moment later, the door opened and Hank stood there with his video camera aimed at Josh.

“Welcome and Happy Thanksgiving,” Hank said, with the video camera running. His words were echoed by two short red-haired assistants, one on either side of Hank.

“What's this? Candid Camera?” Josh asked laughingly.

Hank laughed in reply and said, “Nope! It's the twins' idea—they decided we needed a record of each guest arriving.” Hank lowered the camera and turned it off. “You should've seen what happened when your sister and Amos got here. By the way, she had car trouble and Amos gave her a lift.”

Josh nodded, saying, “I saw her car down the road. But tell me what happened when they got here?”

“Well, just as I opened the door for them, the battery in the camera died. The twins made them wait out on the porch till I put in another battery, then had them come in all over again. Fortunately, Rachel and Amos are really good sports and cheerfully put up with it.”

Josh took off his parka and Hank reached out and hung it on the already-full coat rack in the entry-way hall.

“Come on back to the sunroom—everyone's there, except Mom, I guess. She's in the kitchen,” Hank said.

The twins trailed after the two men, whispering and giggling softly.

The sunroom was softly lit with candles and the lingering daylight; the fire in the fireplace burned brightly and added to the warm glow of the room. A black cast-iron kettle hung on a rack over the fire, with a pungent potpourri mixture simmering inside. The potpourri aroma mingled with the smell of turkey roasting and the spicy odor of pumpkin.

Josh headed directly over to the sofa in the corner of the sunroom where Maggie and Rachel sat. 

Rachel grinned up at him, then stood up, greeting him with, “Happy Turkey Day, Big Bro!” accompanied by a hug.

“Welcome to our home, Josh,” Maggie said, standing also.

“Thanks, and I'd like to thank your Mom for inviting me. Hank said she was in the kitchen—could you head me in that direction, please?”

“Sure—in fact, I'll do better than that. I'll go with you and see about getting something for you to drink,” Maggie said. Then she added, “Rache? You want to come along?”

“Nah, I promised the twins that I'd help them with something—I think they want me to help them operate the video camera so they can include their Uncle Hank on the Turkey Day tape. You two go ahead.” Rachel patted her brother on the arm, then went off to look for the twins.

Later, Rachel and the twins were seated on the brick hearth of the fireplace in the sunroom, watching as Hank once again changed the battery in his videocamera. 

The twins, bubbling with excitement, told their good buddy Rachel all about the birds and squirrels video tape that their uncle had put together for Show Pony and Romanian Baby.

“We're going to show it to the cats and to everybody else right after we finish eating dinner,” Leah said proudly. 

“By the way, where are are those wonderful cats of yours?” Rachel asked.

“Gram said they had to stay in the basement while she cooked and while we ate,” Scotty answered. “See, they have this problem of getting up on the kitchen counter or the dinner table and helping themselves to people food and Gram says we can't have that today.”

“I see,” Rachel said with a grin.

Just then, Maggie came into the sunroom to announce that dinner was on the table. Everyone trouped into the dining room and found their places around the long trestle table that filled the room. That morning, the twins, with a little help from Maggie, had made turkey place cards out of construction paper, putting each person's name on one of them. Despite Maggie's input, Scotty and Leah had come up with some very creative ways of spelling names—with ‘Amus’ and ‘Raitchel’ as the two most interesting examples.

“Hank-Sweetie, would you lead us in saying grace,” Kate asked. “I've already corralled Amos into carving the turkey.”

“Glad to, Mom. You and I both know I'll do a better job at that than carving the turkey any day!” Hank said.

27.5

DONNIE

Thanksgiving Day, November 26, 1992

Donnie had been hiding in the twins' treehouse just at the edge of the woods since dawn. Even though he'd worn several layers of clothing, including his long underwear, and he was wrapped in an old comforter that he kept in the back of his van, he was still shivering from the cold. 

Dr. Nilssen had told him to keep an eye on the Todds' house all day but hadn't told him to do anything. Donnie was getting antsy and decided to take matters into his own hands. He'd snuck up to one of the basement windows and had broken it with his shoe. Carefully, so as not to cut his hand on the shards of glass remaining in the window frame, he'd reached through to the window lock and opened it. He was just barely able to squeeze through the window and had fallen on top of some cardboard boxes.

Standing up and brushing himself off, he looked around the dimly lit basement, trying to decide what problems he could cause for the Todd family and their holiday guests. First, he thought he would switch off the circuit breaker for the electricity but then decided that would be too easy and quick for his victims to remedy. As he walked around the basement, a long-haired fluffy gray cat appeared by the steps, looking up at him with great interest. Donnie stood very still and the cat came up to him and rubbed gently against his left leg. A moment later, another cat appeared, this one a tiny, short-haired black one, that mewed faintly and cocked its head to one side, as if to ask, “And just who are you, my good man?”

Donnie reached down and tentatively scratched behind the ears of the first cat, then reached over and did the same to the miniature black one. Both cats arched their backs in pleasure and Donnie could hear a deep purring in their throats.

He reached down and picked up first one cat, then the other, cradling them gently in his arms. He'd decided on the ideal trouble he could cause.
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THANKSGIVING DINNER

Thursday, November 26, 1992  

An hour later, the long table in the Todds' dining room was a shambles, with a denuded turkey carcass occupying center stage. Everyone had eaten his or her fill and then some.

“I'll never eat again,” Hank groaned, then added, “Ma, that was our best Thanksgiving Dinner ever!”

“Hank, you say that every year, you know,” said his literal-minded sister.

“Yep—and every year I'm right. Ma's cooking gets better all the time.”

“I wish you wouldn't call me ‘Ma,’ ” Kate protested. “Couldn't you call me Mom or Mother like usual offspring do?” Hank just laughed and shook his head no. Hisaddressing her as ‘Ma’ was a long standing issue between Kate and Hank and one that Hank delighted in perpetuating.

“Okay, everybody—time to do the dishes!” Maggie announced in a sprightly voice. “Everybody but Mom—I mean, Ma, that is. She did all the cooking so she doesn't have to do KP duty.”

“Mom, could Scotty and I be excused from dishes so we can get the cats and set up the sunroom for the showing of the videotape?” Leah requested.

“Sure, honey—if you'll both carry your plates into the kitchen.  It'll be too crowded with all of us in there, anyway. Amos, you're excused from dish-duty also, so why don't you and Mom go sit by the fire and wait for the rest of us?”

After a token protest, Amos and Kate had settled themselves on the sofa in front of the fireplace while the twins went down the basement to retrieve Show Pony and Romanian Baby.

The twins were back, empty-handed, a few minutes later.

“Gram, we can't find the cats—they're not anywhere in the basement.” Scotty said in a voice filled with concern.

“They have to be there—I took them their Thanksgiving Dinner plates just before we all sat down to eat. They were at the top of the steps, waiting,” Kate said.

“The plates are still there at the top of the steps, clean as a whistle, but the cats aren't anywhere. I even took the can of cat treats down to shake to get them to come but...” Scotty's voice trailed off.

For the next two hours, till nighfall, the Todds and their dinner guests searched for the cats, inside and outside. 

Hank had quickly discovered the broken window in the basement, He'd had taken Amos aside and whispered his suspicions that the disappearance of the family pets was another one of the sneaky tricks plaguing Maggie and her family.

The twins were distraught over their missing cats and were barely able to hold back their tears. Show Pony and Romanian Baby were inside cats, having both been declawed as kittens. 

“We'll look for them again first thing tomorrow morning,” Maggie promised. “Anyway, they'll probably show up howling at the front door in the middle of the night. I'll get up and check every once in a while in case they come home during the night.”

29 

SHOW PONY and ROMANIAN BABY

Thanksgiving Day, Thursday, November 26, 1992 

Amos told Rachel to wait inside while he started the Roadster and turned on the heater. Josh had offered to drive his sister home but Rachel said she had some things she wanted to discuss with Amos. 

In the well-lit Todd driveway, Amos gave the crank on the front of the Roadster several vigorous turns. When the engine started, he got in the driver's seat, adjusted the choke and turned on the heater. As he did so, he thought he heard an unusal noise, something very unlike the Roadster's usual engine creaks and groans.

When he got out of the car, he heard the sound again. Outside, it sounded almost like a baby's whimper. He thought the sound was coming from somewhere on the other side of the Roadster and he walked around the rear of the car to check.

To his amazement, he could see that the leather spare tire cover just in front of the right fender was moving slightly. Amos went over and reached down and drew out a ball of wet fur and then a second, smaller one.

“Well, I'll be damned!” he exclaimed. With the cats held tightly against his chest, he hurried back into the house, wearing a huge grin on his face.

Later, driving home, Amos smiled as he remembered the delighted twins, ecstatic to have their beloved cats back with them, safe and sound. Leah had wrapped each cat in a doll blanket and she and her brother had each taken a pet to bed with them. Scotty had quite seriously told the cats about the birds and squirrel videotape, then solemnly promised them a special showing of the tape the next morning.

30  

KATE

Friday Morning, November 27, 1992

Friday was Kate's volunteer day at Rivermont Memorial Hospital. She was one of the ‘Pink Ladies,’ so-named because of the shocking pink color of the smocks they wore. Her particular assignment for the past year or so had been wheeling the book and magazine cart around to patients' rooms, offering them reading material.

About mid-morning, she took a break in the hospital cafeteria, getting herself a cup of hot chocolate. As she was sitting there sipping the steaming beverage, she overheard two of the paramedics at the next table talking about a DOA they'd brought in to the Emergency Room earlier that morning.

“What did the doc say he thought caused this Dawson lady's death?” one of the paramedics asked.

“OD of some sort, he said. She's been dead for a day or more. They sent the body to the Medical Examiner's office for an autopsy. 

When Kate heard the name ‘Dawson,’ she listened more carefully to what the two men were discussing.

“I wonder...,” she thought to herself. Finishing her hot chocolate in one big swallow, she  decided to see what she could find out. At the Emergency Room reception desk, she asked the nurse on duty about that morning's DOA.

“Could you tell me her name—I'm afraid I might know her,” Kate said.

The nurse flipped through the charts, then said to Kate, “The police report here says her name was Dawson, Selene Dawson. According to the report, a neighbor notified the police this morning that the lights in the house had been on for two days but that no one would answer the door or the phone.” The nurse flipped to the next page and skimmed over the information. “According to the police report, the neighbor, an elderly woman who lived alone, had invited the Dawson woman and her brother for Thanksgiving Dinner but they never showed up yesterday, never called, nothing. So the old woman called the police. The police had to break in the house and when they did, they found the Dawson woman in bed, dead of some kind of overdose, they think.”

Kate stood there silent for a moment, absorbing the information. Then she thanked the nurse and walked off down the hall, trying to decide what to do with her knowledge. At the bank of payphones located on one side of the hospital's main lobby, Kate stopped to call Maggie and then Amos.

31.1

MAGGIE

Friday Afternoon, November 27, 1992

On the highway headed toward China's mountain chalet, Maggie drove the Explorer more slowly than usual, her mind preoccupied with Kate's phone call telling her about the death of Selene Dawson.

She was momentarily distracted from her thoughts by the sight of a denim-clad, pony-tailed man on horseback on the outer perimeter road, trotting along on a palomino while talking on a cellular phone. What a lifestyle contrast, she thought.

She could feel herself resisting the upcoming weekend and berated herself for not cancelling. She was only going because of Rachel and now that almost wasn't a good enough reason. 

After Kate's phone call, Maggie had decided to call Amos and ask if she could stop by to talk with him. She waited a bit before calling Amos, until she thought he'd be finished with the phone call from her mother.

When she finally got Amos on the line, she asked, “Would it be all right if I came by to talk to you about this Selene Dawson and Donnie Haskell thing on my way to China's chalet?”

“Sure, dear, come ahead. I'm just sitting her at my desk starting the end-of-the-month paperwork. I'd welcome the diversion,” Amos had said.

When she got there, he offered her coffee but she said she'd had more than enough that day.

“What's Hank up to today?” Amos asked. “He took the day off but didn't tell me what his plans were.”

“He and the twins are going ice skating at the city rink, just around the corner from here. Hank knew Mom would be doing her work at the hospital today and that I had these plans to go away for the weekend so he volunteered to entertain the twins,” Maggie said.

“That's a sight I'd love to see—Hank with his two left-feet, on ice skates. In fact, I might stroll over to the ice rink and see if I can catch a glimpse of them,” Amos said. Then, with a serious look on his face and an understanding tone in his voice, he changed the subject, “Now, exactly what did you want to talk about, Maggie?” 

“Selene Dawson and her brother and what on earth is going on?” Maggie answered.

“I'll tell you as much as I know, as much as I've been able to find out. After I spoke with you, I called the police station but they didn't have much more information than Kate had already found out from the hospital. Oh, there was one thing—it seems that although the front door and back were locked, the dead bolt and security chain on the front door weren't secured,” Amos said, then paused,

Maggie waited for him to continue and when he didn't, she said, “I'm sorry but I guess I don't see the significance of that.”

“It means that Selene's death wasn't necessarily a suicide or an accidental overdose—it could be that someone killed her,”  Amos answered.

“You mean murder?” Maggie said with a note of incredulity in her voice.

“Yes, that's a possibility. Maggie, I really wish you weren't going to the mountains this weekend. I'd rather that you were home, with Hank around to keep an eye on you. How can I convince you to change your mind and stay home?” Amos asked.

“If it were up to me, I'd gladly stay home,” Maggie answered. But I promised Rachel I'd come and she's really been looking forward to this weekend, for some reason. Anyway, Rachel says that China has a live-in caretaker so at least there'll be a man around to protect us.”

Amos seemed reassured when he heard about the caretaker.

“Well, Maggie dear, why don't you at least give me the phone number at the chalet so I can call you if I learn anything more?”

Maggie wrote the number down for him and then left. It was getting close to noon and she'd promised Rachel she'd get to the chalet in time for lunch.

A mile or so before the turn-off to the chalet, Maggie had a scare when the Explorer was almost forced off the road. A small compact car came whooshing up beside her. On top of the car, tied down with clothesline, was a long white sofa, with the ends of the sofa protruding over the front and back of the car. A clear sheet of plastic covered part of the sofa, and its edges were flapping in the wind as the car sped along.

Just when the car passed the Explorer, the sofa started to wobble from side to side. Maggie was frightened and convinced that the sofa was going to fall off and tumble into her lane. She slowed down and steered the Explore off to the shoulder of the highway, deciding to stay there a moment, till the car with its unwieldy burden was far away.

After five minutes or so, she once again pulled onto the highway. The day was dank and gray, and the temperature was dropping. The weather forecast she'd listened to early this morning had called for more snow, starting sometime this afternoon. Now, the flakes started tumbling down, as though the heavens were emptying out huge buckets of snow.

Right before the turnoff to the mountain chalet, traffic slowed almost to a standstill. As she rounded a curve in the highway, Maggie saw three cars twisted and mangled together. At one side of the wreck was the long white sofa, now in two pieces, with the plastic still flapping in the wind and snow.

“That could've been me,” Maggie thought, in horror. “Thank God, I pulled over when I did.”

She finally passed the accident and traffic, delayed by the gawkers, had resumed close-to-normal speed. A sense of dread, almost of foreboding, accompanied her the rest of the way to China's chalet. 

“I hope this isn't a premonition or a sign that something calamitous is going to happen this weekend,” Maggie thought apprehensively.

31.2

CHINA and RACHEL

Friday Afternoon, November 27, 1992

China and Rachel drove up to the chalet together early that Friday morning. Rachel had called China the night before, as soon as she got home from the Todd's Thanksgiving Dinner, to ask for a ride up to the chalet.

“My car gave up the ghost just before I got to Maggie's house today,” Rachel explained. “I'll arrange for it to be towed to a nearby garage tomorrow.”

“I'll be glad for the company,” China had said quietly. 

Rachel had picked up on the uncharacteristic listlessness in her friend's voice and asked, “China, is everything okay?” Then, remembering what Josh had said about the collapse of China's marriage, Rachel made a face at herself for her inadvertent thoughtlessness, glad that they didn't have videophones.

“No, Rache—everything isn't okay. But it will be someday soon. Listen, I don't want to go into it now—I'll tell you about it on the ride up tomorrow.”

They hung up soon after that, with China saying she'd see Rachel around nine in the morning.

The next moring, when China and Rachel were both settled in China's car, they'd teased each other about the large amounts of luggage and accoutrements each had brought. 

China jokingly said, “It's a good thing that the Mercedes Grandfather left me is a station wagon and not a 560SL convertible.”

On the drive, China had told Rachel most of the things she'd confided in Josh a couple of days ago, and which he in turn had shared with his sister.

Rachel was silent for a while, trying to make sure she hid her prior knowledge of all that China had just told her. “Oh, China, I'm really sorry about the way things worked out. I know you had such high hopes for this marriage. But from what you've told me about Erik, it sounds as though you'll be much better off without him.”

China hadn't responded to that. A few minutes later, she said, “There's something I've never told you about, Rache. It's extremely confidential but I want to talk with someone about it.”

“You know I won't say anything,” Rachel promised, but with her fingers crossed to give her an out in case she felt she absolutely had to tell Josh or Maggie.

“For several years now, I've been involved with someone,” China said with a glance over at her friend, then continued, “a married someone.”

Rachel didn't comment, not knowing what to say. She'd heard the rumors making the rounds about China Smith and Patrick Reynard and hadn't known whether or not to believe them. Evidently, they were true.

“It's someone in public life...” then added almost as an afterthought, “and he has children.” 

Rachel still didn't know what to say, so she'd just murmured a noncommittal “Hmmmmm.”

“I know you disapprove but it was just one of those things,” China said with a smile on her face. “Anyway, I haven't been able to persuade him to leave his family for me, and I don't know if he ever will but I guess I'll keep working on him.”

They'd ridden along in silence for the rest of the way. As they drove through the open gate on the road leading to the chalet, China honked the horn to alert the caretaker of their arrival. When they pulled into the circular gravel driveway in front of the chalet, China looked around for the caretaler but there was no sign of him.

“Where is that man?” China muttered, getting out of the station wagon. She quickly walked up the broad steps onto the deck that encircled the chalet, followed more slowly by Rachel.

“Oh, damn!” China spat, as she ripped loose a piece of paper taped to the front door.

“What is it?” Rachel asked. “What's wrong?”

China waved the paper in Rachel's face and answered, “This is what's wrong. The caretaker has some kind of a stupid family emergency and won't be here this weekend.”

China crumpled the paper and shoved it into the pocket of her ankle-length fur coat. She unlocked the door and walked into the chalet, swearing again. “Dammit, the man didn't even turn up the furnace—it's like a refigerator in here.”

She stomped over to the thermostat in the hallway and turned up the heat. Then, with a disgruntled shake of her head, she went over to the massive stone fireplace that occupied most of one wall in the living room. Kneeling down in front of the fireplace, she started piling logs helter-skelter in the opening.

“Uhh, China?” Rachel said, tentatively, “would you let me help.”

“Sure,” China said, relief obvious in her voice. She backed away, and with a wave of her hand, turned over to Rachel responsibility for building the fire.

In short order, Rachel had flames leaping high in the fireplace, spreading their warmth throughout the room.

Standing up and brushing off her hands, Rachel said, “Now, let's get all our junk unloaded.”

31.3

CHINA, RACHEL, and MAGGIE

Friday Afternoon, November 27, 1992

After lunch, the three women bundled themselves up warmly, to go for a walk. It had been snowing intermittently all morning, although the flurries had now slowed to a desultory descent.

“Lunch was super,” Rachel said as they trouped up the path at the back of the chalet. 

“Gourmet-to-Go comes through every time,” China said with a laugh. “The high point for me, though, was Kate's pumpkin pie—I never get home-cooked food.”

Since her arrival, Maggie had felt detached, isolated from the other two women. She wanted to get Rachel alone to tell her about Selene Dawson but so far there hadn't been a chance.

They walked along, single-file, with Rachel in the lead. Suuideenly she laughed out loud, then stopped walking and turned around to face China and Maggie. With a big grin on her face, Rachel stood there, legs spread apart, with her hands on her hips. 

“Guys, I've been wanting to mention something about all the junk we all brought. We all packed as though we'd be here for weeks and it's nlygoing to be for two days and nights. Are we all so afraid of leisure or boredom or whatever that we have to bring enough work and work-related things to keep us occupied. I, for one, brought my laptop computer with its modem so I can tie into Lexus and Westlaw, a portable printer, several briefs to review, plus the newspapers from the past week that I haven't had time to read.” she paused then pointed a forefinger at China and siad, “Okay, 'fess up, China, tell us what all you brought.”

China matched Rachel's grin with one of her own, then started to enumerate what she'd brought with her. “Let's see, I brought a portable TV/VCR combo, along with a bunch of audition tapes that I have to review—the station is looking for new on-air talent. I also brought my hot rollers and my hair dryer...ummm...I think that's all. Oh, I forgot, I also brought my laptop so I can catch up on some correspondence.”

Maggie started laughing just as Rachel said, “Your turn, Mags,”  then added, “What's so funny?”

“You won't believe this but I brought a laptop with me, also. Isn't technology wonderful? We can't even go away for a weekend without our electronic sidekicks. But I also brought a couple of scary mysteries that I've been trying to find time to read.”

The three women laughed together, at themselves and at each other, and for the first time, Maggie felt a little more comfortable and relaxed.

Rachel put an arm around each of her friends and gave them a hug. “Isn't this fun? Just us girls.”

Later than afternoon, each of the three was immersed in her own world: China was in her bedroom and even with the door shut, Rachel and Maggie could hear the TV/VCR blaring with audition tapes of newscasters.

Maggie was curled up in a recliner chair at one side of the fireplace, staring unseeingly at the book lying open in her lap.

Rachel had set up her laptop on the bleached oak dining table, right next to the telephone so she could hook up her modem. Periodically, Maggie would lift her head at the sound of a telephone dial tone, followed by a series of high-pitched beeps. Then came the hissing noise indicating that Rachel's computer had hooked into some far-off legal database.

Every once in a while, Maggie unwound herself from the chair to put another log on the fire. She went into the kitchen and put  out a plate full of the chocolate chip cookies she and the twins had baked and that she'd brought along as one of her contributions for the weekend.

She took the plate over to Rachel to offer her a cookie, then went into China's room to do the same. China was stretched out on the king-sized bed, intent on the tape she was watching. She pressed the ‘Pause’ button ont he remote and gestured toward the TV screen. “What do you thing of that dude? Is he a hunk or is he a hunk?”

Maggie looked over and saw a drop-dead handsome face filling the screen. “Yep, he's a hunk all right. But is he more than just a pretty face?” 

“Ah, you've got it right on the first try. I have almost a dozen tapes here of obscenely beautiful men and not one of them seems to have a brain in his head. It's disgusting!”

China stretched her arm out and took the plate of cookies from Maggie. She patted the bed next to her and said, “Have a seat—I'll show you what I mean.”

For almost an hour the two women watched audition tapes, ending the session in laughter. 

In amazement, Maggie said, “China, I can't believe it—there isn't a decent one in the bunch. Some of them can't even pronounce the simplest of words. Is it always this way?”

China gave a couple of firmly affirmative nods of her head and said, “You'd better believe it. And most of the women aren't any better. All I've seen lately, men and women, are a bunch of airheads. Well, that does it for me for the day. I quit. What say we go out and bug Rachel.”

China and Maggie finally convinced Rachel to put away her computer and play gin rummy with them. 

“Why don't you go ahead and deal the cards, while I call the twins,” Maggie said.

She picked up the receiver and listened for a dial tone, finger poised to punch in her home home number. But there was no dial tone. She hung up the receiver, waited a minute, then picked it up again—but still no dial tone.

“Yo, China, Rache? I can't seem to get a dial tone here—could I borrow a cellular phone from one of you?”

China shurgged her shoulders and frowned, saying, “You'll have to use Rachel's—for some reason, I didn't even think of bringing mine...”

Rachel interrupted with, “Yikes! Neither did I! We're a fine group—three laptop computers and no working phone.

“Well, hopefully, the phone service will be working again soon,”China said. “This happens every once in awhile up here but it's never out for long.”

“It's really no big deal,” Maggie said. “I just wanted to check and see how the twins are doing. Well, let's play cards, and I'll check the phone again later.”

For the next hour or so, Rachel beat China and Maggie at every hand of gin rummy. “We should've been playing for money,” Rachel said ruefully. “How about it we start now, say a penny a point?”

“No, thanks, old buddy,” Maggie said. “I don't have a fortune to give away to you.”

“Too bad,” Rachel said. “But guess what—I have a surprise for both of you. I'll be right back.”

She went into one of the two small guest bedrooms and was back in a moment with two video cassettes in her hand.

“Horror movies for us to watch tonight! Remember how we used to scare ourselves to death watching these things? Well, I thought it would be fun to see if they can still scare us.” Rachel grinned in delight at the prospect.

“Oh, great! Here we are, three women alone in a deserted mountain area, no working phone, and you want us to watch horror movies. Rache, you have a really weird sense of fun, you know,” Maggie said.

“Oh, I don't think it'll be that bad,” China said. Besides, we're not exactly unprotected up here. There's a security system, actually it's a laser burglar alarm. Plus I've got a gun...”

Maggie interrupted with, “What? You've got a gun here? Well, I certainly hope it's not loaded.”

“Honestly, Maggie,” China said, “what good is an unloaded gun?”

“There's nothing good about a gun, loaded or unloaded,” Maggie said firmly.

“I disagree.” China said as she stood up and walked out of the living room.

“Well, so much for all of us getting along,” Rachel said. “I guess I'm surprised things stayed civil as long as they did. Besides, Maggie, China knows how to handle a gun—she's not some irresponsible teeny-bopper and I'm sure it's not one of those Saturday night specials. Anyway, I always carry a can of mace in my handbag—does that offend you, too?”

“No, of course not,” Maggie said. “I'm sorry—I just overreacted. What with all that's being going on in my life lately, I'm a little on edge—especially when it comes to violence.” Maggie sat thinking for a moment, then said, “I'd better go apologize to China—I really didn't mean to come off as so ‘holier than thou.’ ”

She went into the hall and paused outside China's closed bedroom door. Then she knocked lightly and waited. A minute later, the door opened and China stood there.

“China, I'm sorry about what I said—I didn't mean to critizize you or to be so prissy. Forgive me, please?” Maggie said in a soft voice. For a moment, she had the oddest feeling that China was going to slam the bedroom door in her face.

But China just shrugged her shoulders and said, “That's okay—I know some people have a real thing about guns. Let's just forget it—and don't worry, the gun is in a safe place and won't cause any problems for you.”
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AMOS

Friday Afternoon, November 27, 1992

Amos had been trying to call the chalet but kept getting a busy signal. He wanted to let Maggie know that he and Hank had decided that the Todds—Kate, the twins, and Hank himself were going to spend the weekend at Amos' condo rather than out at their all-too-secluded home in the woods.

He'd become increasingly concerned about what Donnie Haskell was doing to Maggie and her family and wanted to keep a close eye on all of them until Donnie was finally apprehended by the police. He'd done his best to convince Maggie to postpone her weekend trip but had had no luck. But at least there would be the caretaker there to offer some protection. Now, if he could only reach her to let her know where her family would be this weekend.

After an hour of trying to reach Maggie, Amos finally called the operator and asked her to check the line. She rang him back in a few minutes that the phone seemed to be out of order—there was no conversation on the line.  She told him she'd reported it to the service department.

“Could you put a priority flag on that, please? There's a family emergency that I'm trying to call about,” Amos requested, in his official-sounding voice.

“Yes, sir, of course. I'll do that right away. I'll have the repair service notify you when the line is operational again.”

Amos sat at his desk, tapping his fingers on the calendar/blotter that covered most of its surface. It was a habit of his to doodle all over the calendar while he talked on the phone or had clients in his office, so much so that the calendar dates were hard to make out. Now, as he sat there trying to decide what to do, he glanced at his scribbles. Several times he'd written the names Donnie and Erik and and joined them together with an arrow. “Now why did I do that?” he said softly. “Is my subconscious trying to tell me something?”

He thought back to his conversations with Maggie, remembering in particular her detailed account of the conversation she'd overheard between Donnie Haskell and Erik Nilssen. Starting with his first talk with Maggie, he'd made a computer file of his notes and he now switched on his computer so he could access that file. 

He scrolled through page after page, looking for his notes on the overheard conversation, then read them over several times.

The longer he sat there, the more Amos kept feeling a premonition of danger for Maggie and deep concern that he wasn't able to reach her. Too antsy to sit still any longer, Amos decided to go talk with Hank.

32.1

TOAD

Early Friday Evening, November 27, 1992

Toad hunched under the tarpaulin, wishing he'd thought to bring a thermos of hot coffee with him. The night was moonlit but with scattered clouds that periodically blocked the moon from view. There was still a hint of snow in the air in the brisk and windy air, and he was beginning to stiffen up with the cold. He rubbed his gloved hands together, hoping the friction would create a little warmth.

It was so unbearably cold that he didn't know how long he'd be able to stay out here in the woods, spying on that bitch's house. 

At dusk, he'd parked his van in a culvert on a deserted dead-end road that led off the gravel road leading to the lofty hilltop-perched chalet. Then he'd made himself a watching place behind an overgrown clump of snow-covered cedar trees, which, although an adequate hideaway, offered little protection from the wind and cold.

From his lookout, he had a clear view of the house on the hill above him. Glass windows made up one whole side of the house; another side had a stone chimney in the middle. There was a wraparound cedar deck which at the moment was decorated with hundreds of tiny white lights, twinkling and flashing brightly in the cold gray twilight.

He crouched there, shivering, wishing he were anyplace but where he was. It had taken a long while, eight years in fact, for him to arrive at this point, the point of no return, the point of final retribution. She would pay for what she had done to his sister. Sometimes over the years he'd almost had trouble remembering why it was that Maggie Barnes had to die, getting what happened to Selene all twisted up with the state hospital and with all the people who laughed at him and made fun of him. Somehow he thought killing Maggie would right all the wrongs that had been done to him. He wasn't exactly sure how that could be but he just knew he had to do what he had to do.

Then he thought he heard a noise off at the edge of the woods. He peered off into the darkness, thinking he saw a tiny point of light. Then he heard a crunching sound behind him and that was the last thing he knew before being knocked unconscious.

32.2

AMOS

Early Friday Evening, November 27, 1992

Amos and Hank had quickly decided that the time had come to drive up to the chalet to tell Maggie where her family was and to check that things were okay with her and her friends. 

In order to get directions to the chalet, Amos had tried to call Erik Nilssen at home but got an answering machine. He then tried the Erik's office and got no answer—the University was closed for the Thanksgiving holiday. The phone directory also listed an answering service number which finally resulted in a live person on the line.

“I'd like to leave a message for Dr. Nilssen to call Amos Powell, please, at his earliest convenience,” he told the young woman who'd answered. He gave her his number and then hung up.

“Hank, this won't do. Somehow we have to find out fast where that chalet is located. I hate to do this but I'm going to call the Mayor and ask him.”

Hank gave Amos a puzzled look as he asked, “What makes you think the Mayor knows where China Smith's mountain chalet is located?” Then before Amos could respond, Hank got a knowing look on his face, and said, “Ohhhh...you think all those rumors about Reynard and China Smith are true! Well, good luck—the Mayor is not going to be happy to get your phone call, that's for sure.”

And that had certainly been the case. Patrick Reynard had first tried a sincere expression of ignorance and when Amos kept pushing him, had tried righteous indignation. That, too, failed to affect Amos.

Amos, fast running out of patience with the game-playing mayor, said in a serious voice, “Pat, give me a little credit for discretion and tact—you know I wouldn't call and ask for this information if it weren't an emergency—it could even be a matter of life and death. Now, quit messing around and give me directions to China Smith's mountain chalet.” 

Amos listened carefully, then scribbled a couple of lines on a scratch pad. He stood up from his desk and was about to tell Hank  it ws time to go when there wa knock on the office dodor.

“Come in,” Amos called, “it's unlocked.”

Josh Campbell came in, a grin on his face. “Hi guys,”  then he paused, looking from one man to the other and back, seeing the serious looks on their faces. “What's up?”

“We're worried about Maggie, up at China's chalet. I've been trying to call there for over an hour but the phone service is out. So we've decided to take a drive up there just to make certain everything is all right.”

Josh nodded his head slowly, watching as Amos put on his hat and coat and gloves.

“Yeah, my sister told me a little of what's been going on with Maggie—bad stuff. Say, I was just heading to Rachel's empty apartment upstairs—how about if I ride along with you.”

“Sure,” Amos said, “glad to have you. Hank, go get your coat and on your way tell Kate where we're going. Meanwhile, Josh and I will get the car and pick you up in front of the building.”

33

CHINA, RACHEL, and MAGGIE

Friday Night, November 27, 1992

For dinner, the women had had another feast from Gourmet-To-Go, courtesy of China's microwave. They'd shared preparation and clean-up duties, laughing as they squeezed past one another in the chalet's small galley-type kitchen.

“Our snack tonight is going to be the special egg nog from Gourmet-to-Go that we always have plus microwave popcorn,”China announced as she turned on the dishwasher.

Earlier, China had moved the TV/VCR combo out of her bedroom and into the living room so that they could watch the two horror movies Rachel had brought along.

“Anyone interested in a short walk up the road before we settle ourselves in and watch movies?” Rachel suggested.

Both Maggie and China gave it some thought and decided they weren't interested—which was enough to discourage Rachel.

For the next couple of hours, the three women sat in the darkened living room of the chalet scaring themselves silly watching a teeny-bopper slasher movie. When the first movie was over, China turned on all the lights and offered to make popcorn.

“If it's all right with the two of you, let's wait a bit for the popcorn—I'm still stuffed from dinner,” said Rachel. “But how about the eggnog?”

“Coming right up,” China said.

The rich frothy eggnog from Gourmet-To-Go had been one of their traditions for years. As she got the containers out of the refrigerator, China thought back to that morning and Erik's inexplicable behavior concerning the eggnog.

China had been surprised when Erik had offered to pick up the eggnog from Candicci's early that morning, as she was preparing to leave for the chalet. She'd said no, it wasn't necessary, and that's when he'd insisted, saying he wasnted to make up for not escorting her to the Mayor's Thanksgiving Open House yesterday. China had acquiesced, puzzled about why Erik had been so adamantly helpful.

China poured three generous mugs of eggnog and carried them, along with the container of eggnog, into the living room on a slightly tarnished silver tray.

“Let's drink a toast,” said Rachel. Each woman took a mug of eggnog, then touched their cups together as Rachel said, “To us—to this weekend, to many more!”

“Here, here,” China said, with Maggie chiming in. They each took a long drink of the eggnog, then laughing at each other's milk moustaches.

Maggie put her cup down on the coffee table, deciding not to drink any more eggnog. Her stomach was feeling a bit queasy and she was afraid she was coming down with the flu. Hopefully, she could make it through the weekend without a full-blown case of flu and without infecting her companions.

Maggie refused when China offered refills but Rachel took another cup of eggnog, as did China, who then set the container back on the tray on the coffee table, within easy reach.

Just as they were getting themselves settled back down in the living room to watch the next horror movie, they heard a loud noise that sounded as if it were coming from somewhere outside the chalet.

“What was that?” Maggie asked.

“I don't know,” said China. “It sounded like something falling.”

“Let's go see,” Rachel said with some enthusiasm.

“You're just bound and determined to get out in that arctic weather, aren't you?” China accused.

“No, smarty, I'm not. But I do think we're obligated to go out and make sure everything is all right,” Rachel said.

The three of them put on heavy coats, mufflers, gloves, and even hats to protect against the below zero temperatures outside.

“We look like abominable snowmen,” Rachel joked, once they were bundled up. China dug out a couple of flaslights from the drawer of a bleached oak table in the foyer area and gave one to Maggie and one to Rachel. 

“You guys go ahead,” China directed. “I'll go get another flashlight from my room and meet you outside.”

Maggie and Rachel did as they were told, with Maggie muttering on the way out. 

“What did you mumble?” Rachel asked her friend as she held the door open for her.

“I said—very clearly, mind you—I wonder if China is going to get that damned gun of hers to bring along.” Maggie clenched her jaw as she spoke, her disapproval evident.

“God, I hope not,”Rachel said. “I hate guns, probably almost as much as you do, old buddy.”

“Well, why didn't you stick up for me earlier when China and I got into about her gun,” Maggie asked, the disapproval apparent in her voice.

Out on the porch, Maggie and Rachel hugged themseves and stamped their feet to keep warm. After only a brief delay, China joined them, a huge lantern-type flashlight in her hand. 

China led the way, down the broad steps of the deck, into the circular drive in front of the chalet. She shone the flashlight off towards the woods, then all around the front part of the house. Rachel and Maggie followed the beam of light with their flashlights and their eyes.

“See anything?” China asked.

“Nope,” Rachel said as Maggie said, “Nothing.”

“Let's go around the side of the house and see if there's anything there or in back,” China said in a whisper.

They trooped off into the snow. It was slow going as the snow grabbed their feet and held on. Then China stopped suddenly, holding her hand up to stop Rachel and Maggie.

“What is it?” Rachel asked.

“Shhhh,” China whispered, then said, “Look, over there, footprints.”

Maggie and Rachel watched as China shone her flashlight onto the snow. There seemed to be a path of footprints leading from the woods up to the house and then back into the woods.

“I don't like this,” China said, once again in a whisper. “I don't like this at all. Let's get back in the house, quick!”

The three women hurred as best they could back through the snow and into the house. Once inside,  China locked the door with the dead bolt, then put on the safety chain.

“I'm going to call the sheriff's office,” China said as she walked over to the telephone.

But there was still no dial tone. “Damn!” China swore. “Okay, I'm going to drive down to the nearest service station and call the sheriff from there. You all want to ride along?”

Both Rachel and Maggie said a quick yes, not wanting to stay alone here with God knows what going on.

They grabbed their purses and hurried outside. Inside the Mercedes station wagon, China tried again and again to start the engine.

“That's strange—this car always starts. I guess it's too cold or something. Maggie, how about taking us to a phone in your car?” China asked.

“Sure,” Maggie agreed. But once they were all settled in the Explorer, they found that it too wouldn't start.

“There's something really strange going on here,” Rachel said. “I vote for getting back inside as fast as we can—and locking all the doors and windows.”

Back inside, they locked and bolted all of the doors leading to the outside, then closed and latched the wooden shutters that each window was equipped with.

“I'm getting my gun,” China said, “and just don't say a word, Maggie.”

Maggie kept silent, ashamed at the slight feeling of relief that China's words brought. Maggie really disliked guns but somehow it felt comforting to have the protection of one right now.

For awhile, the three women sat in the living room, huddled together on the sofa and an adjacent chair. China kept the fire blazing, and she'd turned on all the lights in the living room and kitchen.

“What do you think was going on out there, guys?” Rachel asked, with a big yawn.

China had poured herself another mug of eggnog and paused with the cup halfway to her mouth.

“I have no idea,” China replied. “I guess the footprints could've been left from when Gus, the caretaker, was still here. Although...,” she paused a moment, thinking, then resumed, “It's been snowing off and on all day, so I would think the snow would've covered up any tracks that gus left.”

Rachel yawned again, then said, apologetically, “I don't know what's wrong with me—I can't stop yawning and I can barely keep my
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JOSH, HANK, and AMOS

Friday Evening, November 27, 1992  
On the drive up to China's chalet, Amos made a stop at the sheriff's office just outside of Rivermont to talk with them about the search for Donnie Haskell. Hank and Josh had opted for waiting outside in Amos' still-warm Jeep Cherokee.

The two men had been acquainted since childhood but had never really spent much time together nor talked much to one another. At first they each felt slightly awkward, sitting there. Then Josh said, with a laugh in his voice, “Did I detect something itneresting going on with my sister and you at dinner yesterday?”

Josh sensed rather than saw Hank's embarrassment. 

“Well,” Hank began hesitantly, “Rachel is a really nice person. I didn't really know her very well until the past couple of weeks. I guess I might as well confess that I'm trying to get up enough courage to invite her to go out with me. Let me ask—do you think she'd be interested?”

“I'm sure she would,” Josh answered firmly. “She'd told me what a nice person she thinks you are. And even though her marriage to David didn't work out, it certainly didn't sour her on men. So ask away!”

They sat in silence for a few minutes. Then Hank said, “Speaking of something going on, what about you and Maggie? You two spent a lot of time talking with each other yesterday.”

Now it was Josh's turn to feel embarrassed.

“Yeah, I guess we did. I think I'm in the same position you are,” Josh said. “I'd like to ask her out but I'm not sure how she'd react.”

“I think you should go for it—I have to say Maggie's a really great person, even if she is my sister. And I don't know how you feel about kids, but take it from me, they don't come any better than Scotty and Leah.” 

Once again, the two men sat in silence, surprised but then pleased at the personal turn their conversation had taken.

Finally, Amos came out of the sheriff's office, balancing three styrofoam cups of coffee. Hank reached over and opened the driver's side door of the Cherokee for his boss, then took two of the cups from him, handing one to Josh in the back seat.

“Well, any news?” Hank asked once Amos was settled behind the wheel.

“Nope,” Amos answered abruptly, “nothing. It's as though the man has disappeared off the face of the earth. And with his sister's death, there's no one left who could give the sheriff's office any leads as to where the man has gone.”

For most of the drive, the three men sat engrossed in their own thoughts. The roads were covered with a thin glaze of snow but the Cherokee's four-wheel drive zipped them along without a hitch.
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ERIK

Friday, November 27, 1992  

Erik stood at the living room window in the penthouse, looking out over the city. The room was empty and dark, with only a glimmer of light from the hallway. It was time to put the last and final part of his plan into action. This moment had been a long time in coming.

When he'd first married China, he'd hoped they could create an exciting, wonderful life together. He'd counted on traveling the world with his beautiful, sexy companion, never giving a thought to money, immersing themselves in luxury and pleasure and all the good things that life had to offer or that money could buy.

China had immediately crushed that dream. 

She'd practically shouted at him, “What do you mean—quit my job at the station? I love my job. I love my career. I'm getting ready to take over the whole publishing company and I can't afford to lose one minute.”

When he'd told her the kinds of things he'd hoped they could do, she'd said disdainfully, “Travel? who wants to spend their life traveling? How boring! I've done enough traveling to last me a life time. I need work and ideas and challenges.”

Outwardly, Erik had hidden his anger and covered over his frustration—taking great care to conceal his feelings from China. But inside he was overwhelmed with fury. He had raged to himself, ’How dare she belittle the way he wanted to live! What a mistake this marriage had been!’

Erik began to think things like, ‘If only China weren't here, what a wonderful life I could have.’ Or, ‘Her fortune is wasted on her. She doesn't know how to spend money, how to enjoy what money can buy.’

From there it was just a short distance to, ‘She certainly doesn't deserve to have all that wealth.’ This was followed by, ‘It would be so easy to just get rid of her.’

He'd begun thinking of ways of eliminating unwanted people. His first consideration had been to make sure that he wouldn't be considered a suspect, for obvious reasons. And preferably her death should look like an accident, rather than a murder. At one time he'd toyed with rigging a suicide but discarded that notion when he realized no one would believe that the vibrantly alive China Smith would ever deliberately take her own life.

He'd finally settled on an automobile accident as the optimum way of ridding himself of China. But then, serendipitously, fate had played into his hands with the advent of Donnie and Selene into his life. They were the perfect pawns. 

He'd devised an intricate plot whereby Donnie Haskell would harass Maggie Barnes because of the tragedies in his sister's life. Eventually, Donnie would kill Maggie. China would lose her life at the same time, accidentally and incidentally, of course.

He'd worked on the scheme for months, easily winning over Donnie and Selene and setting them up, robot-like, to act out their parts in his diabolical scenario.

Just before dawn this morning, Erik had made a phone call to Gus, the caretaker at the chalet, pretending to be the county sheriff's office near Gus' hometown, telling him that his parents had been involved in a serious car accident and that he'd better come home. 

 Shortly after he made the phone call, while China was still fast asleep, Erik had snuck out of the penthouse, to make a surreptitious visit to the chalet. He'd visited Donnie in his hiding place in the tool shed under the house, to check that the plan was going according to schedule.

With a ballpeen hammer taken from the tidy workbench in the shed, he'd knocked Donnie unconscious. Using a length of old clothesline, he'd then tied Donnie's wrists and ankles together. 

When fire eventually destroyed the chalet, all signs of the rope and the blow to Donnie's head would be lost in the blaze. The authorities would deduce that Donnie had set the place on fire and, unable to escape, had lost his life in the inferno intended to take the life of the woman he'd been harassing.

Erik flicked on the floor lamp near the arched window to check the time. His watch said eight o'clock. By now, the fire should be blazing away, and the comatose women should be dead or close to it.

He walked into the entrance hall, pausing at the the gilt-edged mirror hanging on one wall to smooth back his hair and straighten his tie. From his briefcase, lying open on the hall table, he took out his small cellular phone and tucked into his jacket pocket. He knew that sometime this evening he would be receiving a very important telephone call.

His plan now was to have a leisurely, very public dinner at  Candicci's, the upscale restaurant located directly below the penthouse, one floor down.

He would make sure that he was noticed, and most especially, that the time of his appearance was duly noted. To help ensure this, he'd made a reservation for eight, even though the restaurant would more than likely not be crowded on this night following Thanksgiving.

At the entrance to Candicci's, Erik paused to look around the room. If the gods were really on his side tonight, there would be someone he knew in the restaurant who could attest to his presence there, providing an airtight, iron-clad alibi for the time of the oh-so-ill-fated fire.

He didn't see a familiar-looking face but consoled himself with the thought that the night was still young and his luck might yet change.

The maitre d' greeted him effusively and escorted him to a table along the windowed wall overlooking Rivermont. With a flourish, the maitre d' seated Erik and presented him with one of Candicci's overlarge menus.

Erik had thought he'd be too charged up to eat. But as he glanced voer the menu, he was surprised to discover how hungry he was. 

When his waiter came by the table, he ordered a double Scotch on the rocks and said he'd order his dinner when the waiter returned with his drink. Seated across the room, he saw one of the professors from the University, a man he knew slightly from sitting on a search committee together a couple of months ago. 

‘Perfect,’ Erik thought as he rose to go over and say a few words to the professor.

Back at his table, he found his drink had arrived. A moment later the waiter was back to take his order.

The time passed by slowly as Erik sipped at his Scotch and waited for his salad. He could feel the tension in his body. His neck felt rigid and taut and his stomach was in knots. But it was a euphoric anxiety he was experiencing, not a troublesome one. When this evening finally ended, he would be set for life. There would be no limit to what he could and would do.

As he ate his dinner, he thought back over all the intricate details he'd so skillfully masterminded—the special eggnog from Candicci's that had been his contribution to the ‘girls’ weekend—which he'd laced with a heavy dose of the same sedative that had sent Selene into a permanent dreamland. In this instance, the sedative only needed to put the three three women to sleep—the fire would take care of their demise.

The fire itself would be initiated by another of his clever devices: He'd rigged the bags of microwave popcorn with BBs which would cause the microwave oven to explode and burst into flames. He'd arranged small containers of fuel oil in certain strategic locations all over the chalet to feed the fire's hunger. In the toolshed, he'd squirted charcoal starter over everything, to ensure that Donnie's body was consumed by the flames. 

He was pleased with his scheme, with his clever planning, and careful attention to detail. Everything had gone quite well, considering. It was too bad that the authorities had pinpointed Donnie as Maggie's harasser and that Selene had panicked at her brother's impending arrest. But, no harm done—in fact, it had tidied up the loose end of Selene.

Erik ordered a liquer and a cup of cappucino to finish off his meal. He sat there, gazing unseeingly around the half-filled restaurant, feeling slightly tense but in an invigorating sort of way.

As he glanced toward the restaurant entrace, he heard a murmur of voices throughout the room. Standing there in the entrance were two uniformed policemen, talking with the maitre d'.

Just then, the cellular phone in his jacket pocket rang, giving off a barely audible sound. Erik reached in his pocket and drew out the phone, still keeping an eye on the police officers across the room.

36

CHINA, RACHEL, and MAGGIE

Friday Night, November 27, 1992  

The microwave starts and explodes. The fire starts. The women have all fallen asleep because of the drugged eggnog. Maggie had only had half a glass and was sleeping more lightly than the other two women. They’re trapped inside by the fire.
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DONNIE

Friday, Night, November 27, 1992  

Donnie is in the basement, tied up, thinking back about things. He vaguely realizes how he’s been used and abused by Erik and how Erik used his sister Selene. he eventually manages to wriggle his hands loose from the old threadbare rope that Erik had used to bind his wrists and ankles together.
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AMOS, JOSH, and HANK

Friday, Night, November 27, 1992  

Amos calls Josh who tells him where the chalet is. Says he’ll go along. On the way they stop for Hank.
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CHINA, RACHEL, and MAGGIE

Friday Night, November 27, 1992  

The women are asleep in the chalet. Donnie breaks in to save them.  He loses his life in the process.
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AMOS, JOSH, and HANK

Friday Night, November 27, 1992  

Amos, Josh, and Hank arrive at the blazing chalet. They drag the women out into the snow.  Donnie is lying in the snow. He tells the men about Erik before he dies.
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ERIK

Friday Night, November 27, 1992    

Dispatcher at the volunteer fire department calls to notify China about the fire but gets Erik, who’s in Candici’s for his alibi. He has the cellular phone. The dispatcher says the occupants of the chalet were all rescued and are fine. Then, Erik sees two uniformed cops enter the restaurant, speak to the maitre’d, then look around and look in his direction. He gets up abruptly, overturning his chair in the process. He goes out on the balcony (the restaurant is on the 40th floor of the Plaza Square Building). The balcony is icy—Erik loses his footing and tumbles over the railing, to his death forty floors below.
Erik stepped out onto the icy balcony, quietly closing the tall French door of Candicci's behind him. He quickly surveyed his situation to see what his options were. The building had a series of balconies down its sides, every two or three stories. He could see the one three stories down, directly below him.

Hanging right next he stood was a massive, intricate window-washing mechanism, with the riggings and the platform just within reach. Deciding this was his only chance for escape and what did he have to lose, he reached out both arms, grabbed hold of the chains hanging down from the apparatus and hoisted himself over onto its wooden platform. For a moment he crouched there on his precarious perch, trying to decide what to do, as the mechanism swayed in the brisk frigid air. 

Below him, cars flashed up and down the street, one of the city's few two-way thoroughfares. Finally, tentatively, Erik stood up and braced himself on the still-swaying mechanism. He reached out his right hand and grabbed hold of the nearest calbling, a combination of steel link chain and heavy braided nylon rope. There was enough light shining out the windows of the building to dimly illuminate the window washinging mechanism and he looked around to survey his situation. 

The mechanism was about a dozen feet long and hugged the building on one side and stuck out about three feet. There were no actual sides, just cabling and chains and a heavy mesh grid that encircled three of the sides—the side hugging the building was open.

Moving as cautiously as he could, he undid one of the chains from the mechanism until he had about 20 feet of loose chain. He then undid his belt and looped it through the chain and then re-buckled it.

His plan was to lower himself down to the next balcony, then somehow break through the window or door onto that balcony and make his way out of the building. He was fairly certain that no one had seen him slip out of the restuaruant onto the balcony. He could assume that the police were now looking for him in the halls and lobby of the building or had gone up to search the penthouse. He thought he had perhaps a few minutes of lead time before they discovered him perched out here.

In one corner of the platform, he found a coil of rope. He wound one end of it round and round the one of the tall slender rods that connected the mechanism to the engine arrangement. He carefully dropped the rope over the one end of the mechanism. 

Taking a deep breath and rubbing his palms down the sides of his jacket, he gripped the rope and, leaning against the webbed sides of the mechanism, swung his legs out over more than 500 feet of empty air. Gritting his teeth, he swung his whole body free of the mechanism.

Gripping the rope tighly in his hands, moving hand under hand, he slowly lowered himself down the rope a couple of inches at a time. As he climbed down the rope, its fibers burned into his hands and the muscles in his arms screamed in pain. Thank God for that silly-ass rowing machine I've been working out on, he snorted to himself.

The wind whipped around him as he slowly lowered his body down the rope. Once his left hand slipped off the rope and he was hanging on by onehand, dangling 500 feet in the air, connected by a nylon rope and a steel chain that might or might not be dependable.

Down he went, inch by inch. Finally, after an eternity had passed, he felt the edge of the balcony below with the tow of his black leather dress shoes. He tried to put his foot down on the ledge of the balcony but the slick sole of his shoe kept sliding off. So he lowered himself a foot or so more and then tucked both feet inside the ledge of the balcony. Then, inch by inch he lowered himself another foot. Taking a deep breath, he let go of the rope and dropped himself onto the concrete block floor of the balcony. As he fell, his right arm twisted under his body and he fell heavily on his right wrist. He felt an excruciating pain and wondered for a moment if he'd broken the bone. But he was able to move the wrist and the arm and assumed it was just a sprain.

Bracing himself on his left hand, he raised up into a sitting position. He was on a balcony with windows that looked into one of the still unleased areas of the building. Although it was black inside, he knew that it was all concrete and steel beams and left-over debris from construction workers, just as the penthouse must have been before the tenant build-out work was done.

Using his left hand for support, Erik stood up and moved slowly over to the windows. He leaned against them with his left side, then pushed and shoved with his left arm but with no effect. He took off one of his shoes and tried to break the window glass with it but nothing happened.

There was a dim glow of light over one end of the balcony from the building's decorative lights. Erik stooped down to see if there was anything on the floor of the balcony that he could use to break the window. Amidst some old trash of fast food bags and cigarette butts and plastic drink cups left by the construction workers, Erik spied something that looked like metal. He reached down and grabbed a round steel bar that was two inches in diameter and two feet in length, not caring what it was or why it was there, just glad that he'd found it.

With the bar grasped firmly in his left hand, he swung at one of the windows. It cracked a little. Then, he swung as hard as he could, and the window shattered.

Gingerly, trying to avoid the shards of glass, Erik reached inside and released the locked catch on the window. He shoved at the window frame until there was a wide enough opening for him to squeeze through.

Once inside the building, he leaned against the damp concrete wall to rest for a moment and figure out what to do next. Then, straightening up, he looked around the massive emptiness, trying to locate the elevators. Off towards the middle of the cavernous, dimly lit space he saw the bank of elevators and headed towards them. But when he got there and pushed the buttons, nothing happened. Over and over he jabbed his left thumb at both the down and the up buttons but still nothing. Evidently the elevators were programmed to not respond to this floor because it was vacant—a great idea for building management but sure as hell not for him.

Now what?

Just beyond the bank of elevators was the emergency exit sign directly over the door leading to one of the stairways that wound their way up and down the 43 stories of the building. The problem with the stairway was that once inside the stairwell, the doors leading into each floor couldn't be opened—they could only be opened from the floor side, not from the stairway side. However, he and China had jerry-rigged the doors leading to each of the two floors of their penthouse so that they remained unlocked. 

He decided that his only chance of escape was to walk up the two floors to the penthouse and hope that the police weren't lying in wait for him there. But as a precaution, to keep from taking the chance of being locked in the stairwell, he searched around for something to prop open the door on this floor. He found an old carboard box which he used to prop open the door. The stairwell was dimly lit with some kind of recessed emergency lighting and several times he stumbled going up the steps. His arm was throbbing and aching and he worried that his constant motion was going to cause the broken bone to penetrate his skin.

Finally, he reached the first doorway leading into the penthouse. He pulled the door open, grateful that the silver duct dape he'd used to push in the dead bolt was still holding tight. Inside the darkened penthouse, he hesitated, trying to get his bearings, and not wanting to turn on any lights that would indicate his presence here to anyone. The master bedroom was located directlyopposite this stairwell door and to get to the bedroom he needed to cross the expanse of the living, walking past the arched, two-story, multi-paned window that overlooked downtown Rivermont. He walked across the room, his heels clicking on the highly polished oak floor. As he brushed past the solid glass cube that served as a low coffee table, placed in front of the massive window, he bumped his shin on one of its beveled edges and gave a grunt of pain.

In the master bedroom, using his uninjured left hand, he turned on a dim lamp near the wall safe located behind an oil painting of the Smith Building. With his left hand, he swung the painting away from the safe, slowly turned the knob with the combination, and opened the door to the safe. 

On the preceding Wednesday, following his Tuesday night discovery of China's affair with Patrick Reynard, Erik had gone to the bank. He'd taken the precaution of converting his savings account and checking account into cash, just in case something went wrong with his plans for China—which was exactly what had happened. 

He stuffed the packets of bills into a soft-sided briefcase. Also into the briefcase he put his watches, cuff links, tie tacks, anything of value that he had here. He threw in some handkerchiefs, a change of underwear, and a pullover shirt. This would suffice till he reached safety. Just as he'd finished his hasty packing, he heard a pounding at the front door to the penthouse, then someone shouting, “Open up, police!”

Erik quickly decided that his only option was to go back down the emergency stairs. He hurried out of the master bedroom and headed toward the doorway leading to the stairs. In the darkened living room, he tripped over the glass cube coffee table and pitched headfirst into the arched window. Erik's last sound was a low moan as he tumbled into 43 stories of blackness.

+   +  +
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Epilogue

Saturday, Night, December 5, 1992  
Everyone has gathered at Kate’s house for a birthday party or a celebration party for survivors or something. This wraps up all the loose ends. It's revealed that China has had Erik investigated, after the fact, so to speak, and she discovered that he had a history of psychopathic behavior. She told Amos about this and gave him permission to share the information. China decided to take a leave of absence from the television station and go to live in the family estate in Florida. Reynard's wife found out about the resumed affair—she left him, taking their two young sons with her. Her grandfather forced Reynard to resign as mayor of Rivermont, ostensibly for health reasons. He wants to come with China but China has had her fill of men and tells him to buzz off.  The three romances are progressing nicely . China gave Amos a copy of the private detective's report on Erik.

Kate once again gave her oft-expressed snort of derision about China's name. “You know, it's always bothered me that Sue or Sally wasn't a good enough name—they had to give that child the name of a whole country, for heaven's sakes.

